VOLUME 22 NUMBER 4

Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia

Brazilian Journal of Geriatrics and Gerontology





ISSN 1981-2256



VOLUME 22, NUMBER 4, 2019

Editor / Editor Renato Peixoto Veras

Editor Associado / Associate Editor Kenio Costa de Lima

Editor Executivo / Executive Editor Raquel Vieira Domingues Cordeiro

Grupo de Assessores / Editorial Advisory Board

Alexandre Kalache – Centro Internacional de Longevidade Brasil / International Longevity Centre Brazil (ILC BR). Rio de Janeiro-RJ - Brasil Anabela Mota Pinto – Universidade de Coimbra. Coimbra - Portugal

Anita Liberalesso Néri – Universidade Estadual de Campinas. Campinas-SP – Brasil

Annette G. A. Leibing – Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro. Rio de Janeiro-R] – Brasil

Antón Alvarez – EuroEspes Biomedical Research Centre. Corunã – Espanha Candela Bonill de las Nieves – Hospital Universitário Carlos Haya. Málaga

- Espanha

Carina Berterö – Linköping University. Linköping – Suécia

Catalina Rodriguez Ponce - Universidad de Málaga. Málaga - Espanha

Eliane de Abreu Soares – Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro. Rio de Janeiro-RJ – Brasil

Emílio H. Moriguchi – Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul. Porto Alegre-RS – Brasil

Emílio Jeckel Neto – Pontifícia Universidade Católica do Rio Grande do Sul. Porto Alegre-RS – Brasil

Evandro S. F. Coutinho – Fundação Oswaldo Cruz. Rio de Janeiro-RJ – Brasil

Guita Grin Debert – Universidade Estadual de Campinas. Campinas-SP – Brasil Ivana Beatrice Mânica da Cruz – Universidade Federal de Santa Maria. Santa

Maria-RS – Brasil

Jose F. Parodi - Universidad de San Martín de Porres de Peru. Lima – Peru Lúcia Helena de Freitas Pinho França – Universidade Salgado de Oliveira.

Niterói-RJ - Brasil

Lúcia Hisako Takase Gonçalves – Universidade Federal de Santa Catarina. Florianópolis-SC – Brasil

Luiz Roberto Ramos - Universidade Federal de São Paulo. São Paulo-SP - Brasil

Maria da Graça de Melo e Silva – Escola Superior de Enfermagem de Lisboa. Lisboa – Portugal

Martha Pelaez - Florida International University. Miami-FL - EUA

Mônica de Assis – Instituto Nacional de Câncer. Rio de Janeiro-RJ – Brasil

Raquel Abrantes Pêgo - Centro Interamericano de Estudios de Seguridad Social. México, D.F.

Ricardo Oliveira Guerra – Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte. Natal-RN – Brasil

Normalização / Normalization

Maria Luisa Lamy Mesiano Savastano Gisele de Fátima Nunes da Silva

Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia é continuação do título *Textos* sobre Envelhecimento, fundado em 1998. Tem por objetivo publicar e disseminar a produção científica no âmbito da Geriatria e Gerontologia, e contribuir para o aprofundamento das questões atinentes ao envelhecimento humano. Categorias de publicação: Artigos originais, Revisões, Relatos, Atualizações e Comunicações breves. Outras categorias podem ser avaliadas, se consideradas relevantes.

The Brazilian Journal of Geriatrics and Gerontology (BJGG) succeeds the

publication Texts on Ageing, created in 1998. It aims to publish and spread the scientific production in Geriatrics and Gerontology and to contribute to the deepening of issues related to the human aging. Manuscripts categories: Original articles, Reviews, Case reports, Updates and Short reports. Other categories can be evaluated if considered relevant.

Colaborações / Contributions

Os manuscritos devem ser encaminhados ao Editor Executivo e seguir as "Instruções aos Autores" publicadas no site www.rbgg.com.br

All manuscripts should be sent to the Editor and should comply with the "Instructions for Authors", published in www.rbgg.com.br

Correspondência / Correspondence

Toda correspondência deve ser encaminhada à Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia por meio do e-mail revistabgg@gmail.com

All correspondence should be sent to Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia using the email revistabgg@gmail.com

Revista Brasileira de Geriatria e Gerontologia UERI/UnATI/CRDE

Rua São Francisco Xavier, 524 – 10° andar - bloco F - Maracanã 20 559-900 – Rio de Janeiro – RJ, Brasil Telefones: (21) 2334-0168 / 2334-0131 r. 229 E-mail: revistabgg@gmail.com - crderbgg@uerj.br Web: www.scielo.br/rbgg Site: www.rbgg.com.br

Indexação / Indexes

SciELO – Scientific Electronic Library Online

LILACS – Literatura Latino-Americana e do Caribe em Ciências da Saúde

LATINDEX – Sistema Regional de Información em Línea para Revistas Científicas de América Latina, el Caribe, Espana y Portugal

DOAJ - Directory of Open Acess Journals

REDALYC - Red de Revistas Científicas de América Latina y el Caribe, España y Portugal

Free Medical Journals

Cabell's Directory of Publishing Opportunities

The Open Access Digital Library

UBC Library Journals

Contents

EDITORIAL

AGING FROM THE PERSPECTIVE OF RACISM AND OTHER FORMS OF DISCRIMINATION: INFLUENCES OF INSTITUTIONAL AND STRUCTURAL DETERMINANTS ON THE LIVES OF OLDER ADULTS *Alexandre da Silva*

ORIGINAL ARTICLES

AN EDUCATION REVOLUTION IN RESPONSE TO THE LONGEVITY REVOLUTION *Alexandre Kalache*

HOSPITALIZATIONS DUE TO PRIMARY CARE SENSITIVE CONDITIONS IN A POPULATION OF OLDER ADULTS IN THE STATE OF RIO GRANDE DO NORTE FROM 2008 TO 2016 Katarina Márcia Rodrigues dos Santos, Luciane Paula Batista Araújo de Oliveira, Fábia Cheyenne Gomes de Morais Fernandes, Emelynne Gabrielly de Oliviera Santos, Isabelle Ribeiro Barbosa

SOCIODEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE OF ELDERLY PERSONS WITH THE HUMAN IMMUNODEFICIENCY VIRUS IN A STATE IN THE NORTHEAST OF BRAZIL Itamara Barbosa Souza, Hulda Alves de Araújo Tenório, Everaldo de Lima Gomes Junior, Emilly Souza Marques, Ramon de Assis Fonseca da Cruz, Rodrigo Galvão Moreira da Silva

PREMATURE AGING IN ADULTS WITH DOWN SYNDROME: GENETIC, COGNITIVE AND FUNCTIONAL ASPECTS Lília Maria de Azevedo Moreira, Renata Melo dos Santos, Marise Souza Barbosa, Mônica Jacobina Fonseca Vieira, Wiliane Santos de Oliveira

EFFECTIVENESS OF A MULTIPLE INTERVENTION PROGRAMME FOR THE PREVENTION OF FALLS IN OLDER ADULTS FROM A UNIVERSITY OF THE THIRD AGE Vilmar Mineiro da Silva, Alex Sandro Faria de Arruda, Laís dos Santos Vinholi e Silva, Francisco Luciano Pontes Junior, Meire Cachioni, Ruth Caldeira de Melo

PERCEPTIONS OF THE ELDERLY ON AGING AND VIOLENCE IN INTRAFAMILY RELATIONSHIPS Eliane Lucia Colussi, Amanda Kuyawa, Ana Carolina Bertoletti De Marchi, Nadir Antonio Pichler

DEPRESSIVE SYMPTOMS IN OLDER ADULTS IN BASIC HEALTH CARE Gesualdo Gonçalves de Abrantes, Geovana Gomes Souza, Nilza Maria Cunha, Hélder Novais Barreto da Rocha, Antonia Oliveira Silva, Selene Cordeiro Vasconcelos

OXIDATIVE STRESS AMONG INFORMAL CAREGIVERS Natália Ramos Imamura de Vasconcelos, Pedro Marco Karan Barbosa, Agnaldo Bruno Chies, Gilsenir Prevelato de Oliveira Dátilo, Eduardo Federighi Baisi Chagas, Thiago José Querino de Vasconcelos

ANALYSIS OF QUALITY OF LIFE AND ASSOCIATED FACTORS IN A GROUP OF ELDERLY PERSONS WITH SUPPLEMENTAL HEALTH PLANS IN THE CITY OF SÃO PAULO, BRAZIL Maria Elisa Gonzalez Manso, Leandro Tadeu Prazeres Maresti, Henrique Souza Barros de Oliveira

RELATIONSHIP OF VENTILATORY INEFFICIENCY AND LOW CARDIORESPIRATORY FITNESS IN THE ELDERLY: A RETROSPECTIVE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY Murillo Frazão, Luciana Margarida de Santana Madruga França, Samarony Caio Moreno Bezerra, Paulo Eugênio Silva

Contents

REVIEW ARTICLES

A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW OF ECONOMIC EVALUATIONS OF THE USE OF MEMANTINE ALONE OR COMBINED WITH DONEPEZIL FOR MODERATE TO SEVERE ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE Ione Ayala Gualandi de Oliveira, Rosângela Caetano, Ricardo Ewback Steffen, Aline Navega Biz

HEALTH EDUCATION AS A STRATEGY FOR THE PROMOTION OF THE HEALTH OF THE ELDERLY: AN INTEGRATIVE REVIEW

Cícera Amanda Mota Seabra, Samyra Paula Lustoza Xavier, Yana Paula Coêlho Correia Sampaio, Mirna Fontenele de Oliveira, Glauberto da Silva Quirino, Maria de Fátima Antero Sousa Machado

COACHING AS A STRATEGY FOR THE HEALTH PROMOTION OF THE ELDERLY: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW Graciele Reinert Casadei, Eraldo Schunk Silva, Leonardo Pestillo de Oliveira, Rose Mari Bennemann



Aging from the perspective of racism and other forms of discrimination: influences of institutional and structural determinants on the lives of older adults

The area of gerontology and geriatrics has grown a great deal in recent years. This is due to the advanced levels of training of professionals who work in the area, the interest demonstrated by those entering the field and the growing demand for services from the emerging population of older Brazilian adults. The challenges and changes are innumerable and influence every sphere: education, health, work, leisure, conjugality, sexuality, political participation, residences and neighborhoods.

It was also observed in 2019 that academia, both in terms of its institutions and in its student and teaching bodies, through public as well as private services, involving both leaders and collaborators, has not yet fully embraced the new challenges of today, especially with regard to the need to alter the life courses of social groups that face great difficulties when aging. This is the subject that this editorial dares to tackle.

Historically, the foundations that structure Brazilian society have been hidden: racism, patriarchy, sexism, the determination of social classes and religiosity. For years we have tried to hide these structures as though they are small, blunt pins. However, such determinants create situations that not only reveal the differences between social groups, but are markers of inequalities, occurring repeatedly and systematically, generating life courses for social groups such as black and brown-skinned Brazilians and indigenous people whose finishing line often arrives prior to old age. Many such black Brazilians die young¹, suffer functional disabilities earlier, reside in areas that lack opportunities for active aging², live alone through no choice of their own², some are forced to hide their sexual identity or live apart from the person they love, and finally, many will not live to see 60 because of these social determinants! On the other hand, and this is something that has been extensively studied, there are groups of ninety or one hundred year old people who, in the vast majority of cases, are white, and so do not face the structural barriers imposed by Brazilian society, obtaining access to effective public and private services, eating healthy food, living in neighborhoods that promote wellness and other practices consistent with our guidelines and systematic reviews.

Many health practitioners and researchers do not attempt to understand the "failures or shortcomings" of our practices and epistemologies. There are limitations to scientific knowledge, as well as ignorance and a lack of validation of the folk-knowledge possessed by the broad range of older adult social groups, which, if respected, could change therapeutic itineraries and perspectives of life³.

Such determinants are fearsome demons, yet are invisible to the eyes of many. I invite RBGG readers and authors to reflect on a number of issues, namely: do educational institutions include in their curricula the social determinations of health, disease and care, taking into account the racial, ethnic, age and gender diversity of Brazil? How many students in higher education devote an extended part of their study timetable to aging, rather than allocating the minimum of hours to the subject, as is common? Do our health services know how to properly conjugate the verbs "get old", conceptualized by the writer Oswaldo Faustino, or "gerontologize", or in other words, are our services oriented to the logic of aging, using appropriate indicators such as functional disability and its intersections with ethnicity/skin color and gender, creating specific priorities and lines of care for each group of older adults? Do our health professionals know how to properly receive and treat a poor black older woman or an older gay couple? How can we review our rehabilitation services, which today should be one of the priorities of Primary Care for the elderly, especially for the poor, who have to continue working to meet their daily costs of living? What about leisure activities, which have not yet been adopted by many of our black older adults? How can we have services that meet the real desires of older adults and their cultural and ethnic values, such as *quilombolas* (Afro-Brazilian residents of settlements first established by escaped slaves) and various indigenous tribes? Are we aware that all of this should be part of the Brazilian Research Priority Agenda?⁴

This editorial therefore seeks to raise questions and provide certain answers about how we must urgently review our practices and knowledge if we are to understand black or indigenous adults who strive to live beyond 60 and, with constant support and dialogue, include practices of equity in our activities, thereby reducing inequities, such as the institutionalized or unconscious prejudices that many still possess. It is by understanding that we are not equal but different, and that this difference has generated inequality and inequity, and through policies, services and activities geared to addressing racism, sexism and other structuring determinants, that we will succeed.

Alexandre da Silva 💿

Adjunct Professor, Jundiaí Medical School, Member of ABRASCO Racism and Health Working Group and of the International Center for Longevity (ILC — Brasil)

REFERENCES

- Fiorio NM, Flor LS, Padilha M, de Castro DS, Molina MDCB. Mortalidade por raça/cor: evidências de desigualdades sociais em Vitória (ES), Brasil. Rev Bras Epidemiol. 2011;14(3):522-30.
- Da Silva A, Rosa TEC, Batista LE, Kalckmann S, Louvison MCP, Teixeira DSC, et al. Iniquidades raciais e envelhecimento:análise da coorte 2010 do Estudo Saúde,Bem-Estar e Envelhecimento (SABE). Rev Bras Epidemiol. 2019;21(suppl 2):E180004 [14 p.].
- Williams DR, Priest N. Racismo e saúde : um corpus crescente de evidência internacional. Sociologias. 2015;17(40):124-74.
- 4. Brasil. Ministério da Saúde. Secretaria de Ciência T e IED de C e T. Agenda de Prioridades de Pesquisa Do Ministério Da Saúde - APPMS [Internet]. Brasília, DF: MS; 2018 [acesso em 29 set. 2018]. Disponível em: http:// bvsms.saude.gov.br/bvs/publicacoes/agenda_prioridades_pesquisa_ms.pdf

2 of 2





An education revolution in response to the longevity revolution

Alexandre Kalache¹ D

It is increasingly argued that the most consequential legacy of the past century is the gift of longer life. Currently, two people in the world reach their 60th birthday every second¹. By 2050, the 60-plus age group will constitute 30% of the populations in 64 countries¹. Almost all developed countries will be on that list but so too will be most of Latin America, the Caribbean and large parts of Asia, including China¹. By this time, the over 60s will form a worldwide bloc of more than 2 billion people that will outnumber those under 15 years of age². Already, there are currently more people over the age of 60 than children below the age of five². Reaching older age has ceased to be the privilege of the few and

This longevity revolution forces us to totally rethink previously-held notions about ageing and older age. It has revealed to us that life is now more like a marathon than a 100-metre sprint. But it is a marathon with an indeterminate finish line that is run in a continuously changing landscape where there is a perpetual interplay between risk and opportunity. Ageing is a dynamic relational process. We are all unsteady travellers throughout the journey – buffeted daily by the conditions and the contradictions of our own histories. Our longer lives are increasingly being lived in the context of a barrage of disruptive changes that are upending our assumptions and undermining many of our skill sets. We are living longer but the relevance of much of our acquired knowledge is expiring earlier.

has become the realistic expectation of the many, in most regions of the world.

Parallel to the longevity revolution is a technology revolution characterised by an unprecedented hyper-connectivity between a vast range of previously

Correspondence Alexandre Kalache info@ilcbrazil.org

Received: August 02, 2019 Approved: September 27, 2019

¹ The International Longevity Centres – Global Alliance (ILC-GA) and The International Longevity Centre – Brazil (ILC-BR). London, UK.

The authors declare there are no conflicts of interest in relation to the present study. No funding was received in relation to the present study.

segregated components. This fusion reaches across all digital, physical and biological domains to create a complex and extraordinary web. This so-called Fourth Industrial Revolution is "the inexorable shift from the simple digitalisation that characterised the Third Industrial Revolution to a much more complex form of innovation based on the combination of multiple technologies in novel ways"³. It is a fastmoving revolution with very pronounced human repercussions - such as increased job insecurity; a growing need for multiple identities; an imposed mobility; and an uneven ownership of the new technologies.

Debate about the future impacts of the Fourth Industrial Revolution is on-going. A much referenced Oxford University study predicted that almost half of all present-day jobs are at high risk over the next two decades⁴. Other studies suggest a much lower risk of the wholesale displacement of jobs yet nevertheless warn that a likely majority of occupations will be radically redefined through new technologies⁵. The OECD estimates that an average of only 9% of jobs are at risk of total disappearance but predict that between 50-70% of all jobs will be radically transformed⁵. It is suggested that as many as sixty percent of the jobs that will be performed by the next generation do not yet even exist⁶. It is clear that the educational assets acquired in youth and early adulthood no longer provide sufficient currency for longer, big change impacted lives.

The powerful synergy of the Longevity Revolution and the Fourth Industrial Revolution necessitate a corresponding Education Revolution that structurally embeds a comprehensive culture of rights-based, life-long learning. At each stage of life, *all* individuals must gain a familiarity with the necessary intellectual and emotional tools for a rapidly evolving present and an unclear future. A fitfor-purpose 21st century architecture of inclusive, people-centred learning at all ages must go beyond a narrow focus on employment skills. The new model must strengthen health, technology, environmental, financial and citizenship literacy. It must value experience, metacognition and intuition. And, it must seek to enhance resilience, self-reflection and empathy.

Access to information, or content, is no longer the main driver of change. "Knowledge was the key asset for the 20th century. Imagination is the key asset for the 21^{st" 7}. Information is now instantly available at the fingertips. According to an FGV study, there were already 198 million smart phones in use in Brazil in 2017⁸. "Favelados" may not have functioning sewerage systems but they have the same lens on the world as citizens of the developed world. Having information is now less of an issue than knowing what to do with that information. It is discernment and application of information that is now the main driver of change.

Universities all over the world are experiencing an existential crisis. Concerns about rising costs (outstanding student loan debt in the US now stands at 1.41 trillion dollars⁹) are loudly voiced. Questions are raised about the value-for-money and the practical relevance of much of the offered study. Accusations of an inward-looking exclusivity are increasingly articulated. There are suspicions of a causal link between rising student debt and declining rates of entrepreneurship, particularly among the socalled millennials. Innovators such as Bill Gates (Microsoft); Steve Jobs (Apple); Mark Zuckerberg (Facebook); Michael Dell (Dell Computers); Larry Ellison (Oracle); and Travis Kalanick (Uber); famously dropped out of their respective universities. Controversial billionaire "disrupter" Peter Thiel (Pay Pal) is currently paying students to reject their universities in the belief that the institutions themselves actually hinder innovation. There are indications that more employers are now valuing such features as curiosity and adaptability over formal qualifications. Goggle and other tech giants no longer insist upon diplomas for employment at all. "If there were more disruption within the ivory tower, economies just might be more resilient to disruption outside it"¹⁰.

The first conversations to define age-friendly environments took place at the World Health Organisation (WHO) in the 1990s. In 2007 the, Age-friendly Cities Guide, the founding document of the WHO Age-friendly Cities and Communities Network, was launched. It was called *age-friendly* and not old age or senior-friendly for a reason. Agefriendly is about optimising opportunities for health, life-long learning, participation and security as we age. The "as we age" is fundamental. Age-friendly was designed to be friendly to all ages. It is an obvious but neglected truth –that ageing is the one human experience that we all share – even if we do not share it on equal terms. There is no singular constituency for age-friendly. The sciences of physiology and psychology show us that the ageing journey up until our mid-twenties (when we reach the peak of our functional physical capacity) has different features from the ageing journey that we take beyond our mid-twenties. But it is the same journey. We do not become a different person as we age. We become *more of the same person* as we age.

Our longer lives are increasingly required to respond to a more complex range of intermingling and sometimes recurring variables. The boundaries of the traditional three stage life-course model (learning, working, retiring) are inevitably going to become even more blurred. Learning may continue to predominate in the first decades of life but it will not stop there. The OECD considers continuous learning to be one of the most important components of human capital in an ageing world¹¹. According to UNESCO, it is "the key philosophy, conceptual framework and organising principle for education in the 21st century"¹² and the United Nations' regards it as a key priority issue in the global development agenda¹³. WHO takes the view that investment in education is also an investment in health and wellbeing¹⁴. The International Labour Organisation (ILO) is calling for the formal recognition of a "universal entitlement to Lifelong Learning"15. Continuous in-job training, short courses, on-line tutorials and stackable diplomas to keep pace with the ever-more rapid changes in knowledge and technology will need to accompany people throughout the entirety of their lives. The trend toward extended working lives is likely to continue but more people will retire in a more gradual and individualised manner¹⁶. The sharing of family and home management duties within relationships will continue to be negotiated¹⁷. Some research in developed countries predicts that a more equal division between women and men in the home will evolve¹⁸. Individuals will learn, care, work and take leisure throughout their lives with much less attention to both social expectation and

chronological age. As the borders to the different stages of life become more porous and variable, there will be less segregation of age groups. More generations, but fewer representatives of each, will be simultaneously present and engaging in society. Larger numbers of older and younger adults will contemporaneously share the same spaces and experiences – such as university classes, in-job training and leisure pursuits.

Individuals must adapt to these cultural shifts inherent within the longevity and technology revolutions - but so too must institutions. Furthermore, these institutions must be strategic. Many of the studies indicate that life-long learning as currently offered is inclined toward the already advantaged. Similar concerns have been expressed about many of the Age-friendly Cities and Communities initiatives. Those who could benefit the most tend to participate the least¹⁹, and participation tends to decrease with age²⁰. It is clear too, that the nature and application of the new technologies themselves are also reinforcing inequalities because they impact disproportionately. According to the OECD, 40% of workers with a lower secondary degree are in jobs with a high risk of displacement whereas less than 5% of workers with a tertiary degree are expected to face such a threat²¹.

Political disaffection from groups of people who feel marginalized is increasingly evident throughout the world. All educational institutions must play a role in the response to this alienation and an agefriendly educational approach must form part of the new paradigm. There must be a targeting of key demographics, such as men in blue-collar jobs, who are at the very highest risk from technological disruption. Imaginative retraining pathways must be established that counter this groups' rejection of roles that are seen as less masculine, such as those found in fast-expanding areas such as health care. All training grounds, including universities, must focus on the widest possible range of learners (such as those emerging from care responsibilities or displaced occupational roles) and the enormous diversity of their needs. They must recognise that the new model must go far beyond any single institution, or even groups of institutions - that it must involve many partners and many routes (both formal and informal). Age-friendly learning institutions must tailor outreach to such bodies as employer associations, unions, technical colleges, job centres, prisons and seniors' organisations. They must offer the very broadest possible vision of a la carte, modular learning for all ages. They must also develop comparable levels of institutional awareness and self-regulation on ageism as many increasing do in relation to sexism and racism. In addition to their own staff and student bodies, they must embed an on-going dialogue about ageism with government, civil society organisations and the private sector. They must be alert to ageist attitudes in their employment practices, student induction and research agendas and extend an invitation to alumni and retired staff for stronger collaboration. They must embrace the full life-course and aim to build resilience and citizenship far beyond their traditional student base.

The longevity revolution is impacting virtually every aspect of human life yet our educational curricula still does not reflect this reality. Institutions are still training health professionals for the requirements of previous times - with an exaggerated emphasis on maternal and child health and an under-emphasis in all aspects related to ageing. (More than 100 countries now have total fertility rates at or below replacement level)²². Our architects, engineers, and urban planners are still leaving educational institutions without an informed understanding of the design requirements of an ageing population. Our business graduates, public administrators and future policy-makers are still woefully under-briefed about the demographic realities. All designers, whether of products, services or environments, need to be fully aware that every age-group is a rich and essential cultural reference²³. For any teaching facility to claim age-friendliness there must be a commitment to mainstream ageing throughout its entire curricula. There is a need for more geriatricians and gerontologists but even more important is the need for *all* professionals, not only those in the health sector, to have an understanding of older age. Whether in service or product oriented fields, nearly all professionals are finding that an increasing proportion of their clients, customers and patients are older adults. This trend will continue.

4 of 6

The Longevity Revolution has engendered many predictions of dire economic and social consequences based on an assumption that older persons constitute a growing burden on the rest of society. The substantial and fast-moving demographic transitions do not signal macro-economic catastrophe but they do point to the need for an urgent re-evaluation of the life-course trajectory and older adulthood itself²⁴. The gift of longer life is arguably the finest achievement of civilisation and it is generating almost limitless potential for overall human development. It is unimaginable that current and future generations will experience older age like their antecedents. In much the same way that the social construct of adolescence developed in the early to mid 20th century, gerontolescence (is the period of early old age; a transitional phase between senior adulthood and more pronounced senescence. It is an emerging stage of human development that is still being defined by the first cohort of gerontolescents) - a contemporary transitional phase at the beginning of older adulthood that is delineated more by functional markers than chronological age - is now emerging in the 21st century. It was the baby-boomers who defined the former in their youth and they are now defining the latter in the present. As gerontolescents, they are reinventing the way that older age is lived and viewed and humanity is forever different as a result.

It is the dynamic, life-long interplay of opportunity and risk, within both the person and the environment that informs the concept of Active Ageing. Both as an individual aspiration and a social policy framework, Active Ageing presents a roadmap toward resilience - defined as "having access to the required reserves to adapt to, endure, or grow from the challenges encountered in life"25. It emphasises the need for continual adaptation and renewal. It facilitates the development of an individual resilience, of an active ageing throughout the life-course, but simultaneously stresses the importance of publicly coordinated efforts. Toward this end, Active Ageing offers a broad and integrative policy framework to all social institutions - one that opens spaces for individuals to seize opportunities over the full course of their lives and to establish a trajectory toward an improved well-being in older life. The framework stresses the critical importance of lifelong learning across all domains. It gives strong focus to health literacy ("gain access to, understand and use information in ways which promote and maintain good health" - WHO). in its widest possible sense and strives to achieve goals that are preventative, restorative and protective across a full range of capacity and resources.

Despite the promises of the new technological age, human capital remains society's most valuable asset/renewable resource. Yet, according to the OECD, 31% of 15-19 year olds and 71% of 20-24 year olds in Brazil are not enrolled in education²⁶. How will these individuals be integrated into the

rapidly changing global labour force? What health behaviours will they employ throughout their life courses? What level of support will they be able to provide to their aged parents? What sort of older citizens will they themselves have become by 2060? And to what extent will their lack of skill preparedness for the new technological age continue to limit Brazil to the role of commodity exporter to the more sophisticated economies? It is incumbent upon every society to reinvent the culture of learning and to scrupulously mine the rich veins of all human capacity. As individuals, we must learn to learn and embrace our full citizenship in each of the transformative stages of the ageing continuum.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- 1. United Nations Population Fund. Ageing in the Twenty-First Century: a celebration and a challenge. New York: UNFPA/HelpAge International; 2012.
- United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs Population Division. World population prospects: the 2012 revision. Highlights and Advance Tables. New York: United Nations; 2013. Working Paper No. ESA/P/WP.228
- Schwabb K. The Fourth industrial revolution. New York: World Economic Forum Publications; 2016.
- Frey C, Osborne M. The Future of Employment: how susceptible are jobs to computerisation?.Oxford: University of Oxford, Oxford Martin School; 2013.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. The Future of Work and Skills. In: 2nd Meeting of the G20 Employment Working Group; 15-17 Feb. 2017; Hamburg. Hamburg: OECD, 2017.
- Bris Arturo. The 2016 IMD World Talent Report. Switzerland: IMD; 2016.
- Hilton A. How to Survive Work in the 21st Century. Evening Standard (London). 2016 Oct. 18. Sect. Business.
- Meirelles F. Centro de Technologia de Aplicada. São Paulo: Fundacao Getulio Vargas; 2017.
- 9. New Zealand. Ministry of Education. The Student Loan Report. Wellington: ME; 2017.
- Rogoff K. When Will Tech Disrupt Higher Education?. Azernews (Baku). 2018 Feb. 07: Sect Analysis.
- 11. Keeley B. Insights-Human Capital: How what you know shapes your life. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2007.

- United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization. Institute for Life-long Learning [Internet]. Paris: UNESCO; 2017 [acesso em 29 set. 2018]. Disponível em: www.uil.unesco.org
- 13. United Nations, Secretary-General. Report of the high level panel of eminent persons on the Post-2015 Development Agenda (UN, 2013). Report of the Global Thematic Consultation on Education in the Post-2015 Development Agenda. New York: UNESCO-UNICEF; 2013.
- World Health Organisation, Regional Office for Europe. Health 2020: Education and Health through the Life-course. Copenhagen; 2015.
- 15. Global Commission on the Future of Work. Work for a Brighter Future. Geneva: International Labour Organization; 2019.
- Ramey VA, Francis N. A Century of work and leisure. Am Econ J Macroecon. 2009;1(2):189-224.
- Kohli M. The Institutionalization of the lifecourse: looking back to look ahead. Res Hum Dev. 2007;4(3-4):253-71.
- Kluge FA, Zagheni E, Loichinger E, Vogt T. The Advantages of Demographic Change after the wave: fewer and older, but healthier, greener and more productive. Plos ONE. 2014;9(9):e108501 [11p.].
- Institute of Health Equity. Local Action on Health Inequalities: Adult Learning Services. Waterloo Road: Public Health England; 2014. (Health Equity Evidence Review, 4).

- Field J. Life-long learning, welfare and mental wellbeing into older age: trends and policies in europe. In: Boulton-Lewis G, Tam M, Editors. Active Ageing, Active Learning. London: Springer Netherlands; 2012. p.11-2.
- 21. Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Automation and Independent Work in a Digital Economy, Policy Brief on the Future of Work. Paris: OECD; 2016.
- 22. United States. Departament of Commerce. Census Bureau. Maryland; 2015.

- 23. International Longevity Centre Brazil. Toward age-friendly design. Rio de Janeiro: ILC-BR Publications; 2016.
- Bloom D, Chatterji S, Kowal P, Lloyd-Sherlock P, Mckee M, Rechel B, et al. Macroeconomic implications of population ageing and selected policy responses. Lancet. 2014;285(9968):649-57.
- 25. International Longevity Centre Brazil. Building resilience throughout our increasingly longer lives. ILC-BR Publications, 2017.
- Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. Education at a Glance: OECD Indicators 2018. Paris: OECD; 2018.





A systematic review of economic evaluations of the use of memantine alone or combined with donepezil for moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease

Ione Ayala Gualandi de Oliveira¹ D Rosângela Caetano¹ D



Abstract

Objective: To synthesize the available evidence and state of the art of economic evaluations which evaluate the use of memantine, whether alone or combined with donepezil, for moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease (AD), focusing on the analytical decision models built. Method: The electronic databases MEDLINE, EMBASE, NHS EED, CEA Registry and LILACS were searched for references. After duplicates were removed, two independent reviewers evaluated the titles and abstracts and subsequently the full texts. The Drummond M. tool was used to evaluate the quality of the studies. Results: After the application of the eligibility criteria, twelve complete economic evaluations were included. One evaluation was a clinical trial, two involved simulations and nine used Markov models. The main outcome measure adopted was dominated by cost per quality adjusted life year (QALY). The use of memantine was considered cost-effective and dominant in eight studies; while in a single study, its use was dominated when compared to donepezil for moderate AD. Sensitivity analyzes were systematically performed, with robust results. The quality assessment indicated that the methodological quality of the studies was good. Conclusion: Although there is some controversy regarding the benefits derived from the use of memantine, whether combined or not with donepezil, the evidence collected suggests that it is cost-effective in the countries where the studies were performed. However, local economic studies need to be performed, given the significant variability derived from the different parameters adopted in the evaluations.

Keywords: Alzheimer Disease. Memantine. Cost and Cost Analysis. Review.

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to this study. No funding was provided for this study.

Correspondence Ione Ayala Gualandi de Oliveira ionegualandi@yahoo.com.br

Received: January 06, 2019 Approved: September 18, 2019

¹ Universidade do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (UERJ), Instituto de Medicina Social. Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil.

INTRODUCTION

Alzheimer's Disease (AD) represents a serious public health problem, as it is the main cause of cognitive decline and dementia in adults, especially older adults. Its diagnosis is primarily clinical, based on the application of standardized criteria, and it progresses with damage to memory and other cognitive and behavioral functions¹.

AD affects around 25 million people around the world² and projections suggest that this total may reach 100 million by 2050³. In addition, a metaanalysis published in 2013 reports that the prevalence of dementias, standardized by age, varies between 5% and 7% in those aged 60 or older, and is higher in less developed countries, most of all in Latin America⁴.

It is estimated that, in 2030, the elderly population in Brazil will reach approximately 41.6 million and that by 2060, one in every three Brazilians will be older than 60⁵. Brazilian studies have indicated a prevalence of dementia in the population aged over 65 of 7.1%, with AD responsible for more than 44% of cases⁶.

There is currently no cure for AD and the impact of the illness on patients and caregivers leads to political pressure to ensure that all the possible treatments are widely available. In addition, there are limited options in terms of interventions during the course of the disease, which include two main groups of drugs.

Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors represent the first line of treatment of mild to moderate AD. Their use is based on the reduction of the cholinergic deficit, through the inhibition of the enzymes that degrade acetylcholine, increasing its synaptic availability and improving cognitive symptoms¹. Memantine is a non-competitive NMDA (N-Methyl-D-Aspartate) glutamate receptor antagonist. It is the only drug in its class used in humans and is approved by the Food and Drug Administration, the European Medicines Agency and the National Health Surveillance Agency for the treatment of moderate to severe AD^{7,8}.

Studies on the efficacy of memantine in severe AD have produced controversial results. The drug's ability to delay symptom worsening and improve the functional capacity of patients with moderate to severe AD was originally demonstrated in two phase III randomized controlled clinical trials (RCCT)^{9,10}, both with a very short follow-up of 24 weeks.

Other trials, however, have failed to show such favorable results in measures of cognitive function and activities of daily living¹¹. Meta-analyzes examining the efficacy of memantine used alone or in combination with anticolinesterase inhibitors have found that improvements in cognitive functions and activities of daily living in patients with moderate to severe AD when present were systematically small in scale¹²⁻¹⁴. The evidence is also conflicting in terms of behavioral and neuropsychiatric symptoms¹⁵. In contrast, although usually mild to moderate, patients on memantine may experience headaches, dizziness, fatigue, mental confusion, and hallucinations¹⁰. Some other aspects that undermine the available evidence on the efficacy of memantine are worth mentioning: some RCCTs had small sample sizes, significant follow-up losses, received direct funding, or had authors who declared having received different types of funding from the pharmaceutical industry, and, therefore, potential conflicts of interest could not be excluded¹⁶.

Due to the transient efficacy of AD treatment drugs, the progression to functional dependence continues even with their use¹⁷. In addition, they are often difficult to use due to their adverse events, such as hypertension, drowsiness and central nervous system-related disorders, and interactions with other drugs.

Considering the harm-benefit ratio as unfavorable, with low efficacy results and potentially significant adverse events in frequency and severity, the French Ministry of Health decided that as of August 2018 anticholinesterases and memantine would no longer be reimbursed by the national health insurance system. At the end of 2016, the Pharmacoeconomic Transparency Committee, which makes recommendations on public drug reimbursement in France, concluded that these drugs did not bring sufficient clinical benefits and called for their exclusion from the list of publicly provided drugs in France, which only became official following the *Haute Autorité de Santé* report in May 2018^{18,19}. The drug, however, is still present in clinical treatment protocols and is reimbursed in other countries, such as through Medicare in the US, the UK and Australia²⁰.

In Brazil, anticholinesterases have been available in the Unified Health System (or SUS) since 2002, restricted to patients with mild to moderate forms of the disease²¹. Memantine, however, was only incorporated within the SUS for the treatment of moderate and severe AD in 2017⁷. Even before that, however, it was bought by the Ministry of Health (MoH), with a total purchase of approximately 33,000 10mg tablets between 2010 and 2014, to meet judicial orders²².

The burden of disease and the costs associated with AD, population aging, and the lack of diseasemodifying treatment options raise concerns about the efficient use of resources. While current legislation in Brazil requires comparative cost-effectiveness evidence for the incorporation of a new technology into the SUS²³, economic evaluation studies have not been carried out by the Ministry of Health, with their introduction into the system being justified by clinical data and the drug's incorporation into the payment systems of other countries⁷.

Given the uncertainties in literature, the present study aimed to synthesize the evidence available in economic studies regarding the use of memantine, whether alone or combined with donepezil, to treat moderate to severe AD, focusing on the analytical decision models used in these evaluations.

METHOD

This systematic review was reported in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA)²⁴ guidelines and registered with the PROSPERO International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews under N°. CRD42017076469, in October 2017.

Study identification and search strategy

The MEDLINE, EMBASE, and LILACS bibliographic databases, as well as the Cochrane

Collaboration and specific bases for economic studies – the NHS Economic Evaluation Database (NHS EED), the Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE) and the Cost-Effectiveness Analysis (CEA) Registry - were used to search for studies published up to March 2017.

Search strategies were developed for each database based on specific descriptors, combined with the Boolean operators for AD and the drugs of interest (donepezil and memantine), using specific filters for economic studies. Search strategies specific to each database can be obtained by correspondence with the authors.

There was no restriction on publication period or language in the search. Narrative and systematic reviews of economic studies on the subject were examined for cross-references that might not otherwise have been identified.

References identified in electronic databases were managed using the ENDNOTE® software (version X4) for the elimination of duplicates.

Study selection

The articles were selected in two stages (titles and abstracts and, later, the full text), by two reviewers (IAGO and ANB), with disagreements resolved by consensus or, when necessary, through consultation with a third reviewer (RC).

To be included, studies were required to meet the following eligibility criteria: either primary studies (economic assessments conducted through observational studies and randomized controlled trials) or modeling studies related to the use of memantine, whether alone or in combination with donepezil, in adult patients diagnosed with moderate to severe AD, with disease severity determined by a specified assessment scale. Only complete economic assessments (cost-effectiveness analysis, cost-utility analysis or cost-benefit analysis) with the clear identification of comparators (placebo, no specific treatment, galantamine, rivastigmine or donepezil anticholinesterases or other types of non-pharmacological treatment) and measures of outcome, such as cost per year of life gained, cost per quality adjusted life year (QALY) and cost per time spent in a non-dependent state, were considered. All studies written in English, Portuguese and Spanish were included.

Letters, editorials, narrative reviews, partial economic assessments, and studies that did not contain explicit information on the methods and criteria defined above were excluded.

Methodological Quality Assessment

The quality assessment of the included economic studies was also performed by two independent reviewers (IAGO and RES), with disagreements resolved as described above.

The tool developed by Drummond M.²⁵ was used. It presents 35 evaluation items, distributed in three sections: aspects of study design; sources and quality of the collected data; data analysis and interpretation of results. Six additional items were introduced: data related to the presence of subgroup analysis, study limitations, potential for generalization of results, declarations of conflict of interest and study funding.

Each item was judged as yes, no, not clear, or not-applicable.

Data extraction

The relevant data were independently extracted by two reviewers and recorded in a standardized electronic form built on EPIDATA software, with disagreements resolved by a third reviewer.

Data were extracted related to (i) study identification; (ii) general characteristics of economic assessments (type and design of study; country; characteristics of population studied; type of intervention and comparator; measure of effectiveness adopted and data source; types and details of included costs; currency and year of reference; Alzheimer's disease progression model; outcomes; presence of cost-effectiveness threshold) (iii) general characteristics of the analytical decision models used (perspective, time horizon, main health outcomes, analytical approach, discount rate application, sensitivity analysis), as well as (iv) main model conclusions and limitations.

The collected data were analyzed descriptively using Microsoft Excel 2010. For the nominal data, numbers and percentages are provided, while median and ranges are used for the ordinal data. No summary measures related to the incremental cost-effectiveness measures, which are not usually recommended in systematic reviews of economic analyzes, were calculated, given the methodological, population and interventions predictable differences between studies, which may generate significant heterogeneity of results²⁶.

The characteristics and results of the included studies were summarized using tables, complemented by a narrative summary that sought to compare and evaluate the methods used and the main results between the studies.

RESULTS

A total of 1,171 references were identified in the bibliographic databases searched. After eliminating 167 duplicate records, 1,004 abstracts were examined and 63 full-text articles were evaluated. Of these, 12 economic assessments met the eligibility criteria²⁷⁻³⁸ and were included in the review (Figure 1).

There was considerable variation in the countries where the evaluations were conducted, with five studies carried out in the United Kingdom. More than half of the studies were published from 2010 onwards. Data on the age of the simulated populations varied considerably, but 83.3% considered the study population to be 60 years or older (Table 1).

Cost-utility studies that measured outcomes in terms of cost per QALY gained were the predominant type of economic assessment (75%), and there were only two studies^{35,38}, both cost-effectiveness studies, in which results were expressed only in terms of cost per year of life with independence gained. Eleven studies included populations with moderate-severe 4 of 15

AD in their analysis. Six studies used more than one analytical perspective to assess costs and benefits; the perspective of society, in which all costs were computed, including those incurred by caregivers or due to loss of productivity of patients and their families, was adopted in seven studies (58.3%) while the health system perspective, in which only the costs incurred by the health care funder are considered, was used in seven (58.3%) studies, and social security costs were considered in three.

The main source of information on drug efficacy measures used to feed the models was previously published controlled clinical trials (75%).

As can be seen in Table 2, which summarizes the main characteristics of the models used in economic evaluations, a single study was conducted through a clinical trial (piggyback evaluation) and did not use modeling in its construction²⁷, while nine economic evaluations (75%) used Markov's approach as their analytical model.

The main measure of cost-effectiveness outcome was the quality-adjusted life year (QALY). Intermediate outcomes, such as cost per year or period of independence and cost per year without patient institutionalization, were used in three studies^{33,35,38} (Chart 2).



EE: Economic evaluations; AD: Alzheimer's Disease; ICER: Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio.

Figure 1. Flowchart of the search and selection process of studies included in the systematic review.

Author, year Country / Currency (year*)	Type of Economic Evaluation and Target Population	Perspective of Analysis	Intervention Examined Versus Comparator Used in Economic Evaluation /Effectiveness data source type	Costs included in economic assessment studies
Knapp et al., 2016 ²⁷ UK / € (2013/14)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Health System Society	MEMAN <i>vs</i> PL MEMAN + DON <i>vs</i> DON/RCCT	Direct: Drugs, Consultations, Hospitalization, Caregiver / Indirect ‡
Hyde et al., 2013 ²⁸ UK / £ (2009)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Health System	MEMAN <i>vs</i> absence of treatment*** (Systematic Review)	Direct: Drugs, appointments, hospitalization, other health professionals
Rive et al., 2012 ²⁹ Norway / € (2009)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Society Health System	MEMAN vs Ach** (Metanalysis)	Direct: Drugs, appointments, tests, hospitalization, caregiver, other health professionals / Indirect ‡
Hartz et al., 2012 ³⁰ Germany /€ (2011)	ACU Moderate AD	Society Social Security	MEMAN <i>vs</i> DON (RCCT)	Direct: Drugs, appointments, exams, hospitalization, caregiver, other health professionals, / Indirect: ‡
Bond et al., 2012 ³¹ UK /£ (2009)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Health System	MEMAN <i>vs</i> absence of treatment*** (Systematic review)	Direct: Drugs, consultations, hospitalization, caregiver, other health professionals, institutionalization costs, other support measures
Rive et al., 2010 ³² UK / £ (2008/2009)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Health System Social Security	MEMAN vs Ach** RCCT	Direct: Drugs, hospitalization, other health professionals
Gagnon et al., 2007 ³³ Canada / CAD\$ (2005)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Society	MEMAN <i>vs</i> absence of tto*** RCCT	Direct: Drugs, consultations, hospitalization, outpatient care, other health professionals, institutionalization costs, caregiver / Indirect ‡:
Weyker et al., 2007 ³⁴ USA / US\$ (2005)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Society	MEMAN + DON vs DON RCCT	Direct: Drugs, consultations, hospitalization, institutionalization costs, outpatient appointments / Indirect ‡
Antonanzas et al., 2006 ³⁵ Spain / € (2005)	ACE Moderate/ severe AD	Society	MEMAN <i>vs</i> absence of treatment*** RCCT	Direct: Medicines, Consultations, Hospitalization / Indirect ‡
Jonsson et al., 2005 ³⁶ Sweden / SEK (2004)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Health system	MEMAN <i>vs</i> PL RCCT	Direct: Drugs, consultations, hospitalization, health professionals.
François et al., 2004^{37} Finland / \in (2001)	ACE Moderate/ severe AD	Society	MEMAN <i>vs</i> PL RCCT	Direct: Drugs, consultations, hospitalization, caregiver, institutionalization costs, other health professionals / Indirect ‡
Jones et al., 2004 ³⁸ UK / £ (2003)	ACU Moderate/ severe AD	Health system Social security	MEMAN <i>vs</i> PL RCCT	Direct: Drugs, consultations, hospitalization, outpatient care, other health professionals, institutionalization costs

Chart 1. General characteristics of economic assessment studies included in the systematic review.

Ach: Cholinesterase inhibtor, ACE: cost-effectiveness, ACU: cost-utility, AD: Alzheimer's Disease; DON: donepezil, RCCT: Randomized Clinical Controlled Trial; USA: United States; MEMAN: memantine, PL: placebo; *Year in which costs were reported, **Author does not discriminate cholinesterase chibinito; *** absence of specific pharmacological treatment; ‡— Indirect costs involving costs of informal workers

Study / Year	Time horizon	Main Outcome / Measures	Analytical Approach: Model, States/Cycle Length	Discount rate (%) Costs / Benefits
Hyde et al., 2013 ²⁸	20 years	Cost/QALY	Markov 3 states (pre-institutionalized, institutionalized and dead)/ 12 months	No Information
Rive et al., 2012 ²⁹	5 years	Cost/QALY	Markov 3 states (pre-institutionalized, institutionalized and dead)/ 1 month	3/3
Hartz et al., 2012 ³⁰	10 years	Cost/QALY	Discrete-event simulation	3/3
Bond et al., 2012 ³¹	20 years	Cost/QALY	Markov 3 states (pre-institutionalized, institutionalized and dead)/ 12 months	3.5 / 1.5
Rive et al., 2010 ³²	5 years	Cost/QALY	Markov 3 states (pre-institutionalized, institutionalized and dead)/ 1 month	3.5 / 3.5
Gagnon et al., 2007 ³³	2 years	Cost/QALY Cost/year of independence	Markov 5 states (combination of severity and independence and dead stages) / 6 months	5 / 5
Weyker et al., 2007 ³⁴	6 months / 1 year / 1.5 years / 2 years / Lifetime	Cost/QALY	Discrete-event simulation	3/3
Antonanzas et al., 2006 ³⁵	2 years	Cost/year of independence	Markov 6 states (combination of severity and independence and dead stage) / 6 months	6 / 6
Jonsson, 2005 ³⁶	5 years	Cost/QALY	Markov 13 states (combination of three variables: severity, independence, institutionalization status, and dead) / 6 months	3/3
François et al., 2004 ³⁷	5 years	Cost/year of independence gained Cost/year without institutionalization	Markov 13 states (combination of severity, independence, institutionalization status, and dead) / 6 months	5 / 5
Jones et al., 2004 ³⁸	2 years	Cost/QALY	Markov 13 states (combination of three variables: severity, independence, institutionalization status, and dead) / 6 months	3.5 / 3.5

Chart 2. General characteristics of the analytical decision model structures of the studies included in the systematic review.

QALY: Quality-adjusted life-year;

Eight studies (66.6%) employed in its analysis a time horizon of five years or more, two had a time horizon of 20 years^{28,31} and one used lifetime³⁴.

The number of Markov states and the duration of cycles varied between publications. Four studies (33.3%) considered only three health states (pre-institutionalized, institutionalized and dead)^{28,29,31,32}.

The main study designs used to investigate the progression of AD and the likelihood of change in health status were clinical trials and observational studies from population-based registries.

The scales used for the clinical evaluation of AD and the domains considered differed greatly between studies. The cognitive approach and measures related to activities of daily living, in addition to behavior, were the main competences included.

Regarding the main findings of the economic assessments included, the results of the use of memantine was considered cost-effective and dominant, i.e., less costly and more effective than its comparator, in nine studies (75%), as shown in Chart 3. In one study only²⁸, memantine was not cost-effective when compared to donepezil in the moderate AD population, defined by the MMSE scores of ≥ 10 and ≤ 25 (Table 3).

A sensitivity analysis to examine the uncertainty regarding the parameters and structure of the models was included in all studies, with deterministic analyses being the most used (66.6%); while extreme scenario analyses were included in two studies^{33,36}.

The methodological quality of the included studies was considered good (Figure 2). The worst quality items were the justifications for choosing the discount rate adopted, details of the statistical methods and the disaggregated presentation of results. All the manuscripts presented arguments regarding the limitations of their study. In addition, 80% declared a conflict of interest and funding in their publications. Most manuscripts were funded by industry (75%).

Author	Main results	Sensitivity Analysis
Knapp et al., 2016 ²⁷	ICER*/ HS: MEMAN <i>vs</i> dominant PL / MEMAN +DON <i>vs</i> DON cost-effective; Soc. MEMAN+DON vs DON non-cost-effective	Acceptability C.: Chance 95% MEMAN cost- effective <i>vs</i> PL with threshold of $£30,000$ and of 55% of MEMAN + DON <i>vs</i> DON cost-effective with same threshold
Hyde et al., 2013 ²⁸	ICER £32,100/QALY / MEMAN cost-effective <i>vs</i> no specified treatment	Acceptability C.: Chance of 38% MEMAN cost- effective <i>vs</i> no treatment with threshold of €30.000
Rive et al., 2012 ²⁹	Negative ICER ** / MEMAN dominant vs Ach***	Deterministic: MEMAN dominant <i>vs</i> Ach*** Probabilistic: Chance >98% of MEMAN being cost-effective
Hartz et al., 2012 ³⁰	MEMAN non-cost-effective and dominated by DON Δ costs DON: -€2,225 / ΔQALY: 0.017	Deterministic: DON dominant vs MEMAN in all simulations Probabilistic: Chance >70% of DON dominating MEMAN Acceptability C.: Chance >90% of DON cost- effective with threshold of €10,000
Bond et al., 2012 ³¹	ICER*£32,100/QALY / MEMAN cost-effective vs no specified treatment	Deterministic: MEMAN cost-effective; MEMAN effectiveness alters ICER Acceptability C.: Chance 38% MEMAN cost- effective with threshold of £30,000
Rive et al., 2010 ³²	ICER negative** / MEMAN cost-effective vs Ach*** Δ costs: -£1,711/ Δ QALY: 0.031	Deterministic: MEMAN dominant vs Ach*** Probabilistic: Chance >99% MEMAN being cost- effective Acceptability C.: Chance >98% MEMAN cost- effective with threshold of €20,000
Gagnon et al., 2007 ³³	ICER negative** / MEMAN cost-effective vs no treatment Δ costs: -CAD\$1,276 / Δ QALY: 0.031 / Δ years without complete dependence: 0.09	Deterministic: MEMAN dominant vs no treatment Probabilistic: MEMAN cost-neutral in 83.3% Acceptability C.: Chance 89.5% MEMAN cost- effective with threshold of €20,000
Weyker et al., 2007 ³⁴	ICER*: TH of 6m: 3.475 / TH of 12m: 382 / TH de 18m: -5.102 / TH entire life: -US\$8,880 / MEMAN + DON is cost-effective <i>vs</i> DON	Deterministic: MEMAN cost-effective and dominant <i>vs</i> DON
Antonanzas et al., 2006 ³⁵	ICER negative** / MEMAN cost-effective vs no treatment Δ costs: -€667 / Δ years independence gained: 0.202	Acceptability C.: Chance >98% MEMAN cost- effective vs PL with threshold of €30,000
Jonsson, 2005 ³⁶	ICER negative** /MEMAN cost-effective vs PL Δ costs: -SEK100,528 / Δ QALY: 0,148	Deterministic: MEMAN dominant vs PL Extreme scenario analysis: MEMAN dominant
François et al., 2004 ³⁷	ICER negative** / MEMAN cost-effective <i>vs</i> PL Δ costs: -€1,687 / Δ years of independence: 0.34	Probabilistic: Chance >93% MEMAN <i>vs</i> PL cost- effective and dominant Acceptability C.: Chance >99% MEMAN cost- effective with threshold of €30,000
Jones et al., 2004 ³⁸	ICER negative** / MEMAN cost-effective vs PL Δ costs: -£1,963 / Δ QALY: 0.04	Deterministic univariate: MEMAN cost-effective <i>vs</i> PL in all scenarios

01 0 1 5	1 C	•			1
Chart 3. Main	results of e	economic	assessments and	l uncertainty	v analyzes

Acceptability C.: Acceptability Curve; DON: Donepezil; MEMAN: Memantine; PL: Placebo; TH: Time Horizon; QALY: Quality-adjusted life-year; ICER: Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; HS: Healthcare System; Soc: Society; Δ : Difference; vs: versus; *ICER: Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio; Negative ICER **: use of intervention represents resource savings compared with comparator; Ach***: Non-specified inhibitors



EE: Economic Evaluations; CI: Confidence Intervals

Figure 2. Assessment of methodological quality of economic evaluation studies included.

DISCUSSION

The increase in health-related costs in a scenario of limited resources, as well as the growing prevalence of Alzheimer's disease associated with population aging, mean it is imperative to examine the relationship between costs and clinical benefits the drugs used in their treatment, especially when evidence of the efficacy of therapy isn't strong and the benefits are considered insufficient. A systematic review of the risk-benefit of inhibitors and memantine use in AD states that its benefits are marginal and short-termed, indicating that it should be used cautiously in the elderly population, where side effects may be more significant, especially with inhibitors of the drugs¹⁷. Some health systems do not include or have withdrawn memantine funding for the treatment of moderate to severe stages of disease^{18,19}. Others restrict this funding to fixed time periods (eg, one year), during which users 10 of 15

are periodically reassessed, with the suspension of coverage if there is evidence of disease progression supported by the application of certain scales such as the Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE) and the Clinical Dementia Rating (CDR)³⁹.

Considering the incremental cost-effectiveness ratios and cost-effectiveness thresholds defined in each country, the results showed that the use of memantine for moderate to severe AD was considered cost-effective in most studies, being the dominant therapeutic strategy in eleven articles, that is, less costly and with better health outcomes. Sensitivity analyzes concerning the variation of a large number of parameters reinforce the fact that these results were robust, that is, they remained favorable to memantine.

It should be noted, however, that all studies were conducted in developed countries and mostly applied the societal perspective, computing costs that included caregiver time, costs incurred by families and productivity losses associated disease, wheter by patients or family members.

The incremental cost-effectiveness ratios resulting from the analyzes varied widely. This variability possibly resulted from aspects related to study design, the perspective adopted and the assumptions considered, resulting in limitations related to the comparability between studies.

The results are consistent with some reviews already available on the subject. In 2018, a systematic review published by Ebrahem and Oremus¹⁶ on economic assessments related to the treatment of AD identified 14 studies related to the use of memantine alone or combined with anticholinesterases, with 93.7% of the studies also finding that memantine was cost-effective.

A single study included in the present review concluded that the strategy of using memantine alone was dominated by donepezil for moderate AD, or in other words, the inhibitors had comparatively lower costs and better health outcomes³⁰. Sensitivity analyzes reinforced the robustness of these results, being favorable to donepezil based on variations in the parameters, with the acceptability curve showing a greater than 90% chance of inhibitor being cost-effective at a threshold as low as €10,000.00 (2011 figures).

The study by Hartz et al.³⁰, conducted in Germany with a ten-year time horizon, used discrete-event simulation to capture, from the societal perspective, the costs and effects of treatment with respect to activities of daily living, improvements in function measured by MMSE and in the neuropsychiatric inventory. Unlike the other evaluations, the target population considered had moderate AD, the clinical stage of the disease in which the effects of memantine in isolation remain controversial⁴⁰.

The included studies that examined memantine in combination with donepezil also indicated divergent cost-effectiveness results between studies, depending on the reference population^{27,34}. The study by Knapp et al.²⁷, an economic evaluation performed in parallel with a controlled clinical trial published in 2016, showed that the memantine-donepezil combination was not cost-effective compared to donepezil alone for moderate disease²³. The study by Weyker et al.³⁴, meanwhile, conducted in the US using discrete-event simulation, showed that this association was cost-effective for moderate and severe AD, considering time horizons greater than six months. In addition to examining diverse patient populations, the study designs were also distinct, which may have contributed to the difference in outcomes observed.

Markov's approach was the main type of modeling employed in the economic assessments examined (75%). The use of Markov chains is frequently recommended for modelling chronic diseases, where individuals move between different stages of the disease over time, reflecting their natural history⁴¹.

The simulated time horizons in the studies ranged from two years to lifetime, with most having horizons of five years or more. Considering that AD has a median survival period of 8.3 years in patients diagnosed aged 65 and over⁴², the chosen horizons mostly contemplate the life expectancy of these patients and can adequately capture the most relevant costs and benefits expected from the treatments used.

The cognitive domain is a relevant outcome in the natural course of the Alzheimer's disease progression

process and should be adopted in the modeling of this disease. However, modeling should also adopt domains other than the cognitive in order to consider the complexity of this disorder.

Literature suggests that modeling including aspects related to function, level of patient's dependence on a caregiver and quality of life may more accurately reflect the progression of AD⁴³. Clinical trials, commonly used as a data source in the economic evaluations found, are often insufficient and too short to evaluate such results, for which economic health models that combine trial data with real-world evidence are particularly useful⁴⁴.

The vast majority of the evaluations present in this review used, as an outcome of the cost-effectiveness of the intervention, quality-adjusted life years, whether alone or combined with other dimensions. QALY is a multidimensional concept whose use is particularly important in chronic conditions, and especially when the results of the intervention affect survival less and the domains of relationships and living more (cognition, mood, behavior, functionality and the ability to live longer without requiring special care or institutionalization), as observed in AD⁴⁵. However, some studies suggest that QALY may not be fully accurate for the evaluation of individuals living with AD, as it is often caregivers, and nonpatients, who provide proxy measures⁴⁶.

There is a relative scarcity of data related to the use of drugs such as memantine and donepezil and their effects on delaying institutionalization⁴⁷. In addition, the reasons leading to the institutionalization of AD patients are multifactorial and complex, involving patient and caregiver characteristics, and the social and cultural environment. These types of outcomes are not usually evaluated in clinical trials, have significant impacts on health costs, and may underestimate overall cost measures, particularly the indirect costs of AD patient care⁴⁸.

Finally, it should be mentioned that most evaluations assumed that the drugs did not have an effect on mortality, which was supported by the fact that symptomatic therapies generally had no effect on the underlying disease process, and the lack of evidence of such an effect from relatively short-term clinical trials.

Most of the evaluations used randomized controlled trials as a source of data on the effectiveness of treatment. This can set a good internal validity in the model construction, but has a low external validity, since most trials have a short duration and cannot add long-term treatment effects. In addition, the use of parameters from a clinical trial conducted in one country in evaluations performed in another may pose a problem in generalizing modeling results, which is further accentuated when measures are applied as utilities to generate QALY.

Few economic models used in the simulations contemplated the scope of the natural history of AD. There is great variability in the assumptions made in these studies, in their effectiveness and cost data sources, their utility measure calculations and the transparency of their models. Therefore, caution is advised regarding the conclusions of the present review.

Finally, the number of economic evaluations funded by the pharmaceutical industry in which their drugs dominated their comparators was high, increasing the risk of possible publication bias.

CONCLUSIONS

Most of the economic assessments included in this review indicate that the use of memantine alone or combined with donepezil for moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease is predominantly cost-effective in countries where the studies were conducted. Although most uncertainty analyzes confirm the robustness of the results presented, caution is required when transferring cost-effectiveness findings from one country to another, either because of the difficulty of extrapolating data costs due to different payment structures and systems and national incentives, or because considering a cost-effective strategy is closely related to the cost-effectiveness thresholds implicitly or explicitly adopted in each country. The fact that most evaluations are funded by industry highlights that studies may contain significant biases and, for that reason, caution should be exercised in the process of interpreting these results.

Therefore, local-based analyzes should be performed in Brazil, paying close attention to the issues and limitations raised from the economic evaluations already performed, so that the costeffectiveness of memantine, whether combined or not with donepezil, for severe Alzheimer's Disease is more accurately assessed.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- dos Santos Picanço LC, Ozela PF, de Brito Brito MF, Pinheiro AA, Padilha EC, Braga FS, et al. Alzheimer's disease: a review from the pathophysiology to diagnosis, new perspectives for pharmacological treatment. Curr Med Chem. 2018;28:3141-59.
- Gutierrez BAO, Silva HS, Guimarães C, Campino AC. Impacto econômico da doença de Alzheimer no Brasil: é possível melhorar a assistência e reduzir os custos? Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2014;19(11):4479-86.
- Wimo A, Ballard C, Brayne C, Gauthier S, Handels R, Jones RW, et al. Health economic evaluation of treatments for Alzheimer's disease: impact of new diagnostic criteria. J Intern Med. 2014;275(3):304-16.
- Prince M, Bryce R, Albanese E, Wimo A, Ribeiro W, Ferri CP. The global prevalence of dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Alzheimers Dement. 2013;9(1):63-75.
- Alves JED. Transição demográfica, transição da estrutura etária e envelhecimento. Rev Portal Divulg. 2014;40:1-8. Disponível em: www. portaldoenvelhecimento.org.br/revista
- Burla C, Camarano AA, Kanso S, Fernandes D, Nunes R. Panorama prospectivo das demências no Brasil: um enfoque demográfico. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2013;18(10):2949-56.
- Brasil. Portaria conjunta nº 13 de 28 de novembro de 2017. Aprova o Protocolo Clínico e Diretrizes Terapêuticas da Doença de Alzheimer. Diário Oficial da União. 08 de dezembro de 2017. Seção 1. Pág. 201.
- 8. Puangthong U, HsiungGing-YueK R. Critical appraisal of the long-term impact of memantine in treatment of moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2009;5:553-61.
- Winblad B, Poritis N. Memantine in severe dementia: results of the 9M-Best Study (Benefit and efficacy in severely demented patients during treatment with memantine). Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 1999;14(2):135-46.
- Reisberg B, Doody R, Stoffler A, Schmitt F, Ferris S, Mobius HJ. Memantine to moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease. N Engl J Med. 2013;348(14):1333-41.

- 11. Van Dyck CH, Tariot PN, Meyers B, Malca Resnick E; Memantine MEM-MD-01 Stud Group. A 24week randomized, controlled trial of memantine in patients with moderate-to-severe Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord. 2007;21(2):136-43.
- Kishi T, Matsunaga S, Oya K, Nomura I, Ikuta T, Iwata N. Memantine for Alzheimer's Disease: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;60(2):401-25.
- Chen R, Chan PT, Chu H, Lin YC, Chang PC, Chen CY, et al. Treatment effects between monotherapy of donepezil versus combination with memantine for Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. PLoS One. 2017;12(8):e 0183586 [14p.].
- 14. Tsoi KK, Chan JY, Leung NW, Hirai HW, Wong SY, Kwok TC. Combination Therapy Showed Limited Superiority Over Monotherapy for Alzheimer Disease: a Meta-analysis of 14 Randomized Trials. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17(9):1-8.
- 15. Kishi T, Matsunaga S, Iwata N. The effects of memantine on behavioral disturbances in patients with Alzheimer's disease: a meta-analysis. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2017;13:1909-28.
- Ebrahem AS, Oremus M. A pharmacoeconomic evaluation of cholinesterase inhibitors andmemantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2018;19(11):1245-59.
- 17. Buckley JS, Salpeter SR. A Risk-Benefit assessment of dementia medications: systematic review of the evidence. Drugs Aging. 2015;32(6):453-67.
- Prescrire Rédaction. Médicaments de la maladie d'Alzheimer: enfin non remboursables en France. Rev Prescrire [Internet]. 2018 [acesso em 08 ago. 2019];38(416):1-2. Disponível em: https://www. prescrire.org/fr/3/31/55116/0/NewsDetails.aspx
- 19. France. Haute Autorité de Santé. Guide parcours de soins des patients présentant un trouble neurocognitif associé à la maladie d'Alzheimer ou à une maladie apparentée [Internet]. Saint Denis: HAS; 2018 [acesso em 08 ago. 2019]. Disponível em: https://www. has-sante.fr/upload/docs/application/pdf/2018-05/ parcours_de_soins_alzheimer.pdf

13 of 15

- 20. National Institute for Health Care and Excellence. Donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. Technology appraisal guidance [TA217] [Internet]. London: NICE; 2018. [acesso em 08 ago. 2019]. Disponível em https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/TA217
- Brasil. Ministério da Saúde. Portaria GM/MS nº 843, de 31 de outubro de 2002. Aprova o Protocolo Clínico e Diretrizes Terapêuticas da Doença de Alzheimer. Diário Oficial da União. 04 nov. 2002.
- 22. Costa RDF, Osório-de-Castro CGS, Silva RM, Maia AA, Ramos MCB, Caetano R. Aquisição de medicamentos para a Doença de Alzheimer no Brasil: uma análise no sistema federal de compras, 2008 a 2013. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2015;20(12):3827-38.
- 23. Brasil. Ministério da Saúde. Secretaria de Ciência, Tecnologia e Insumos Estratégicos, Departamento de Gestão e Incorporação de Tecnologias em Saúde. Entendendo a incorporação de tecnologias em Saúde no SUS: como se envolver [Internet]. Brasília, DF: Ministério da Saúde; 2016.
- Galvão TF, Panzani TSA. Principais itens para relatar Revisões sistemáticas e Meta-análises: a recomendação PRISMA*. Epidemiol Serv Saúde. 2015;24(2):335-42.
- 25. Drummond M. Guidelines for authors and peer reviewers of economic submissions to the BMJ. BMJ. 1996;313:275-83.
- 26. Luhnen M, Prediger B, Neugebauer EAM, Mathes T. Systematic reviews of economic evaluations in health technology assessment: a review of characteristics and applied methods. Int J Technol Assess Health Care. 2018;34(6):537-46.
- 27. Knapp M, King D, Romeo R, Adams J, Baldwin A, Ballard C, et al. Cost-effectiveness of donepezil and memantine in moderateto severe Alzheimer's disease (the DOMINO-AD trial). Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2016;32(12):1205-16.
- 28. Hyde C, Peters J, Bond M, Rogers G, Hoyle M, Anderson R, et al. Evolution of the evidence on the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors and memantine for Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and economic model. Age Ageing. 2013;42(1):14-20.
- 29. Rive B, Aarsland D, Grishchenko M, Cochran J, Lamure M, Toumi M. Cost-effectiveness of memantine in moderate and severe Alzheimer's disease in Norway. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2012;27(6):573-82.

- 30. Hartz S, Getsios D, Tao S, Blume S, Maclaine G. Evaluating the cost effectiveness of donepezil in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in Germany using discrete event simulation. BMC Neurol. 2012:1-12.
- 31. Bond M, Rogers G, Peters J, Anderson R, Hoyle M, Miners A, et al. The effectiveness and costeffectiveness of donepezil, galantamine, rivastigmine and memantine for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease (review of Technology Appraisal No. 111): a systematic review and economic model. Health Technol Assess. 2012;16(21):1-47.
- 32. Rive B, Grishchenko M, Guilhaume-Goulant C, Katona C, Livingston G, Lamure M, et al. Cost effectiveness of memantine in Alzheimer's disease in the UK. J Med Econ. 2010;13(2):371-80.
- 33. Gagnon M, Rive B, Hux M, Guilhaume C. Costeffectiveness of memantine compared with standard care in moderate-to-severe Alzheimer Disease in Canada. Can J Psychiatry. 2007;52(8):519-26.
- 34. Weyker D, Taneja C, Edelsberg J, Haim Erder M, Schimitt FA, Setyawan J, et al. Cost-effectiveness of memantine in moderate-to-severe Alzheimer's disease patients receiving donepezil. Curr Med Res Opin. 2007;23(5):1187-97.
- 35. Antonanzas F, Rive B, Badenas JM, Gomez-Lus S, Guilhaume C. Cost-effectiveness of memantine in community-based Alzheimer's disease patients:an adaptation in Spain. Eur J Health Econ. 2006;7(2):137-44.
- Jonsson L. Cost-effectiveness of memantine for moderate to severe Alzheimer's disease in Sweden. Am J Geriatr Pharmacother. 2005;3(2):77-86.
- 37. François C, Sintonen H, Sulkava R, Rive B. Cost effectiveness of memantine in moderately severe to severe Alzheimer's Disease: a Markov Model in Finland. Clin Drug Investig. 2004;24(7):373-84.
- 38. Jones RW, McCrone P, Guilhaume C. Cost Effectiveness of Memantine in Alzheimer's Disease: an analysis based on a probabilistic Markov Model from a UK Perspective. Drugs Aging. 2004;21(9):607-20.
- Green C, Zhang S. Predicting the progression of Alzheimer's disease dementia: a multidomain health policy model. Alzheimers Dement. 2016;12(7):776-85.
- Jiang J, Jiang H. Efficacy and adverse effects of memantine treatment for Alzheimer's disease from randomized controlled trials. Neurol Sci. 2015;36(9):1633-41.

- Soárez PC, Soares MO, Novaes HMD. Modelos de decisão para avaliações econômicas de tecnologias em saúde. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2014;19(10):4209-22.
- 42. Teixeira JB, de Souza Júnior PRB, Higa J, Theme Filha MM. Doença de Alzheimer: estudo da mortalidade no Brasil, 2000-2009. Cad Saúde Pública. 2015;31(4):1-12.
- 43. Green C, Zhang S. Predicting the progression of Alzheimer's disease dementia: a multidomain health policy model. Alzheimers Dement. 2016;12(7):776-85.
- 44. Wimo A. Long-term effects of Alzheimer's disease treatment. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14(12):1145-6.
- 45. Ratcliffe J, Hutchinson C, Milte R, Nguyen KH, Welch A, Caporale T, et al. How do people with dementia and family carers value dementia-specific quality of life states?: An explorative "Think Aloud" study. Australas J Ageing. 2019;38(Suppl 2):75-82.

- 46. Nickel F, Barth J, Kolominsky-Rabas PL. Health economic evaluations of non-pharmacological interventions for persons with dementia and their informal caregivers: a systematic review. BMC Geriatrics. 2018;18(69):2-18.
- 47. Howard R, McShane R, Lindesay J, Ritchie C, Baldwin A, Barber R, et al. Nursing home placement in the Donepezil and Memantine in Moderate to Severe Alzheimer's Disease (DOMINO-AD) trial: secondary and post-hoc analyses. Lancet Neurol. 2015;14(12):1171-81.
- 48. Jones RW, Romeo R, Trigg R, Knapp M, Sato A, King D, et al. Dependence in Alzheimer's disease and service use costs, quality of life, and caregiver burden: the DADE study. Alzheimers Dement. 2015;11(3):280-90.





Hospitalizations due to primary care sensitive conditions in a population of older adults in the state of Rio Grande do Norte from 2008 to 2016

Katarina Márcia Rodriques dos Santos¹ 回

Luciane Paula Batista Araújo de Oliveira¹ 回

Fábia Cheyenne Gomes de Morais Fernandes¹ 😐

Emelynne Gabrielly de Oliviera Santos² 回

Isabelle Ribeiro Barbosa² 回

Abstract

Objective: To identify hospitalizations to primary care sensitive conditions among older adults in the state of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil. *Method:* An ecological study using information from the Hospitalization Information System of the Unified Health System was carried out. Mortality rate, permanence and costs resulting from hospitalization in the period from 2008 to 2016 were analyzed according to residence, age and sex. *Results:* The greatest proportions of hospitalizations were due to bacterial pneumonias and gastroenteritis. Illnesses that could be prevented by immunization had the longest average stay (on average 17 days); the highest admission rates were among men and for the over 80 age group, both in the period 2008-2010. In the period 2014-2016, hospitalizations for primary care sensitive conditions (or HPCSC) corresponded to 30.90% of all hospitalizations and 16.36% of the hospitalization expenses of the state. The average cost per HPCSC was R\$970.54 during the same three-year period. *Conclusion:* In Rio Grande do Norte, hospitalizations due to primary care sensitive conditions among older adults is decreasing, although it is still an important cause of hospitalization and public health spending.

Keywords: Primary Health Care. Hospitalization. Old Age Assistance. Length of Stay. Quality Indicators, Health Care.

¹ Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte, Faculdade de Ciências de Saúde do Trairi. Santa Cruz, RN, Brasil.

² Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Norte, Centro de Ciências da Saúde, Programa de Pós-graduação em Saúde Coletiva. Natal, RN, Brasil.

Funding: This research was funded by the Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (CAPES). Process nº 23038.013648/2018-51 - Master's program grant.

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to this study.

INTRODUCTION

Primary Care (PC) is one of the main entry points to the health system. In addition to access to services, this type of care is expected to have a resolutive capacity and be a mechanism for transforming realities through health promotion, prevention and protection¹.

However, due to limitations in access to these services or the ineffectiveness of actions provided in primary care, users often require urgent and emergency care and/or hospitalizations for conditions that could be resolved at the primary level of care². In this context, Hospitalizations for Primary Care Sensitive Conditions (HPCSC) represent avoidable hospitalizations or conditions sensitive to outpatient care. They are also indicators used to classify the resolutive capacity of PC, by registering hospitalizations for certain specific diseases, and which seek to evaluate and monitor the entry and efficiency of the treatment provided at this level of care, thus serving as a marker of quality^{3,4}. It is understood that the greater the number of HPCSC, the lower the efficiency of PC will be, indicating failings in access to services or in the care itself ⁵⁻⁷.

In this context, it is important to reflect on the aging process that the Brazilian population has undergone. This process is distinctive in developing countries due to the major demographic changes that have occurred in recent years. In Brazil, the growth of the older adult population, both in absolute and proportional terms, is increasingly significant, and reflected in social, health and social security demands^{8,9}. According to the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE), the Brazilian older adult population in 2000 was 14,235,731, while the projection for 2030 is 41,541,763 people¹⁰.

Population aging is recognizably related to the increased prevalence of non-communicable chronic diseases, especially cardiovascular diseases. This situation generates greater demand for hospitalizations, drug treatments and patient rehabilitation, leading to increased spending on the secondary and tertiary care of the Unified Health System (SUS)¹¹. In Brazil, SUS hospitalization rates are high, and hospitalization costs are higher in people aged 60 years or older. The number of relapses in hospitalizations in this age group is also higher, contributing to 23% of the public expenditures of these hospitalizations among this population segment¹². The main causes of reported HPCSC in the older adult population are heart failure, angina, lung disease, and cerebrovascular disease^{3,6}.

The SUS evaluation process uses the Health Information System (HIS), which provides data that guide and/or generate new interventions and subsidies for strategic planning, improving management, whether in terms of control or in interventions focused on the needs encountered¹³.

The analysis of HPCSC, in turn, uses the SUS Hospital Information System (SUS/HIS), which has as its basic document the Hospitalization Authorization Form (HAF), which includes, among other information, patient diagnosis, demographics, location, date, length of stay and costs of hospitalization.

Given the above, the present study asked: What are the main causes of HPCSC in the state of Rio Grande do Norte (RN)? To understand this phenomenon, it is necessary to a consider ecological studies that analyze the behavior of these events over time, and which major population groups are affected. Such knowledge is of great importance for the planning and evaluation of PHC prevention and reorganization policies.

Thus, the aim of this study was to identify hospitalizations for Primary Care sensitive conditions among older adults in the state of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil, from 2008 to 2016.

METHOD

An ecological study was carried out analyzing HPCSC, paid for by the SUS, in the state of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil, from 2008 to 2016. The choice of the period allows a temporal analysis over nine years to be performed, in addition to reducing the possibility of data entry delays. For 2016, the hospital management network of Rio Grande do Norte consisted of 24 hospitals that provided 1,589 beds distributed among the eight health regions of the state as follows: eight in the Metropolitan region; three in the region of São José de Mipibu; three in the Mossoró region; three in the Caicó region; three in the Açu region; one in the João Câmara region; two in the Santa Cruz region and one in the Pau dos Ferros region^{14,15}. SUS/HIS data was collected from the website of the SUS Department of Informatics (DATASUS) and those on population from the IBGE website⁹. The main diagnosis of hospitalizations registered in the SUS/HIS were HPCSC, according to code ICD-10, based on the list published in SUS/HIS Ordinance n^o 221/2008 (Chart 1).

List of Primary Care Sensitive Conditions (PCSC)	CID-10
Preventable immunization diseases and sensitive conditions	A15 to A19, A33 to A37, A51 to A53, A95, B05, B06, B16, B26, G00.0, B50 to B54 and I00 to I02
Infectious gastroenteritis and complications	A00 to A09 and E86
Anemia	D50
Nutritional deficiencies	E40 to E46 and E50 to E64
Ear, nose and throat infections	H66, J00 to J03, J06 and J31
Bacterial Pneumonia	J13, J14, J15.3, J15.4, J15.8, J15.9 and J18.1
Asthma	J45 and J46
Lung Diseases	J20 to J21, J40 to J44 and J47
Hypertension	I10 and I11
Angina	120
Cardiac insufficiency	I50 and J81
Cerebrovascular diseases	I63 to I67, I69, G45 and G46
Diabetes mellitus	E10 to E14
Epilepsy	G40 and G41
Kidney and urinary tract infection	N10 to N12, N30, N34 and N39.0
Skin and subcutaneous tissue infection	A46, L01 to L04 and L08
Inflammatory disease in the female pelvic organs	N70 to N76
Gastrointestinal ulcer	K25 to K28, K92.0, K92.1 and K92.2

Chart 1. Diagnostic list of Primary Care Sensitive Conditions (PCSC) by group.

Source: Ordinance nº 221, dated 17 April 2008.

Data collection was carried out in September 2018. The analyzes were performed from the SUS/ HIS HAF system, which consists of a summary of hospital discharges completed by SUS hospitals, to receive the hospitalizations carried out.

The HPCSC profile was assessed by age group (60-69 years; 70-79 years and over 80 years), by sex (male and female) and by the health region of the residence of the patients.

The HPCSC rate (total hospitalizations for HPCSC in Rio Grande do Norte, divided by the resident older adult population in 2012, multiplied by 1,000) was calculated; by HPCSC cause group (total HPCSC of the selected cause group, divided by the resident older adult population in the selected year (2008-2016), multiplied by 1,000); HPCSC by sex (number of HPCSC of resident patients according to sex, divided by population by sex, multiplied by 1,000) and by age group (number of HPCSC of patients in the age group considered, divided by total population in age group, multiplied by 1,000). The proportion of HPCSC per health region was based on the number of HPCSC per region divided by the total HPCSC of the state over the same period, multiplied by 100. For hospital mortality rate due to HPCSC, the number of deaths by HPCSC was divided by the resident population, multiplied by 1,000.

The total values of hospitalizations for all causes and the total value of HPCSC in *reais* (R\$) were calculated. The ratio of annual HPCSC spending (HPCSC spending of RN-resident patients divided by total hospitalization costs of RN-resident patients) and the average amount spent per HPCSC (HPCSC costs of RN-resident patients divided by the number of HPCSC over the same period). To assess the changes that took place over the nine years of the series, we analyzed the percentage changes between the first and last quarter (subtracting the values recorded in the first quarter from those of the first quarter, divided by the value of the first quarter, multiplied by 100). All coefficients and proportions were analyzed over three-year periods: 2008-2010; 2011-2013; 2014-2016.

This study used secondary data available on the website of the Ministry of Health, without identifying the subjects, and was therefore exempt from consideration by a Research Ethics Committee, in accordance with Resolution No. 466/2012 of the National Health Council.

RESULTS

In the period 2008-2016, 105,543 hospitalizations for HPCSC occurred among older adults in the state of Rio Grande do Norte, totaling 810,456 days of hospitalization and a total cost of R\$86,785,404.58. The groups of causes with the highest proportions of hospitalizations among the older adults were bacterial pneumonias (19.92%); followed by infectious gastroenteritis and complications (17.52%); cerebrovascular diseases (14.2%); diabetes mellitus (12.09%) and heart failure (11.92%). Regarding the average length of hospitalization among such patients, the groups of causes with the highest rates were preventable diseases due to immunization and sensitive conditions (17 days on average), diabetes mellitus (10.72%) and skin infection. and subcutaneous tissue (10.05 days). Regarding the average cost, the groups of causes with the highest values were preventable diseases due to immunization and sensitive conditions (1,946.41 reais/hospitalization), heart failure (1,677.61 reais/ hospitalization), cerebrovascular diseases (1,013.50 reais/hospitalization). hospitalization) and bacterial pneumonias (922.51 reais/hospitalization) (Table 1).

	HPCSC a.	mong older adults	Length of h	ospitalization per HPCSC	Spending on HPCS	C
	z	% in relation to total hospitalizations (n=105.543)	Z	Mean length of hospitalization in days	Total Spend on HPCSC (R\$)	Mean spend per hospitalization (R\$)
1. Preventable immunization diseases and sensitive conditions	1,283	1.216	21,856	17.04	2,497,249.47	1,946.41
2. Infectious gastroenteritis and complications	18,490	17.519	58,354	3.16	6,114,078.50	330.67
3. Anemia	190	0.180	1,161	6.11	59,106.45	311.09
4. Nutritional Deficiencies	2,978	2.822	18,205	6.11	1,514,016.01	508.40
5. Eat, nose and throat infections	210	0.199	954	4.54	89,324.28	425.35
6. Bacterial Pneumonia	21,024	19.920	162,587	7.73	19,394,786.06	922.51
7. Asthma	3,951	3.743	14,567	3.69	1,953,280.7	494.38
8. Lung Discases	3,766	3.568	30,500	8.10	3,209,424.8	852.21
9. Essential Hypertension	2,701	2.559	9126	3.38	648,583.87	240.13
10. Angina	0	0.000	0	0.00	0	0.00
11. Heart Failure	12,581	11.920	106,546	8.47	21,106,041.17	1,677.61
12. Cerebrovascular diseases	14,979	14.192	148,453	9.91	15,181,149.47	1,013.49
13. Diabetes mellitus	12,761	12.091	136,786	10.72	7,831,165.5	613.68
14. Epilepsies	308	0.292	2,564	8.32	183,191.04	594.78
15. Kidney and urinary tract infection	418	0.396	3,309	7.92	161,992.53	387.54
16. Skin and subcutaneous tissue infection	8,581	8.130	86,251	10.05	595,5514.00	694.03
17. Inflammatory Disease Female Pelvic Organs	108	0.102	435	4.03	55,041.77	509.65
18. Gastrointestinal ulcer	1,214	1.150	8,802	7.25	831,458.96	684.89
TOTAL	105,543		810,456		86,785,404.58	

Hospitalizations for primary care sensitive conditions in older adults

Rev. Bras. Geriatr. Gerontol. 2019;22(4):e180204

5 of 12

In the group of preventable diseases by immunization and sensitive conditions, respiratory (n=534) and pulmonary (n=511) tuberculosis together represented over 81%; while diarrhea and gastroenteritis (n=8,872), other infectious intestinal diseases (n=8,580) and volume depletion (n=994) together accounted for 99% of HPCSC cases for the infectious gastroenteritis and complications group. The group of nutritional deficiencies was represented entirely by malnutrition (n=2,976).

As shown in Table 2, the highest proportion of HPCSC occurred in the metropolitan region of the state (24.70%). The highest HPCSC coefficients were recorded in the region of Pau dos Ferros (557.33 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants) and Caicó (513.07 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants).

Table 3 shows the results of the HPCSC coefficients, the costs and the average length of stay per cause over three trienniums. The rate of HPCSC decreased, with a rate of 41.18 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants in the 2008-2010 triennium and a rate of 28.12 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants in the 2014-2016 triennium. The highest rates were

observed for men, although rates decreased over time for both sexes in the same proportion. In relation to age group, older adults aged over 80 had the highest rates (89.65 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants) in the 2008-2010 triennium, although this age group exhibited the greatest reduction in HPCSC rates over the three trienniums. The 70-79 years age group presented the smallest reduction in the analyzed period (reduction of 5% between 2008 and 2016). Although PHCSC hospitalization rates decreased over the years, the average length of stay as well as the average amount spent on each hospitalization increased by 28.94% and 39.74%, respectively. The average length of stay per HPCSC was 8.92 days and the average amount spent per HPCSC was 970.54 reais, considering the three-year period 2014-2016.

Figure 1 shows that as of 2011, the rate of HPCSC decreased from 42.64 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants in 2009 to 25 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants in 2016. The highest hospital mortality rate due to HPCSC was recorded in 2009 (4.65 deaths/1,000 inhabitants) and the lowest rate was in 2016 (3.38 deaths/1,000 inhabitants).

RN Health Region	N° of HPCSC- Older Adults	Proportion (%)	Population (Older Adults)	Rate of HPCSC-Older adults by health region (1000 inhab)
São José de Mipibu	8,016	7.52	37,247	215.212
Mossoró	15,554	14.60	43,636	356.449
João Câmara	7,944	7.45	33,288	238.645
Caicó	19,823	18.60	38,637	513.057
Santa Cruz	6,831	6.41	23,067	296.137
Pau dos Ferros	17,786	16.69	31,913	557.328
Metropolitan Region	26,319	24.70	115,384	228.099
Açu	4,247	3.98	15,088	281.482

Table 2. Rate of Hospitalizations for Primary Care Sensitive Conditions (HPCSC) and proportion of HPCSC among older adults by health region 2008-2016, Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil.

Source: DATASUS, SUS Hospital Information System, 2018.

Variables			V	
variables	2008-2010	2011-2013	2014-2016	variation
HPCSC-Older Adults RN Rate	41.18	35.58	28.12	-31.71
HPCSC-Older Adults Rate				
Women	38.61	33.02	26.3	-31.88
Men	44.53	38.96	30.53	-31.43
HPCSC (years)				
60-69	23.71	20.18	15.6	-34.2
70-79	46.16	39.28	43.47	-5.83
>80	89.65	81.79	67.49	-24.72
Nº HPCSC-Older Adults	38,182	36,116	31,247	-18.16
Nº hospitalizations for all causes	94,620	101,710	101,125	6.87
Proportion HPCSC/General Hospitalization	40.35%	35.51%	30.90%	-23.43
Length of stay (days) HPCSC-Older Adults	264,257	267,377	278,847	5.52
Mean length of stay (days) HPCSC-Older Adults	6.92 days	7.40 days	8.92 days	28.94
Cost of HPCSC-Older Adults	26,519,066.98	29,941,625.70	30,.326,373.23	14.36
Cost of hospitalizations for all causes	113,455,387.00	151,089,703.50	185,394,652.80	63.41
Proportion spent on HPCSC-older adults/ general hospitalizations	23.37%	19.82%	16.36%	-30.02
Mean cost of HPCSC-Older Adults (em R\$)	694.54	829.04	970.54	39.74

Table 3. Analysis of rates of Hospitalizations for Primary Care Sensitive Conditions (HPCSC), HPCSC spending (R\$) and length of stay for such causes in older adults 2008-2016, Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil.

Source: DATASUS, SUS Hospital Information System, 2017.

* Variation in value between 3rd and 1st triennium.



Source: DATASUS, Hospitalization System, 2018.

Figure 1. Temporal analysis of the hospitalization rate and mortality due to Hospitalizations for Primary Care Sensitive Conditions (HPCSC), in the period 2008-2016, in the state of Rio Grande do Norte, Brazil.

DISCUSSION

The present study described the scenario for Rio Grande do Norte and its health regions in relation to HPCSC for the older adult population, noting a reduction in hospitalization rates for such causes in recent years. From the characterization of the hospitalizations, it was observed that the highest rates of HPCSC affected men, long-lived older adults and the health region of Pau dos Ferros and Caicó. Additionally, the costs of such hospitalizations corresponded to a considerable percentage of the amount spent on hospitalizations in the state. As HPCSC may reflect a disorganized supply or failings in resolutive capacity and access in primary care, the results of this study are important for further analysis of this stage of the care network in this region.

The occurrence of HPCSC in older adults, in addition to other factors, may be related to the most common access limitations in this population, such as mobility and transportation difficulties and a high degree of dependence¹⁵. With the increase in life expectancy and population aging, the health problems that most affect this population are chronic diseases and/or long-term diseases, requiring more costly actions and the use of more complex technologies. The older population makes the greatest use of health services and rate index has been increasing concomitantly with the demographic profile^{16,17}.

In a survey conducted in the city of Londrina (Paraná), the older adult population (9.3% of the population) corresponded to 20.2% of hospitalizations, 22.1% of days of hospital stay and 29.1% of SUS hospital costs¹⁸. In 2007, in the municipality of Canoas (Rio Grande do Sul), individuals aged 60 or older had a higher prevalence of hospitalization (17.2%), with a 4.96 times greater probability of being hospitalized than the age group used as reference (14-19 years)¹⁹.

Literature²⁰ reports a seven times greater risk of hospitalization due to a PHCSC among older adults. The discussions describe these individuals as physically and financially vulnerable, and having little understanding of primary care practices. These characteristics may represent the under-utilization of primary care in a preventive manner, which in turn may result in avoidable hospitalizations, with increased morbidity and a direct cost impact on the public health system²¹.

In the present study, the most frequent diagnoses found in HPCSC among older adults were for bacterial pneumonia, infectious gastroenteritis and complications, and diabetes mellitus. Circulatory system diseases accounted for around 25% of hospitalizations, which is similar to the results of a study that analyzed the HPCSC of older adults in the state of Rio de Janeiro⁶, and found that 49.0% of hospitalizations are due to these causes. In addition, a study that analyzed HPCSC in older adults in Santa Catarina found that these causes represented 23.76% of total hospitalizations²². Other studies analyzing HPCSC in the adult population also corroborate these findings^{12,16,23}.

Immunopreventable diseases were also a notable cause of hospitalization in the present study. This finding is corroborated by a study that analyzed HPCSC in Brazilian regions and showed that, in the northeast of the country, HPCSC for preventable diseases by immunization and preventable conditions are the most prevalent²⁴. For diseases prevented by immunization, as suggested by the National Immunization Program, vaccination is a highly effective preventive resource, available in primary care and carried out by nurses, both in terms of operational issues in vaccine rooms, and in the monitoring of the different stages of this process²⁵.

The hospitalization coefficient for gastroenteritis in the present study was notable. This finding points to possible failures in preventive and curative care in the sphere of primary care, which should be effective and resolutive against the first manifestations of this event, especially in this age group. A study conducted in the northeastern states of Brazil showed that oral rehydration serum, considered a minimal technology and low cost intervention, was highly effective in preventing deaths from gastroenteritis^{26,27}.

Another relevant finding is the registration of congenital syphilis among the causes of HPCSC. Sexually transmitted infections (STI) are increasingly common in this population, and according to a study by Dornelas et al.²⁸, an increase in the longevity of the sex life occurs in parallel with an increase
in life expectancy, whether due to technological advances (such as the use of impotence and/or hormone replacement pills), combined with greater predisposition due to physiological changes, increasing the risk of STI.

The present study observed a decline in HPCSC rates over the study period, a fact corroborated by a study that conducted a descriptive review of the results of Brazilian academic production on conditions sensitive to primary care. This study showed that, despite having high rates in some isolated states and/ or municipalities, there is a tendency for HPCSC to stabilize and decline in different Brazilian regions.²⁹. The study that analyzed the HPCSC of older adults in Brazil, from 2003 to 2012, found that the northeast region has the lowest hospitalization rate for these causes, and that in Brazil, there was a reduction of 17.64% in HPCSC in the period considered³⁰. This tendency to reduce or stabilize hospitalizations may be justified by the transfer of procedures previously performed only through hospitalization, to outpatient and hospital day care. On the other hand, it may mean the improved access to and effectiveness of PHC³.

Continuing with this theme, the implementation of the Family Health Strategy (FHS) in Brazil has resulted in a significant expansion of coverage in the last decade, with different rates between regions and depending on the population size of municipal regions. Administrative data from the Basic Care Department (BCD) of the Health Care Department of the Ministry of Health revealed out that in 2012, 95% of Brazilian municipal regions had a total of 33,404 FHS teams deployed, with potential to reach 55% of the population. However, there are important differences in coverage, access, and provision of care in Basic Health Units (BHU) in municipal regions, partly due to management structures and social inequalities in the country, with significant effects on inequities in access to and the use of health services³¹.

HPCSC rates in Rio Grande do Norte, when compared with other areas of Brazil, are considered low. In a study conducted in the Federal District, older adults aged 70 to 79 years, for example, had significant HPCSC coefficients (60 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants for women and 80 hospitalizations/1,000 inhabitants for men)²⁶. The continued higher proportions of HPCSC in older adults in the south and southeast may be related to the fact that these regions have the highest proportion of older adults and the highest rate of aging in the country³⁰.

Regarding the amount spent on HPCSC, the data from the present study were consistent with the results of a national study that showed a reduction in spending on HPCSC from 2000 to 2013. This study showed that in 2013, the costs of HPCSC were 17.4% of the spending of the public health system on all hospitalizations²³, similar to the findings of the present study.

It should be noted that there are limitations on the use of hospitalizations for conditions sensitive to primary care. A decrease in hospitalization rates for these causes indicates only possible improvements in primary care. The other numerous factors that influence hospitalization rates are not easily measured and adjusted/controlled. The analysis of these hospitalizations depends, among other things, on administrative data (such as hospitalization authorizations), and this can accentuate the problems present in these databases. The use of HPCSC in research requires careful analysis of hospital data sources themselves³². Nevertheless, the SUS/HIS is used in several studies and its results have been consistent and coherent with reality.

CONCLUSION

The present study allowed us to identify the evolution of hospitalizations for primary care sensitive conditions in older adults (HPCSC) in the state of Rio Grande do Norte, considering the differential roles of age, sex and diagnosis of hospitalization during the analyzed period, especially in terms of the reduction in the proportion of these expenses in the total spending on hospitalizations of the Unified Health System.

In addition, a progressive reduction in HPCSC was revealed, which may be related to Primary Care and its considerable impacts on hospital morbidity, contributing to a healthy aging and higher life expectancy, as HPCSC are indicators of quality of care, allowing weaknesses to be identified, alerting managers to focuses of needs for intervention.

Finally, the importance of subsidizing policies that strengthen primary care in Brazil and which include programs focused on the social determinants of health is emphasized, as well as the need for the constant monitoring of indicators related to HPCSC, including the spending involved in these procedures.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- Campos RTO, Ferrer AL, Gama CAP, Campos GWS, Trapé TL, Dantas DV. Avaliação da qualidade do acesso na atenção primária de uma grande cidade brasileira na perspectiva dos usuários. Saúde Debate [Internet]. 2014 [acesso em 29 set. 2018];38(n. spe.):252-64. Disponível em: http://www.scielo. br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0103-11042014000600252&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=pt
- Rissardo LJ, Rego AS, Scolari GAS, Radovanovic CAT, Decesaro MN, Carreira L. Idosos atendidos em unidade de pronto-atendimento por condições sensíveis a Atenção Primaria a Saúde. Rev Min Enferm [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 29 set. 2018];20:e971 [7 p.]. Disponível em: http://www. dx.doi.org/10.5935/1415-2762.20160041
- Sousa NP, Rehem TCMSB, Santos WS, Santos CE. Internações sensíveis à atenção primária à saúde em hospital regional do Distrito Federal. Rev Bras Enferm [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 30 set. 2018];69(1):118-25. Disponível em: http://dx.doi. org/10.1590/0034-7167.2016690116i
- Souza LL, Costa JSD. Internações por condições sensíveis à atenção primária nas coordenadorias de saúde no RS. Rev Saúde Pública [Internet]. 2011 [acesso em 01 out 2018];45(4):765-72. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S0034-89102011000400017
- Marques AP. Análise das causas de internação de idosos segundo a classificação de Condições Sensíveis à Atenção Primária: estudo da evolução temporal no Estado do Rio de Janeiro [dissertação na Internet]. Rio de Janeiro: Fiocruz; 2012 [acesso em 01 out. 2018]. Disponível em: https://www.arca.fiocruz.br/ handle/icict/24600
- Marques AP, Montilla DER, Almeida WS, Andrade LTC. Internação de idosos por condições sensíveis à atenção primária à saúde. Rev Saúde Pública [Internet]. 2014 [acesso em 02 out 2018];48(5):817-26. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S0034-89102014000500817

- BRASIL. Portaria n. 221, de 17 de abril de 2008. Publica em forma do anexo a lista brasileira de internações por condições sensíveis à Atenção Primária. Diário Oficial da União. Brasília, DF. 21 set. 2008. Disponível em: http://bvsms.saude.gov.br/ bvs/saudelegis/sas/2008/prt0221_17_04_2008.html
- Oliveira ATRD. Envelhecimento populacional e políticas públicas: desafios para o Brasil no século XXI. Espaço Econ [Internet] 2016 [acesso em 2019 ago 01];4(8):2-21.
- Miranda GMD, Mendes ACG, Silva ALA. O envelhecimento populacional brasileiro: desafios e consequências sociais atuais e futuras. Rev Bras Geriatr Gerontol [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 02 out 2018];19(3):507-19. Disponível em: http://dx.doi. org/10.1590/1809-98232016019.150140
- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística. Coordenação de População e Indicadores Sociais. Síntese de indicadores sociais: uma análise das condições de vida da população brasileira: 2016. Rio de Janeiro: IBGE; 2016.
- Kernkamp CL, Costa CKF, Massuda EM, Silva ES, Yamaguchi MU, Bernuci MP. Perfil de morbidade e gastos hospitalares com idosos no Paraná, Brasil, entre 2008 e 2012. Cad Saúde Pública [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 05 out 2018];32(7):e00044115 [14 p.]. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/csp/ v32n7/1678-4464-csp-32-07-e00044115.pdf
- 12. Muraro CF, Gigante LP, Nedel FB, Carvalho TGML, Domenech SC, Gevaerd MS. Estratégia saúde da família e as internações por condições sensíveis a atenção primária nos idosos. Rev Baiana Saúde Pública [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 07 out. 2018];37(1):20-33. Disponível em: http://files.bvs.br/ upload/S/0100-0233/2013/v37n1/a3813.pdf
- Rede Interagencial de Informação para a Saúde. Indicadores básicos para a saúde no Brasil: conceitos e aplicações. 2. ed. Brasília, DF: Organização Pan-Americana da Saúde; 2008.

- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística. Brasil/ Rio Grande do Norte. Rio de Janeiro : IBGE; 2018 [acesso em 29 set. 2018]. Disponível em: https:// cidades.ibge.gov.br/brasil/rn/panorama
- 15. Natal. Secretaria de Estado da Saúde Pública. Plano Estadual de Saúde PAS 2016-2019 [Internet]. Natal: SESAP; 2016 [acesso em 29 set 2018]. Disponível em: http://adcon.rn.gov.br/ACERVO/sesap/DOC/ DOC000000000142450.PDF
- 16. Ferreira JBB, Borges MJG, Santos LL, Forster AC. Internações por condições sensíveis à atenção primária à saúde em uma região de saúde paulista, 2008 a 2010. Epidemiol Serv Saúde [Internet]. 2014 [acesso em 03 out 2018];23(1):45-56. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.5123/S1679-49742014000100005
- Paskulin LMG, Valer DB, Vianna LAC. Utilização e acesso de idosos a serviços de atenção básica em Porto Alegre (RS, Brasil). Ciênc Saúde Colet [Internet]. 2011 [acesso em 03 out. 2018];16(6):2935-44. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S1413-81232011000600031
- Martin GB, Cordoni Jr L, Bastos YGL, Silva PV. Assistência hospitalar à população idosa em cidade do sul do Brasil. Epidemiol Serv Saúde [Internet]. 2006 [acesso em 04 out. 2018];15(1):59-65. Disponível em: http://dx.doi.org/10.5123/S1679-49742006000100005
- Garbinato LR, Beria JU, Figueiredo AC, Raymann B, Gigante LP, Palazzo LS, et al. Prevalência de internação hospitalar e fatores associados: um estudo de base populacional em um centro urbano no Sul do Brasil. Cad Saúde Pública [Internet]. 2007 [acesso em 06 out 2018];23(1):217-24. Disponível em: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0102-311X2007000100023
- 20. Dourado I, Oliveira VB, Aquino R, Bonolo P, Lima-Costa MF, Medina MG, et al. Trends in primary health care-sensitive conditions in Brazil: the role of the Family Health Program (Project ICSAP-Brazil). Med Care [Internet]. 2011 [acesso em 12 out. 2018];49(6):577-84. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21430576
- 21. Cardoso CS, Pádua CM, Rodrigues Júnior AA, Guimarães DA, Carvalho SF, Valentin RF, et al. Contribuição das internações por condições sensíveis à atenção primária no perfil das admissões pelo sistema público de saúde. Rev Panam Salud Pública. 2013;34(4):227-34.
- 22. Probst GHS, Dynkoski MA, Busato MA. Internação por condições sensíveis à Atenção Primária em idosos de Santa Catarina: o caso da insuficiência cardíaca. In: 2º Congresso Brasileiro Interdisciplinar de Promoção da Saúde; 18 a 20 outubro 2016, Santa Cruz do Sul. Santa Cruz do Sul: Universidade de Santa Cruz do Sul; 2016.

- Souza DK, Peixoto SV. Estudo descritivo da evolução dos gastos com internações hospitalares por condições sensíveis à atenção primária no Brasil, 2000-2013. Epidemiol Serv Saúde [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 15 out 2018];26(2):285-94. Disponível em: http://www. scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S2237-96222017000200285&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=pt
- 24. Pereira FJR, Silva CC, Lima Neto AE. Perfil das internações por condições sensíveis à atenção primária subsidiando ações de saúde nas regiões brasileiras. Saúde Debate [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 18 out 2018];40(107):1008-17. Disponível em: http://www. scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0103-11042015000401008&lng=pt&tlng=pt
- Luciano TV, Dias JA. Internações por condições sensíveis a atenção primária em município da região Norte do Espírito Santo. Rev Bras Pesqui Saúde. 2016;17(3):23-32.
- 26. Junqueira RMP, Duarte EC. Internações hospitalares por causas sensíveis à atenção primária no Distrito Federal, 2008. Rev Saúde Pública [Internet]. 2012 [acesso em 20 out. 2018];46(5):761-8. Disponível em: http://www. scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0034-89102012000500001&lng=pt&tlng=pt
- Victora CG, Barros FC, Tomasi E, Ferreira FS, MacAuliffe J, Silva AC, et al. A saúde das crianças dos estados do Ceará, Rio Grande do Norte e Sergipe, Brasil: descrição de uma metodologia para diagnósticos comunitários. Rev Saude Publica [Internet]. 1991 [acesso em 02 ago. 2019];25(3):218-25. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/ scielo.php?script=sci_abstract&pid=S0034-89101991000300009&lng=pt&nrm=iso&tlng=en
- 28. Dornelas Neto J, Nakamura AS, Cortez LER, Yamaguchi MU. Doenças sexualmente transmissíveis em idosos: uma revisão sistemática. Ciênc Saúde Colet [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 22 out. 2018];20(12):3853-64. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S1413-81232015001203853
- Pereira FJR, Silva CC, Lima Neto AE. Condições Sensíveis à Atenção Primária: uma revisão descritiva dos resultados da produção acadêmica brasileira. Saúde Debate [Internet]. 2014 [acesso em 24 out. 2018];38(n.spe):331-42. Disponível em: http://www. scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0103-11042014000600331&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=pt
- 30. Amorim DNP, Chiarello MD, Vianna LG, Moraes CF, Vilaça KHC. Internações por Condições Sensíveis à Atenção Primária de Idosos no Brasil, 2003 a 2012. Rev Enferm UFPE on line [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 29 out. 2018];11(2):576-83. Disponível em: file:///C:/ Users/Cliente/Downloads/11976-28968-1-PB.pdf

- 31. Malta DC, Santos MAS, Stopa SR, Vieira JEB, Melo EA, Reis AAC. A Cobertura da Estratégia de Saúde da Família (ESF) no Brasil, segundo a Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde, 2013. Ciênc Saúde Colet [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 29 out. 2018];21(2):327-38. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S1413-81232016000200327
- 32. Alfradique ME, Bonolo PF, Dourado I, Lima-Costa MF, Macinko J, Mendonça CS, et al. Internações por condições sensíveis à atenção primária: a construção da lista brasileira como ferramenta para medir o desempenho do sistema de saúde (Projeto ICSAP -Brasil). Cad Saúde Pública. 2009;25(6):1337-49.





Sociodemographic profile of elderly persons with the human immunodeficiency virus in a state in the northeast of Brazil



Abstract

Objective: To describe the sociodemographic profile of elderly persons with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in the state of Alagoas, Brazil. *Method*: An ecological study with a descriptive and quantitative approach was carried out. Data was used from elderly patients with HIV reported in the Notification Disease Information System (or SINAN), from 2012 to 2016. *Results*: A total of 41 cases of HIV, with a continuous progression of cases, predominantly male, with self-described brown skin, low education and reported heterosexual sexual orientation. *Conclusion*: It was found that it is necessary to demystify that only sex workers, drug users and homosexual men are vulnerable to the virus and that the elderly are not susceptible to HIV. In this scenario it is essential that the elderly are inserted in environments that approach the theme openly, free of prejudice, essentially starting from the recognition of sexuality, providing greater security and quality of life.

Keywords: HIV. Health of the Elderly. Epidemiology. Public Health Nursing.

¹ Faculdade Estácio de Alagoas, Programa de Graduação em Enfermagem. Maceió, AL, Brasil.

² Universidade Federal de Alagoas, Faculdade de Medicina, Programa de Pós-graduação em Ensino na Saúde. Maceió, AL, Brasil.

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to this study. No funding was provided for this study.

INTRODUCTION

Aging and longevity are topics of global concern, the concepts or notions of which focus on similar problems throughout the world. Progressive and expressive aging has resulted in the worsening of social and economic inequalities in Brazil. Until the early 1960s the country was considered a nation of young people, but this perspective has changed, and there are currently concerns regarding the elaboration of public policies aimed at the aging population, in order to ensure the comprehensive health care of this group. In this context, debates include themes related to the sex life of such individuals, making the adoption and implementation of protection policies a challenge¹⁻³.

Drugs that inhibit sexual impotence and favor hormone replacement make older people more sexually active. This is a worrying factor however, as it can make this population more susceptible to sexually transmitted infections (STIs), including the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). It is noteworthy that, in the cultural context, the idea that the elderly are not vulnerable to sexual diseases is embellished, as these are diseases that belong to other specific groups, and the use of preventive methods is therefore not required^{4,5}.

Individuals with HIV may progress to Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS), where their immune system is constantly attacked. In this case, individuals with AIDS present signs and symptoms of the disease characterized by the externalization of opportunistic diseases⁶.

One way to slow the chain of virus transmission is by detecting infected (seropositive) people, for which purpose rapid tests (RTs) have been developed. The methodology of such tests allows the detection of antibodies in less than 30 minutes, and they boast low operating costs, are highly sensitive, specific, and simple to apply and interpret⁷. Rapid tests are recommended for the population treated in health services, such as pregnant women; parturients; patients with STI or suspected cases; people diagnosed with active or latent infection tuberculosis (LITB); the prison population; indigenous populations; patients in emergency services (urgency and emergency); homeless populations; drug users; persons at risk of sexual exposure or sexual violence; health professionals accidentally exposed to potentially contaminated biological materials, and source patients⁸.

Even following the creation of public policies such as Ministry of Health Ordinance No. 236 dated May 1985, which established the first guidelines for the AIDS Program, as well as resources available to combat HIV, such as the distribution of drugs to already diagnosed individuals, early detection of the disease through RT, and the provision of condoms; in relation to the health of the elderly, the theme of HIV infection is considered taboo or something outside their life context. For some older people, HIV is still a disease of homosexuals, and unrelated to behavioral risk factors such as having sex without a condom⁹.

Thus, in the context of aging-related sexuality, there is a progressive increase in the number of cases of STIs in the elderly, especially HIV, justifying the need to identify the sociodemographic profile of such individuals. This information can support the development of health promotion actions, assisting in orientation and information about the disease and its treatments, enabling better therapeutic acceptability, increased quality of life, and combatting the virus transmission chain¹⁰.

Based on this profile, health professionals should look at the sexual aspects that permeate the life of the elderly, making such actions a routine and permanent feature in services that assist this population, considering each meeting as an opportunity to intervene and act in health promotion, considering aspects of sexuality fundamental to the practice of integral care.

Given the above, the present study aimed to describe the sociodemographic profile of elderly persons with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) in the state of Alagoas, Brazil.

METHOD

An ecological study with a descriptive and quantitative approach was performed. It is ecological

in nature as the 102 municipal regions of the state of Alagoas, Brazil, which are operationalized through the actions of the State Program for the Control of STIs/AIDS of the Disease Information Notification System (or SINAN), were used as units of analysis.

The use of the quantitative method foresees the adoption of a systematic and objective strategy, employing the measurement of pre-established variables, and also enables the use of mechanisms to control the research situation in order to reduce biases and enhance accuracy and validity¹¹.

The inclusion criteria were data from elderly patients with HIV included in SINAN between 2012 and 2016, and the census sample. This system is available throughout the healthcare network and in all spheres of governance of the Brazilian health sector, within the epidemiological surveillance services, where professionals use the standard forms of the Ministry of Health to provide notification of the incidence of certain diseases. The inclusion of this form in the referred system may be able to produce analyzes and measures of intervention and control.

In order to elaborate the sociodemographic profile, the dependent variable was the number of elderly persons with HIV in Alagoas by age group (60-69; 70-79; 80 years old and over), and the independent variables were: gender, education (illiterate, 1st to 4th grade incomplete elementary school, complete 4th grade of elementary school, complete elementary school, complete high school, complete higher education, ignored), skin color/ ethnicity (white, black, yellow (Asian-Brazilian), brown, ignored) and sexual orientation (homosexual, bisexual, heterosexual, ignored). Descriptive statistics were applied for data analysis, with tabulation in a spreadsheet. The data were presented in table form, with notification of frequency and percentage.

The study began following authorization from the management of the State STI/AIDS program of the Alagoas State Health Department (or SESAU) to access the SESAU-AL SINAN databases. According to Resolution No. 510/2016 of the National Health Council, as this is a public domain system and not subject to the identification of subjects, submission to the Research Ethics Committee, as well as the need for a Free and Informed Consent Form, were waived.

RESULTS

During the analyzed period, 41 cases of HIV were registered, with a continuous increasing progression, as shown in Table 1.

Of this total, 7.3% were white; 19.5% were black; 2.4% yellow or Asian-Brazilian; 61.0% were mixed race and 9.8% did not respond to the question of skin color/ethnicity (Table 2).

Table 3 shows the percentage of individuals with HIV who reported their sexual orientation; in which 51.2% said they were heterosexual, 4.9% homosexual, 4.9% bisexual and 39.0% ignored the question.

It was observed that, according to level of education, there was a predominance of those who are illiterate or who did not report their education, with 29.3% of the population being illiterate and 34.1% ignoring the question (Table 4), representing underreporting.

Year of Diagnosis	Male	Female	n
2012	1	0	1
2013	2	1	3
2014	6	2	8
2015	10	1	11
2016	11	7	18
Total	30	11	41
F (%)	73.2	26.8	100

Table 1. Percentage of HIV in elderly persons, per year, in the state of Alagoas, 2012 to 2016.

Source: SINAN, 2017.

Table 2. Percentage of HIV in the elderly in relation to skin color/ethnicity in the state of Alagoas, 2012 to 2016.

Year of diagnosis	White	Black	Yellow	Brown	Ignored	n
2012	0	1	0	0	0	1
2013	1	1	0	1	0	3
2014	0	2	0	4	2	8
2015	1	2	0	7	1	11
2016	1	2	1	13	1	18
Total	3	8	1	25	4	41
F (%)	7.3	19.5	2.4	61.0	9.8	100

Source: SINAN, 2017.

Table 3. Percentage of HIV in the elderly	y in relation to sexual orientation in the state of Alagoas, 2012 to 2016.
-------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------

Sexual orientation	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	F (%)
Ignored	0	1	3	6	6	16 (39.0)
Homosexual	1	0	1	0	0	2 (4.9)
Bisexual	0	0	1	0	1	2 (4.9)
Heterosexual	0	2	3	5	11	21 (51.2)
Total	1	3	8	11	18	41 (100.0)

Source: SINAN, 2017.

Table 4. Percentage of HTV in the elderly and educational level in the state of Alagoas, 2012 to 2010.	Table 4. Pet	ercentage of HIV	in the elderly and	educational lev	vel in the state of A	lagoas, 2012 to 2016.
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--------------	------------------	--------------------	-----------------	-----------------------	-----------------------

Schooling	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	F (%)
Ignored	0	1	2	5	6	14 (34.1)
Illiterate	0	1	3	3	5	12 (29.3)
1st to 4th grade of elementary school incomplete	0	1	2	0	4	7 (17.1)
4th grade of elementary school complete	0	0	1	2	1	4 (9.8)
Complete primary education	0	0	0	0	1	1 (2.4)
Complete high school education	0	0	0	0	1	1 (2.4)
Complete higher education	1	0	0	1	0	2 (4.9)
Total	1	3	8	11	18	41 (100.0)

Source: SINAN. 2017.

DISCUSSION

Any reflection on HIV and its relationship with the elderly population involves the articulation between sexuality in such individuals and the cultural, social and economic aspects of this population segment. It is noted that the majority of records on the information system are male, which is consistent with research that assessed the incidence of elderly people with HIV, where men represented 53.8% of the total number of patients¹².

This reality can be attributed to the difficulty men experience when negotiating preventive measures, which is an expression of hegemonic masculinity in the domain of sexuality. In keeping with dominance in this field is the requirement for multiple sexual partnerships, the perception of invulnerability to HIV and other STIs, affirming oneself to be heterosexual and the excessive consumption of alcohol and illicit drugs. Such situations are likely to enhance susceptibility, leaving men with higher rates of HIV infection¹³.

Cultural issues also seem to affect this reality, as they accompany the sense of a restricted or mistakenly unnecessary requirement for health professionals to investigate sexually transmitted diseases due to the concept of asexuality in the elderly. However, studies point to an increase in the sexual activity of this group, stating that of 22 men in a studied population, 16 (72.8%) said that they were sexually active and admitted that they had never used condoms^{14,15}. Given this scenario it is necessary to demystify the belief that only people belonging to the risk group (sex workers, drug users and homosexual men) are vulnerable to the virus^{15,16}.

The view that the elderly are not susceptible to the transmission of the virus should be reassessed and effective measures to prevent and break the chain of virus transmission should be developed. In the primary care setting, policies aimed at the elderly are considered, including health indicators for this population, and aspects such as functional capacity, participation and self-satisfaction should be priorities of care, with incentives for activities that promote autonomy and pleasure, including in relation to sexuality¹⁶. The study also pointed to a growing process of feminization of infection by the virus over the years, with a progression from one case in 2013 to seven in 2016. This makes it clear that the inequality of power between the sexes and lesser female anonymity in sexual and reproductive decisions, including sexual initiation under pressure, unsafe sex, abuse and sexual exploitation, may be triggering factors of the current epidemiological trait¹⁷.

From the female perspective, there is a fear of losing the male provider, especially when doubts are raised about a partner's infidelity, and in such cases, the woman often gives in to the male imposition of having sex without a condom. In addition, studies indicate that most of this population is still uninformed about STIs and their prevention, which contributes to the significant increase in the spread of HIV among the elderly^{17,18}.

Regarding self-affirmed skin color/ethnicity, the study showed that most elderly persons considered themselves black or brown-skinned (19.5% and 61.0%, respectively) (Table 2). The race variable was introduced in SINAN in 2001 and is currently seen as a determinant of health inequalities in Brazil. Recent survey data show that the HIV epidemic is growing rapidly among the black and brown-skinned population¹⁹.

Literature dealing with HIV/AIDS describes a mortality rate in Brazil based on skin color/ ethnicity in the year 2000 of 10.61/100,000 for white women and 21.49/100,000 for black women, and 22.77/100,000 for white men and 41.75/100,000 for black men. These data reflect the same skin color/ ethnic disparity as the present study¹⁹.

The black population carries traces of the social marginalization that permeates Brazilian society and actions addressing this population are therefore required. Black Brazilians carry a racial stigma that can affect the treatment aimed at this group, influencing access and opportunities, creating and/or enhancing vulnerabilities by imposing barriers to access to rights or the neglecting of needs of all kinds²⁰.

The guiding questions of health have long had a serious impact on the black population. The absence,

until now, of a racial and ethnic background category in official statistics on the HIV/AIDS epidemic makes it difficult to identify the expansion of the epidemic in this population segment. However, if the idea of vulnerability is understood as an impossibility of exercising citizenship, it can be said that black people are those who most face problems of access to services at all levels, as this perspective exhibits the social and cultural characteristics that make them more vulnerable²¹.

Regarding the sexual orientation of elderly persons with HIV, the present study found a prevalence of heterosexual elderly persons (Table 3). Confirmation of these data breaks some paradigms, among them, the belief that homosexual individuals make up the majority of the infected population²².

Research carried out at a public hospital for infectious and toxicological diseases in the state capital of Rio Grande do Norte traced the profile of people infected with HIV. It was found that of 331 people, a total of 258, or 78%, considered themselves heterosexuals, confirming a tendency that HIV is not related to sexual orientation, but to the behavior of risk²².

HIV/AIDS and homosexuality have experienced a conflicting relationship throughout history, since same-sex sexual orientation (male) appeared to reflect on a health situation. Social, cultural, economic, religious and legal transformations has increased the visibility of different identities, such as gay, lesbian, transgender and transvestite. These changes have made the male role the subject of social debate and it can be stated, at this point, that human sexuality and behaviors related to this issue will influence the health-disease process²³.

Historical data has shown a rise in the proportion of cases of transmission in heterosexuals from the early 21st century onwards, when the third decade of the HIV epidemic began. Also at this time, there was greater contamination among lesbian women, with clinical aspects revealing that women who have sex with other women can contract HIV through contact with menstrual blood, vaginal secretions and the use of sex toys²⁴. Vulnerability to HIV infection among homosexual women occurs through biological, social, economic, cultural, gender factors and society's consent to violence against women. Another issue is that part of the population believes in the monogamy of their partners, with this conception having a certain repercussion in their serological state²⁵.

Regarding the educational level of the infected elderly persons in the present study, 29.3% were classified as illiterate (Table 4), highlighting the significance of this factor. Schooling is an effective indicator of the socioeconomic status of an individual and its impact on health. Thus, the lower the educational level of the elderly, the lower their access to information and, consequently, the more vulnerable they will be to HIV/AIDS¹².

In a recent study on the prevalence of HIV in the population at a Health Center in the city of Rio das Ostras, in the state of Rio de Janeiro, the data agreed with the present study, as it showed that 40.9% of the population investigated had a low educational level²⁶.

Related to this issue is the difficulty that health professionals may experience when providing health education in health, meaning that information pertinent to the form of contagion and prevention measures fails to reach these individuals in a precise manner. Health education is an important tool in health promotion, which requires a combination of educational and environmental support and individual skills that aim to promote the actions and conditions necessary for such promotion²⁷.

All health professionals provide health education, but nurses have a fundamental role in this scenario, as they act in the health care of the elderly population, and during nursing consultations should go through all aspects related to this age group, including care regarding HIV prevention²⁸.

Specific campaigns addressing the issue of HIV are needed, as well as a routine aimed at consulting health professionals for the population aged 60 and over. These moments are conducive to HIV counseling and RTs, favoring early diagnosis and effective primary prevention⁴.

Possible limitations of the present study are the lack of data on the elderly population in the state, the limited reliability of the situational diagnosis of the disease in this population, and the inability to associate exposure and disease at the individual level. Given this, there is a need to make municipal regions, Basic Health Units and Family Health Units provide notifications of new cases of HIV/AIDS in this population, resulting in a more cohesive promotion of strategies to combat transmission, evolution and mortality.

CONCLUSION

The present study identified that the male gender predominates among elderly people with the HIV virus in the state of Alagoas, who define themselves as brown-skinned and have a low level of education. It is necessary to demystify the belief that only people in the risk group are vulnerable to the virus and that the elderly are not susceptible to HIV.

More investments in health agencies, their professionals and health education practices are

therefore suggested. In this scenario, the elderly should be inserted in environments that approach the theme openly, free of prejudice, essentially starting from the recognition of sexuality, providing greater security and quality of life to citizens.

Large-scale educational campaigns can achieve significant results in all sectors of society, portraying the disease as something real, which can potentially be prevented and for which possibilities of care exist, with the responsibility for the health of the population viewed as an individual attitude. This can reduce the connivance of all with the invisible perception of risk and danger of virus contamination.

In this context, it is hoped that the results of the present study may stimulate reflections that encourage changes in health care in all sectors, whether public or private, with the increased awareness and actions of multiprofessional teams in adapting care to the surveillance model of health care, optimizing support, bonding and communication for and with the elderly population and aspects of their sexuality.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- Zanon RR, Moretto AC, Rodrigues RL. Envelhecimento populacional e mudanças no padrão de consumo e na estrutura produtiva brasileira. Rev Bras Estud Popul. 2013;30(supl):45-67.
- Nascimento EKS, Albuquerque LPA, Marinelli NP, Campelo MNAA, Santos FJL. História de vida de idosos com HIV/Aids. Rev Enferm UFPE [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 17 jan. 2017];11(4):1716-24. Disponível em: https://periodicos.ufpe.br/revistas/ revistaenfermagem/article/view/15243/18023
- Burigo GF, Fachini IH, Garett B, Streicher CCI, Rosa RS. Sexualidade e comportamento de idosos vulneráveis a doenças sexualmente transmissíveis. CuidArte Enferm. 2015;9(2):148-53.
- 4. Silva MM, Vasconcelos ALR, Ribeiro LKNP. Caracterização epidemiológica dos casos de Aids em pessoas com 60 anos ou mais, Pernambuco, Brasil, 1998 a 2008. Cad Saúde Pública [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 25 set. 2017];29(10):2131-5. Disponível em: http://www. scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0102-311X2013001000028&lng=en&nrm=iso

- Bezerra VP, Serra MAP, Cabral IPP, Moreira MASP, Almeida AS, Patrício ACFA. Práticas preventivas de idosos e a vulnerabilidade ao HIV. Rev Gaúch Enferm. 2015;36(4):70-6.
- 6. Brasil. Ministério da Saúde, Secretaria de Vigilância em Saúde, departamento de DST, Aids e hepatites virais. Guia de Consulta Rápida, Protocolo Clínico e Diretrizes Terapêuticas para Manejo da Infecção pelo HIV em Adultos [Internet]. Brasília, DF: MS; 2013 [acesso em 28 maio 2018]. Disponível em: http:// www.aids.gov.br/pt-br/pub/2013/protocolo-clinicoe-diretrizes-terapeuticas-para-manejo-da-infeccaopelo-hiv-em-adultos
- Affeldt AB, Silveira MF, Barcelos RS. Perfil de pessoas idosas vivendo com HIV/aids em Pelotas, sul do Brasil, 1998 a 2013. Epidemiol Serv Saúde [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 12 maio 2015];24(1):79-86. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/ress/ v24n1/2237-9622-ress-24-01-00079.pdf

- Brasil. Ministério da Saúde, Secretaria de Vigilância em Saúde, departamento de DST, Aids e hepatites virais. Manual técnico para o diagnóstico da infecção pelo HIV na atenção básica [Internet]. 3ª ed. Brasília, DF: MS; 2016 [acesso em 13 jan. 2018]. Disponível em: http://www.aids.gov.br/pt-br/node/57787
- Araldi LM, Pelzer MT, Abreu DPG, Saioron I, Santos SSC, Ilha S. Pessoas idosas com o vírus da imunodeficiência humana: infecção, diagnóstico convivência. Rev Min Enferm [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 15 out. 2017]; 20(948):1-8. Disponível em: http:// www.reme.org.br/artigo/detalhes/1081
- Cerqueira MBR, Rodrigues RN. Fatores associados à vulnerabilidade de idosos vivendo com HIV/Aids em Belo Horizonte (MG), Brasil. Ciênc Saúde Colet [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 12 jan. 2018];21(11):3331-8. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/csc/ v21n11/1413-8123-csc-21-11-3331.pdf
- Araújo APS, Bertolini SMMG, Bertolini DA. Perfil epidemiológico e imunológico de idosos infectados pelo vírus da imunodeficiência humana. Estud Interdiscip Envelhec [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 12 maio 2017];20(1):121-138. Disponível em: http:// www.seer.ufrgs.br/index.php/RevEnvelhecer/article/ view/45225/34925
- Quadros KN, Campos CR, Soares TE, Silva FMR. Perfil epidemiológico de idosos portadores de HIV/ Aids atendidos no serviço de assistência especializada. Rev Enferm Cent.- Oeste Min. 2016;6(2):2140-6.
- Leal AF, Knauth DR, Couto MT. A invisibilidade da heterossexualidade na prevenção do HIV/Aids entre homens. Rev Bras Epidemiol [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 30 maio 2018];18(1):143-55. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S1415-790X2015000500143&lng=en& nrm=iso
- 14. Alencar RA, Ciosak SI. O diagnóstico tardio e as vulnerabilidades dos idosos vivendo com HIV/ Aids. Rev Esc Enferm USP [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 12 maio 2015];49(2):229-35. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S0080-62342015000200229&lng=en& nrm=iso
- Araújo BJ, Sales CO, Cruz LFS, Moraes Filho IM, Santos OP. Quality of life and sexuality in the population of the third age of a center of convivence. REVISA. 2017;6(2):85-94.
- Brito MNI, Andrade SSC, Silva FMC, Fernandes MRCC, Brito KKG, Oliveira SHS. Idosos, infecções sexualmente transmissíveis e Aids: conhecimentos e percepção de risco. ABCS Health Sci. 2016;41(3):140-5.

- Santos NJS. Mulher e negra: dupla vulnerabilidade às DST/HIV/Aids. Saúde Soc [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 30 jan. 2018];25(3):602-18. Disponível em: http://www. scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-12902016000300602&lng=en&nrm=iso
- Jesus DS, Fernandes FP, Coelho ACL, Simões NL, Campos PRC, Ribeiro VC, et al. Nível de conhecimento sobre DST's e a influência da sexualidade na vida integral da mulher idosa. Rev Foco [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 13 jul. 2019];1(25):33-45. Disponível em: http://revistaemfoco.iespes.edu.br/ index.php/Foco/article/view/96/59
- Fry PH, Monteiro S, Maio MC, Bastos FI, Santos RV. AIDS tem cor ou raça? Interpretação de dados e formulação de políticas de saúde no Brasil. Cad Saúde Pública. 2007;23(3):2497-523.
- 20. Gomes ICR, Damasceno RO, Nery AA, Martins Filho IE, Vilela ABA. Implementação da política nacional de atenção integral à saúde da população negra na Bahia. Rev Baiana Enferm [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 13 jan. 2018];31(2):1-12. Disponível em: https://portalseer.ufba.br/index.php/enfermagem/ article/view/21500/14607
- Rios LF, Oliveira C, Garcia J, Parker R. Axé, práticas corporais e Aids nas religiões africanistas do Recife, Brasil. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2013;18(12)3653-62.
- 22. Silva RAR, Silva RTS, Nascimento EGC, Gonçalves OP, Reis MM, Silva BCO. Perfil clínicoepidemiológico de adultos hiv-positivo atendidos em um hospital de Natal/RN. Rev Pesqui Cuid Fundam [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 28 maio 2018];8(3):4689-96. Disponível em: http://www.seer.unirio.br/index. php/cuidadofundamental/article/view/4294/pdf
- 23. Santos RC, Schor N. As primeiras respostas à epidemia de Aids no Brasil: influências dos conceitos de gênero, masculinidade e dos movimentos sociais. Psicol Rev [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 05 mar. 2018];24(1):45-59. Disponível em: https://revistas.pucsp.br/index.php/ psicorevista/article/view/24228/17438
- 24. Antunes MC, Paiva VSF. Territórios do desejo e vulnerabilidade ao HIV entre homens que fazem sexo com homens: desafios para a prevenção. Temas Psicol [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 30 maio 2018];21(3):1125-43. Disponível em: http://pepsic.bvsalud.org/scielo. php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1413-389X2013000300 019&lng=pt&nrm=iso
- 25. Cabral LS, Torres RAM, Silva LMS, Rodrigues ARM, Viana AB, Almeida PC. Homossexualidades femininas no contexto dos sistemas de informação de saúde. Rev Enferm UFPE [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 17 fev. 2018];11(4):1699-1707. Disponível em: https:// periodicos.ufpe.br/revistas/revistaenfermagem/ article/download/15267/18069

- 26. Dantas CC, Dantas FC, Monteiro BAC, Leite JL. Perfil epidemiológico dos pacientes com HIV atendidos em um Centro de Saúde da região litorânea do estado de Rio de Janeiro, Brasil, 2010-2011. Arq Catarin Med. 2017;46(1):22-32.
- Salci MA, Maceno P, Rozza SG, Silva DMGV, Boehs AE, Heidemann ITSB. Educação em saúde e suas perspectivas teóricas: algumas reflexões. Texto & Contexto Enferm. 2013;22(1):224-30.
- Bittencourt GKGD, Moreira MASP, Meira LCS, Nóbrega MML, Nogueira JA, Silva AO. Concepções de idosos sobre vulnerabilidade ao HIV/Aids para construção de diagnósticos de enfermagem. Rev Bras Enferm. 2015;68(4):579-85.





Health education as a strategy for the promotion of the health of the elderly: an integrative review



- Samyra Paula Lustoza Xavier² 👳
- Yana Paula Coêlho Correia Sampaio³ 回
 - Mirna Fontenele de Oliveira⁴ 👳
 - Glauberto da Silva Quirino⁵ 回
- Maria de Fátima Antero Sousa Machado⁵ 回

Abstract

Objective: To identify the key issues and health education strategies for the health promotion for the elderly. *Method*: An integrative literature review was conducted during the months of March and April 2018, by means of the Virtual Health Library, in the Medical Literature Analysis and Retrieval System Online, Latin American Literature in Health Sciences and the Scientific Electronic Library Online databases. After the search process and the selection of publications, the final sample consisted of 24 articles. *Results*: A total of 16 Brazilian articles, the majority of which were carried out in the southeast and south of the country, were identified, in which the most frequently expressed themes for the health education of the elderly were healthy eating and physical exercise practices. *Conclusion:* The actions of education in health were focused on healthy eating and physical activity, carried out by means of group workshops, seminars and/or lectures, performed, in the majority, by nurses and community health agents who were part of family health teams.

Keywords: Health Promotion. Health Education. Health of the Elderly.

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to this study. No funding was provided for this study.

Correspondence Cícera Amanda Mota Seabra amandaseabra@gmail.com

Received: February 08, 2019 Approved: August 09, 2019

¹ Universidade Regional do Cariri (URCA), Rede Nordeste de Formação em Saúde da Família (RENASF), Programa de Pós-graduação em Saúde da Família. Crato, CE, Brasil.

² Universidade Regional do Cariri (URCA), Departamento de Enfermagem. Iguatu, CE, Brasil.

³ Faculdade de Medicina Estácio de Juazeiro do Norte, Eixo Saúde da Família. Juazeiro do Norte, CE, Brasil.

⁴ Universidade Federal do Cariri (UFCA), Coordenadoria de Qualidade de Vida no Trabalho/Pro-Reitoria de Gestão de Pessoas. Juazeiro do Norte, CE, Brasil.

⁵ Universidade Regional do Cariri (URCA), Departamento de Enfermagem. Crato, CE, Brasil.

INTRODUCTION

Health education is understood as an educational process of knowledge construction, aimed at the appropriation of the theme by the population¹. It refers to a set of practices that contribute to the increase of the individual and collective autonomy of people and the debate with health professionals and managers in order to achieve health care based on the needs of individuals and communities, improving the quality of life and health of the population^{2,3}.

As an emancipatory pedagogical process, health education favors the development of intellectual autonomy, becoming an imperative tool to promote the improvement of the quality of life and health of the elderly^{4,5}.

Primary Health Care (PHC), of which the main care scenario is the Family Health Strategy (FHS), is a privileged locus of educational practices in health, and as the integrated work of the team of health professionals, favors and mobilizes efforts to contribute to the maintenance of individual and collective health⁶, which can favor critical and transformative awareness, allowing the exercise of citizenship and effecting personal and social changes.

Therefore, primary care health professionals have the important role of promoting health education programs and activities, aimed at the quality of life of individuals and families, and these actions should be integrated into care⁷. To achieve this, such actions should be planned and directed at the appropriate target population, articulated by a multiprofessional team and executed on a permanent basis, considering what the subjects need and want to know to promote their health⁸.

The theme in question is highlighted in the research priorities agenda of the Ministry of Health medical opinion report for the year 2018, since it encourages the evaluation of the implementation of health education strategies in the Unified Health System (or SUS); the surveying of innovative, participatory and resolutive methodologies of health education with the elderly; and the assessment of the impact of health education practices with elderly persons in primary care⁹.

The importance of the theme is therefore clear, both in terms of the performance of care practices and in a research setting; while it is believed that promoting health education actions with the elderly, with their participation and that of their families and the community, is an effective method for promoting the health and quality of life of this population. Thus, it is necessary to broaden knowledge about this theme.

From this perspective, the present study aimed to identify the main themes and strategies of health education for the promotion of the health of the elderly.

METHOD

An integrative literature review was performed. To construct the study, six fundamental steps were followed: identification of the theme and selection of the research question; establishment of inclusion and exclusion criteria for studies; categorization of studies; evaluation of studies; interpretation of results and synthesis of knowledge¹⁰.

To conduct the research, the following guiding question was elaborated: *What are the main strategies used and the themes approached in health education actions, with a view to health promotion aimed at the elderly population?*

From the guiding question, in order to facilitate the definition of the descriptors, we used the PVO strategy (Population, Variable of interest and Outcome), which defined the study population as "the elderly", the variable of interest as "health education" and the outcome as "health promotion".

The searches were performed between March and April 2018 by two independent evaluators, through the Virtual Health Library, in the Medical Literature Analyzes and Retrieval System Online (MEDLINE), Latin American and Caribbean Saúde (LILACS) and the Scientific Electronic Library Online (SciELO) databases. These choices were justified by their scientific scope in relation to research in the field of health promotion.

For the searches, the following controlled descriptors were selected: "Health of the Elderly",

"Health Education" and "Health Promotion", which were crossed with the help of the Boolean operator AND, using the advanced search method from categorization by title, abstract and subject.

The following inclusion criteria were chosen: studies whose theme was related to health education with the elderly in article format and available for download, in English, Portuguese and Spanish, with a year of publication between 2013 and 2017. This time frame was chosen because Decree No. 8.114, which deals with the National Commitment to Active Aging¹¹, which includes health education actions, was published in 2013. The following exclusion criteria were selected: studies in the form of dissertations, theses, reflection and literature review articles, documentaries, essays and/or reviews.

The database search revealed 35,211 studies, of which, 2,439 articles were found in LILACS, 32,157 in MEDLINE and 615 in SciELO.

Following the application of the filters, the next step was to select the papers from the reading of titles and abstracts, from which those that did not explicitly fit the scope of this research were excluded. A total of 64 potentially eligible articles were identified were then read in full. At this stage, three repeated articles were excluded, as well as 12 articles which were not suitable for the theme; three literature reviews; three reflection articles and 19 articles that were not available for download, resulting in a total of 24 studies included in the final sample.

The evaluation stage of the studies allowed us to identify that according to the evidence pyramid¹² two studies were classified as being of the second level, or clinical trials; one was third level, which was a cohort study; one was the fourth level, a casecontrol study; five were level five, characterized as quasi-experimental studies, and 15 had a scientific evidence level of six, which represent descriptive studies.

For data extraction, a form was developed containing bibliometric data about the articles studied, summarized in Chart 1, as well as information regarding the pedagogical strategies used, the professionals involved and the results obtained in health education, which are presented descriptively in the following sections.

RESULTS

Considering the variables selected for the presentation of the articles, Chart 1 summarizes the following studied aspects: authors, year, place, type of study, sample and study objectives.

Mendonça et al.132013, Viçosa, Minas Gerais, BrazilExperience report/ 20 elderly personsReport a working experience with the elderly and support a critical-theoretical reflection on the practice of educational workshops as a health education strategi in the light of Freire's thinking, based on the use of participatory methodologies.Nogueira et al.142013, Goiânia, Goias, BrazilQualitative research/23 elderly persons and six community health agentsTo identify therapeutic factors present in the health promotion group of elderly persons.	Authors	Year and Location	Type of Study and Sample	Objectives of Study
Nogueira et al.142013, Goiânia, BrazilQualitative research/23 elderly persons and six community health agentsTo identify therapeutic factors present in the health promotion group of elderly persons.2013, Goiânia, 	Mendonça et al. ¹³	2013, Viçosa, Minas Gerais, Brazil	Experience report/ 20 elderly persons	Report a working experience with the elderly and support a critical-theoretical reflection on the practice of educational workshops as a health education strategy, in the light of Freire's thinking, based on the use of participatory methodologies.
Conduct a multifaceted assessment of a social market	Nogueira et al. ¹⁴	2013, Goiânia, Goias, Brazil	Qualitative research/23 elderly persons and six community health agents	To identify therapeutic factors present in the health promotion group of elderly persons.
Evers et al.152013, AustraliaCohort//10 elderly personscampaign to raise asthma awareness among elderly persons in a regional Australian community.	Evers et al. ¹⁵	2013, Australia	Cohort/710 elderly persons	Conduct a multifaceted assessment of a social marketing campaign to raise asthma awareness among elderly persons in a regional Australian community.
Bhurosy and Jeewon162013, Mauritius, East AfricaExperimental model/80 people aged 40 or overTo evaluate the effectiveness of a theory-based educational intervention to improve calcium intake, su efficacy, and knowledge of older Mauritians.	Bhurosy and Jeewon ¹⁶	2013, Mauritius, East Africa	Experimental model/80 people aged 40 or over	To evaluate the effectiveness of a theory-based educational intervention to improve calcium intake, self- efficacy, and knowledge of older Mauritians.

Chart 1. Description of selected articles by authors, year and location, type of study, sample and study objectives.

3 of 11

Rev. Bras. Geriatr. Gerontol. 2019;22(4):e190022

Continuation of Chart 1

Authors	Year and Location	Type of Study and Sample	Objectives of Study
Chung and Chung ¹⁷	2014, Hong Kong	Experimental study/60 elderly persons	Evaluate a three-week program that includes culinary demonstrations with free food samples to motivate older adults to cook more and improve their nutritional status.
Ferreti et al. ¹⁸	2014 Chapecó, Santa Catarina, Brazil	Qualitative research/ seven elderly persons	To verify the impact of a health education program on the knowledge of elderly persons about cardiovascular diseases.
Janini et al. ¹⁹	2015 Rio de Janeiro, Brazil	Qualitative research/83 elderly persons	To analyze the impact of health promotion and education actions in the search for quality of life, autonomy and self-care of the elderly.
Sink et al. ²⁰	2015, USA	Randomized clinical study/ 1,635 participants	Determine whether a 24-month physical activity program results in better cognitive function, lower risk of mild cognitive impairment (MCI) or dementia, or both, compared to a health education program.
Machado et al. ²¹	2015, Minas Gerais, Brazil	Convergence research/21 elderly persons and nine health professionals	Describe the stages of the empowerment process of an elderly group in a rural community.
Almeida et al. ²²	2015, Viçosa, Minas Gerais, Brazil	Intervention study/82 participants	Analyze possible changes that have occurred in anthropometric measurements and levels of functional physical fitness of elderly persons participating in a community intervention project.
Caprara, et al. ²³	2015, Madrid, Spain	Quantitative study/73 participants	Testify to the effectiveness of Vital Aging-Multimedia, a psychoeducational multimedia program designed to promote successful aging.
Sousa and Oliveira ²⁴	2015, Braga, Portugal	Intervention study/25 elderly persons	Contribute to the active aging of day/social centers for elderly persons, harmoniously developing all its dimensions, aiming to make users autonomous, participatory and active.
Cecílio and Oliveira ²⁵	2015, Limeira, Sao Paulo, Brazil	Intervention study/23 elderly persons	Promote, through Nutrition Education activities, healthy eating habits in a group of institutionalized elderly persons.
Luten et al. ²⁶	2015, Groningen, Holland	Quasi-experimental study/ 564 elderly persons	To assess the range and effects of short and medium term intervention (with local media campaign and environmental approaches) on physical activity and healthy eating in elderly persons in a socioeconomically disadvantaged community compared with a control group.
Lucena et al. ²⁷	2016, João Pessoa, Paraiba, Brazil	Experience report/99 elderly persons	Describe a report of health education practices of a university extension project, encouraging the adoption of preventive measures of self-care in relation to the health of the elderly.
Munhoz et al. ²⁸	2016, Santa Maria, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil	Experience report/144 elderly persons	Report the experience of members of the Nursing Tutorial Education Program in the " <i>Acampavida</i> " extension project, held annually with elderly persons, through health education activities.

to be continued

Authors	Year and Location	Type of Study and Sample	Objectives of Study
Barbosa et al. ²⁹	2016, Recife, Pernambuco, Brazil	Experience report/30 participants	Report the interdisciplinary experiences in the Family Health Strategy (FHS) with a Group of Elderly persons, through the Education Program for Health Work (or PET-Health) developed at the Federal University of Pernambuco (UFPE).
Nascimento and Ramos ³⁰	2016, Petrolina, Pernambuco, and Juazeiro, Bahia, Brazil	Experience report/150 elderly persons	Present the set of activities developed weekly by 10 medical students from the Federal University of Vale do São Francisco in Pernambuco with groups of elderly persons from the Active Life Program (ALP) and the Open University for the Elderly (UNATI/Univasf).
Lopes et al. ³¹	2016, Florianópolis, Santa Catarina, Brazil	Qualitative research/69 people	Verify the most relevant pedagogical aspects of a physical exercise class for the adoption of and permanence in physical activity programs in the perception of long-lived elderly women.
Sá et al. ³²	2016, Diamantina, Minas Gerais, Brazil	Quantitative research/28 participants	Identify and describe health promotion actions related to the physical activity of elderly persons in basic health units, as well as the perception of those responsible for this practice.
Jih et al. ³³	2016, São Francisco, California, USA	Randomized group study/756 elderly persons	To compare the effects of two types of intervention: lectures and Chinese printed materials versus solely Chinese printed materials on knowledge and adherence to nutrition and physical activity guidelines among older Chinese immigrants in San Francisco, California.
Amthauer and Falk ³⁴	2017, Porto Alegre, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil	Qualitative research/16 professionals	Identify the actions and practices performed by health professionals with elderly persons seeking care in a Basic Health Unit
Mendonça et al. ³⁵	2017, Uberaba, Minas Gerais, Brazil	Action Research / 98 health professionals	To evaluate the development and implementation of a continuing education action directed to primary care professionals on the theme "health education groups with elderly persons".
Santos et al. ³⁶	2017, Quixadá, Ceará, Brazil	Experience report/22 elderly persons	Report the experience of the perception of students about health education actions aimed at elderly persons of the Remanso da Paz shelter in Ouixadá Ceará

Continuation of Chart 1

The themes addressed in the health education actions were varied, however, there was a predominance of discussions about healthy eating ^{17,20,22,25,26,28,29,33,35} and the practice of physical exercises^{20,22,26,28,31,32,34,35}. The other themes included chronic diseasses18,19,27,36 with emphasis on arterial hypertension^{18,27,36}; diabetes *melitus*^{18,27,36}; respiratory diseases¹⁵; sexuality^{28,30}; active aging³⁰; healthy habits^{21,23,35}; medication^{13,36}; legal and financial questions^{20,28}; and social participation^{23,24}.

These actions were developed by health professionals, mostly primary care workers; with the participation of community health agents 14,21,34,35, nurses^{34,35}, nursing technicians^{21,32,34}, doctors³⁴ and dental surgeons³⁵. Only one article¹⁹ did not specify the professional category.

In many studies, the actions were performed by students and teachers from various undergraduate courses, especially Nursing^{13,27,28}, followed by other courses, which appeared less frequently, such as: Medicine^{27,30}, Physical Education^{22,32}, Nutrition^{22,29}, Pharmacy³⁶, Occupational Therapy²⁹ and Physiotherapy³².

In terms of the strategies adopted for the application of health education activities, nine studies used group workshops^{13,20-22,27-29,32,34}; five used seminars and/or lectures^{17,19,30,33,36}; three made use of expository, dynamic and informal conversations^{18,25,30}; two applied dialogued exposition^{16,24}; marketing campaigns^{15,26} and digital education²³. Three studies did not mention the strategies adopted^{14,31,35}.

As a theoretical framework for conducting the studies, two^{13,27} were based on the work of Paulo Freire. Many articles, although not mentioning the subject directly, spoke about health education with a participatory and dialogical approach, aiming at the empowerment of the subject, which is consistent with Freirean thinking^{18,22,25,28,30,35}. The other references were the National Health Promotion Policy¹⁹, a belief in health model¹⁶, Kurt Lewin's group dynamics²¹, the hermeneutic interpretative paradigm²⁴ and the integrated model of change²⁶, while ten studies did not mention the use of referentials^{15,17,20,23,29,31,34,36}.

The actions developed were evaluated positively by both the elderly persons and those who performed the actions in all the studies analyzed. Even those that presented strategies with multimedia or marketing campaigns only, produced more modest impact evaluative results, but still described some benefit in the health promotion of the elderly persons.

DISCUSSION

The data demonstrated the versatility that health education actions present to health professionals as a strategy to promote the health of the elderly population, both in relation to the themes addressed and the strategies used.

The findings highlight the value of health education for this specific population, especially when the exchange of scientific and popular knowledge occurs; with the valorization of mutual knowledge, giving importance to the dialogue and increasing the power of comprehension of the elderly themselves, of others and the world, expanding the comprehension of diverse realities.

Health education for elderly persons is a topic of worldwide interest, since the current demographic and epidemiological changes highlight the need to value actions for this population, focusing on the development of autonomy, independence and improving quality of life through active and healthy aging.

The interest in producing studies on active aging in recent years is explained by the scenario of demographic transition, with an increasing proportion of elderly persons in the global and Brazilian population.

In Brazil, the recognition of this theme as a research priority was stated by the Ministry of Health⁴, boosting scientific production in the area, in view of the need to identify and discuss the issues that relate to the new demands of society, as well as seek strategies that stimulate autonomy and improve the quality of life of the geriatric public.

In terms of the themes of educational actions with the elderly public, there was a predominance of topics such as healthy eating and physical activity, corroborated by a study that showed that health promotion was essential at all ages, and that for elderly persons its value is unquestionable, and furthermore that it is essential that elderly people create healthy lifestyle habits, particularly as regards their diet and exercise²⁴.

Chronic diseases such as hypertension and diabetes were also frequent themes, which may be explained by the higher prevalence of such diseases with advancing age³⁶, and which therefore require special attention.

In a Brazilian study³⁵, the choice of topics to be addressed with groups of elderly persons was decided mainly by the needs observed by health professionals, with the most addressed subjects being physical activity (90%), diet (85%) and lifestyle (75%).

This highlights the need to transform the traditional manner of conducting health education groups³⁵. It is necessary to go beyond recurrent

biomedical topics such as illness, medications, complications and treatments, so that other topics such as leisure, the exchange of popular experiences and healthy community cooking can be addressed; among the many other possibilities to be applied in a health education group with elderly persons.

Some of the studies^{13,14,18,19,22,24,28-30,35} highlighted the importance of valuing the participation of the elderly persons in the actions, in order to seek out the topics of interest, as well as focusing on their previous experiences. When the elderly interact and the educational activity is based on their needs, it becomes more productive and provides more effective responses.

Health promotion presents us with challenges for the health education process, such as more dialogical and reflexive initiatives based on the practical experience of the actors³⁷. The problematizing education defended by Paulo Freire is inserted as a reference for educational approaches through participatory strategies.

Some authors^{13,35,38} believe that participatory strategies and ludic approaches can contribute to healthy and active aging, as they are real spaces for the individual and collective expression of experiences and exchange of knowledge; as Paulo Freire argues, they become liberating and emancipating educational practices, as they focus on the experiences of the subjects, enabling free expression and addressing subjects of interest without disregarding prior knowledge, leading to the exchange of scientific and popular knowledge, rather than the vertical non-dialectical transmission of information.

Trying to break with the traditional aspect of educational workshops and allow one such program to be organized by its elderly participants was reported in a study, with resultant creativity, interest and commitment among the members, who unanimously elected this workshop as the best of those offered³⁹.

Literature^{21,39} points to the formation of groups and workshops with elderly persons as good strategies for establishing a process of coexistence among those involved, as well as the empowerment of their health, the participation of members, the practical implementation of the learning acquired, and the exchange of experiences and knowledge among the service users and health professionals.-

Of SUS professionals, the family health team nurse is especially responsible for educational actions, regulated by health promotion guidelines⁴⁰; but it is also believed that it is the responsibility of the entire health team to work in an integral manner, focused on prevention and health promotion.

Such professionals are not, however, familiar with medical practices in prevention and health promotion, and thus is not best disposed to work with health education actions^{40,41}.

This shortcoming emphasizes the importance of Permanent Health Education (PHE) for professionals working in primary care, already evidenced in 2017 by PRO EPS-SUS, established through Ordinance GM/MS No. 3,194, which considered the need to resume funding for and plan PHE actions at state and local levels⁴².

This ordinance aimed at financial transfers of funds to municipal districts for PHE actions in their territory aimed to stimulate, monitor and strengthen the professional qualifications of health workers, in order to transform health practices, towards the fulfillment of the fundamental principles of SUS, based on local realities and the collective analysis of work processes.

Thus, the government has realized that valuing the continuing education of health professionals can have returns in the context of improving the health situation of the population. This can be facilitated by the insertion of universities in health education actions in Basic Health Units (BHU), as well as in other places where the elderly are present, such as long-term care institutions.

The Ministry of Health and the Ministry of Education and Culture have been fostering the partnership between professional training institutions and health services, aiming to bring them closer to the SUS and the health needs of the Brazilian population, through programs that integrate higher education, community-service, as well as initiation schemes in work and research, with the participation of undergraduate students from various courses, teachers from educational institutions and health service professionals²⁹.

Planning activities with elderly persons in an interdisciplinary manner is challenging for students, as the actions previously lacked a participatory and dynamic user approach, but by adopting these dialogical strategies, behavioral changes in group members were observed, with reported satisfaction from elderly persons, staff and all those involved in the process. It has been verified that the students/ teachers worked as facilitators of new possibilities, bringing another perspective to the needs of the group and the practices adopted for the care of geriatric users at the BHU²⁹.

Despite this expansive process of population aging, the articles showed that studying better ways of implementing health education actions for the elderly public that can contribute to and stimulate self-care, autonomy and the improvement of quality of life are still required^{13,15,16,18,21,23,24,26,28}.

It is recognized that educational interventions are key elements of health care delivery and that, based on the analysis of health policy experts and government agencies, such actions are cost-effective and have great potential to promote the physical and mental well-being of the elderly population⁴³.

It is believed that health promotion and disease prevention strategies, associated with better care practices, can contribute to reducing the proportion of frail elderly persons, improving the health conditions of this group and reducing costs to the system; thus, participatory approaches are possibilities for implementing these preventive measures¹⁸.

The importance of actions of wellbeing and their impact on health costs in Brazil were mentioned in one study³². The analysis was based on the idea that the increase in the number of patients of various age groups, especially the elderly, led to greater demand for health services, with subsequently increased spending. Thus, prevention was considered the best investment. Strategies should therefore be created to delay illness and disability, aiming to increase the level of independence and autonomy of people.

Further studies need to be conducted to assess the impact of activities aimed at the elderly population, as well as to elucidate the need for new health education strategies guided by themes of interest for the elderly and which can contribute to improving their quality of life. Those that evaluate these actions and their impacts on the elderly population, as well as studies with evidence levels one and two, should also be encouraged.

Limitations of this study include: the failure to conduct an analysis of the effectiveness of the educational actions from the perception of the elderly persons, since the discussions presented are based mostly on the perception of professionals about the actions implemented. Furthermore, the scarcity of studies that discuss the effectiveness and efficiency of these actions for the health sector is also a challenge for scientific research.

CONCLUSION

It can be concluded that health education actions aimed at the elderly are based mainly on the promotion of healthy eating and physical exercise, and are carried out mainly by nurses from family health strategy teams and by community health agents, through group workshops and seminars/ lectures.

It was also found that actions to promote wellbeing focused on health education aimed at the elderly population were important strategies used by health professionals and/or university students to promote comprehensive care that favors healthy and active aging.

The innovation of the present study is based on the converging of the relevant thematic areas for research and care for the elderly, enabling readers to deepen their knowledge about the main themes and strategies used, as well as identify gaps for the development of new studies.

REFERENCES

- Brasil. Ministério da Saúde. Portaria MS/GM nº 2.528, de 20 de outubro de 2006. Aprova a Política Nacional de Saúde da Pessoa Idosa. Diário Oficial da União. 19 out. 2006.
- Falkenberg MB, Mendes TPL, Moraes EP, Souza EM. Health education and education in the health system: concepts and implications for public health. Ciênc Saúde Colet [Internet]. 2014;19(3):847-52. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S1413-81232014000300847
- Salci MA, Maceno P, Rozza SG, Silva DMGV, Boehs AE, Heidemann ITSB. Educação em saúde e suas perspectivas teóricas: algumas reflexões. Texto & Contexto Enferm [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 31 jan. 2018];22(1):224-30. Disponível em: http://www. scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0104-07072013000100027&lng=en
- 4. Roecker SE, Nunes EFPA, Marcon SS. O trabalho educativo do enfermeiro na Estratégia Saúde da Família. Texto & Contexto Enferm [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 25 jun. 2019];22(1):157-65. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S0104-07072013000100019&lng=en
- Oliveira MR, Veras RP, Cordeiro HA, Pasinato MT. A mudança de modelo assistencial de cuidado ao idoso na Saúde Suplementar: identificação de seus pontoschave e obstáculos para implementação. Physis [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 13 maio 2018];26(4):1383-94. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo. php?pid=S0103-73312016000401383&script=sci_ abstract&tlng=pt
- Gautério DP, Vidal DAS, Barlem JGT, Santos SSC. Action by nurses to educate older adults: the family health strategy. Rev Enferm UERJ [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 13 maio 2018];21(6):824-8. Disponível em: https://www.e-publicacoes.uerj.br/index.php/ enfermagemuerj/article/view/12302
- Nunes JM, Oliveira EN, Machado MFAS, Costa PNP, Vieira NFC. Ser mulher e participar de grupo educativo em saúde na comunidade: motivações e expectativas. Rev Enferm UERJ [Internet]. 2014 [acesso em 03 jun. 2018];22(1):123-8. Disponível em: http://www.facenf.uerj.br/v22n1/v22n1a19.pdf
- Leite CT, Vieira RP, Machado CA, Quirino GS, Machado MFAS. Prática de educação em saúde percebida por escolares. Cogitare Enferm [Internet]. 2014 [acesso em 03 jun. 2018];19(1):13-9. Disponível em: https://revistas.ufpr.br/cogitare/article/ view/35925/22157

- Brasil. Ministério da Saúde. Agenda de Prioridades de Pesquisa do Ministério da Saúde - APPMS [Internet]. Brasília, DF: MS; 2018 [acesso em 10 fev. 2018]. Disponível em: http://bvsms.saude.gov.br/bvs/ publicacoes/agenda_prioridades_pesquisa_ms.pdf
- Mendes KDS, Silveira RCCP, Galvão CM. Revisão Integrativa: método de pesquisa para a incorporação de evidências na saúde e na enfermagem. Texto Contexto Enferm [Internet]. 2008 [acesso em 25 fev. 2018];17(4):758-64. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?script=sci_ arttext&pid=S0104-07072008000400018
- 11. Brasil. Decreto Presidencial no 8.114, de 30 de setembro de 2013. Estabelece o compromisso nacional para o envelhecimento ativo e institui Comissão Interministerial para monitorar e avaliar ações em seu âmbito e promover a articulação de órgãos e entidades públicos envolvidos em sua implementação. Diário Oficial da União. 01 out. 2013.
- Sampaio RF, Mancini MC. Estudos de revisão sistemática: um guia para síntese criteriosa da evidência científica. Rev Bras Fisioter [Internet]. 2007 [acesso em 14 de abr. 2018];11(1):83-9. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/rbfis/v11n1/12.pdf
- Mendonça ET, Aires LFA, Amaro MO, Moreira TR, Henriques BD, Almeida LC, et al. A experiência de oficinas educativas com idosos: (re)pensando práticas à luz do pensamento freireano. Rev Aten Prim Saúde [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 16 abr. 2018];16(4):479-80. Disponível em: http://ojs2.ufjf.emnuvens.com.br/aps/ article/view/15199
- Nogueira ALG, Munari DB, Santos LF, Oliveira LMAC, Fortuna CM. Fatores terapêuticos identificados em um grupo de promoção da saúde de idosos. Rev Esc Enferm USP [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 17 abr. 2018];47(6):1352-8. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/reeusp/v47n6/0080-6234reeusp-47-6-01352.pdf
- Evers U, Jones SC, Iverson D, Caputi P. 'Get Your Life Back': process and impact evaluation of an asthma social marketing campaign targeting older adults. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 16 abr. 2018];13(1):1-12. Disponível em: https://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/ articles/10.1186/1471-2458-13-759
- Bhurosy T, Jeewon R. Effectiveness of a theorydriven nutritional education program in improving calcium intake among older Mauritian adults. Scient World J [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 24 abr. 2018];2013:1-16. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3888757/

- Chung LMY, Chung JWY. Effectiveness of a food education program in improving appetite and nutritional status of elderly adults living at home. Asia Pacc J Clinl Nutr [Internet].
 2014 [acesso em 01 maio 2018];23(2):315-20.
 Disponível em: https://pdfs.semanticscholar. org/57bf/339f39c432f4224cb21f313b9e7b586bbd15.pdf
- Ferretti F, Gris A, Mattielo D, Teo CPA, Sá C. Impacto de programa de educação em saúde no conhecimento de idosos sobre doenças cardiovasculares. Rev Salud Pública [Internet]. 2014 [acesso em 29 abr. 2018];16(6):807-20.Disponível em: https://www. scielosp.org/article/ssm/content/raw/?resource_ssm_ path=/media/assets/rsap/v16n6/v16n6a01.pdf
- Janini JP, Bessler D, Vargas AB. Educação em saúde e promoção da saúde: impacto na qualidade de vida do idoso. Saúde Debate [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 03 maio 2018];39(105):480-90. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/sdeb/v39n105/0103-1104sdeb-39-105-00480.pdf
- 20. Sink KM, Espeland MA, Castro CM, Church T, Cohen R, Dodson JA. Effect of a 24-month physical activity intervention vs health education on cognitive outcomes in sedentary older adults: the LIFE randomized trial. JAMA [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 12 maio 2018];314(8):781-90. Disponível em: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26305648
- Machado ARM, Santos WS, Dias FA, Tavares DMS, Munari DB. Potencializando um grupo de terceira idade de uma comunidade rural. Rev Esc Enferm USP [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 11 maio 2018];49(1):96-103. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/reeusp/ v49n1/pt_0080-6234-reeusp-49-01-0096.pdf
- 22. Almeida LFF, Freitas EL, Salgado SML, Gomes IS, Fransceschini SCC, Ribeiro AQ. Projeto de intervenção comunitária "Em Comum-Idade": contribuições para a promoção da saúde entre idosos de Viçosa, MG, Brasil. Ciênc Saúde Colet [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 03 maio 2018];20(12):3763-74. Disponível em: https://www.scielosp.org/article/ssm/ content/raw/?resource_ssm_path=/media/assets/csc/ v20n12/1413-8123-csc-20-12-3763.pdf
- 23. Caprara MG, Fernández-ballesteros R, Alessandri G. Promoting aging well: evaluation of vital-agingmultimedia program in Madrid, Spain. Health Promot Int [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 12 maio 2018];31(3):515-22. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25784303
- 24. Sousa SEM, Oliveira MCC. Viver a (e para) aprender: uma intervenção-ação para a promoção do envelhecimento ativo. Rev Bras Geriatr Gerontol [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 11 maio 2018];18(2):405-15. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/pdf/rbgg/ v18n2/1809-9823-rbgg-18-02-00405.pdf

- 25. Cecílio A, Oliveira JM. Educação nutricional para idosos institucionalizados no recanto Nossa Senhora do Rosário em Limeira, SP. Estud Interdiscip Envelhec [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 14 maio 2018];20(2):413-26. Disponível em: https://seer.ufrgs. br/RevEnvelhecer/article/view/40475/35447
- 26. Luten KA, Reijneveld AS, Dijkstra A, Winter AF. Reach and effectiveness of an integrated communitybased intervention on physical activity and healthy eating of older adults in a socioeconomically disadvantaged community. Health Educ Res [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 20 maio 2018];31(1):98-106. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC4883033/
- Lucena ALR, Freitas FFQ, Vieira KFL, Matos SDO. Ensinando e aprendendo com idosos: relato de experiência. J Res Fundam Care [Internet].
 2016 [acesso em 13 maio 2018];8(2):4131-41.
 Disponível em: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/301333342_Ensinando_e_aprendendo_ com_idosos_relato_de_experiencia_Teaching_and_ learning_with_the_elderly_experience_report
- 28. Munhoz OL, Ramos TK, Moro B, Timm MS, Venturini L, Cremonese L, et al. Oficina bingo da saúde: uma experiência de educação em saúde com grupos de idosos. Rev Min Enferm [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 16 maio 2018];20:e968 [5 p.]. Disponível em: http://www.reme.org.br/artigo/detalhes/1104
- 29. Barbosa AS, Andrade GCL, Pereira CO, Falcão IV. A interdisciplinaridade vivenciada em um grupo de idosos de uma unidade de saúde da família do Recife. Revista APS [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 22 maio 2018];19(2):315-20. Disponível em: http://ojs2.ufjf. emnuvens.com.br/aps/article/view/15414
- 30. Nascimento MM, Ramos LS. Educação médica e interdisciplinaridade: um relato de experiência com idosos residentes na comunidade. Arq Ciênc Saúde UNIPAR [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 22 maio 2018];20(3):205-9. Disponível em: https://www.researchgate. net/publication/317253673_EDUCACAO_ MEDICA_E_INTERDISCIPLINARIDADE_ UM_RELATO_DE_EXPERIENCIA_COM_ CIDADAOS_IDOSOS
- 31. Lopes MA, Marchesan M, Krug RR, Mazo GZ. Aspectos pedagógicos relevantes de uma aula para a adoção e a permanência em programas de atividade física percebidos por idosas longevas. Estud Interdiscip Envelhec [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 16 maio 2018];21(1),55-70. Disponível em: https://seer. ufrgs.br/RevEnvelhecer/article/view/50486/40712

- 32. Sá PHVO, Cury GC, Ribeiro LCC. Atividade física de idosos e a promoção da saúde nas unidades básicas. Trab Educ Saúde [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 13 maio 2018;14(2):545-58. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?pid=S1981-77462016005002104&script=sci_abstract&tlng=pt
- 33. Jih J, Gem L, Woo K, Tsoh JY, Stewart S, Gildengorin G. Educational interventions to promote healthy nutrition and physical activity among older Chinese Americans: a clusterrandomized trial. Am J Public Health [Internet].
 2016 [acesso em 01 jun. 2018];106(6):1092-8. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC4880259/
- 34. Amthauer C, Falk JW. Discursos dos profissionais de saúde da família na ótica da assistência à saúde do idoso. J Res Fundam Care Online [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 28 maio 2018];9(1):99-105. Disponível em: https://www.researchgate. net/publication/312204417_Discursos_dos_ profissionais_de_saude_da_familia_na_otica_ da_assistencia_a_saude_do_idoso_Speeches_ of_family_health_professionals_in_optics_of_ assistance_to_the_elderly
- 35. Mendonça FTNF, Santos AS, Buso ALZ, Malaquias BSS. Health education with older adults: action research with primary care professionals. Rev Bras Enferm [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 27 maio 2018];70(4):792-9. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?pid=S0034-71672017000400792&script=sci_abstract
- 36. Santos SLF, Alves HHS, Oliveira RA, Paiva CEQ, Pessoa CV, Barros KBNT. Relato de experiência sobre educação em saúde em idosos: percepção dos discentes. Revista APS [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 15 jun. 2018];20(3):450-5. Disponível em: http://ojs2.ufjf. emnuvens.com.br/aps/article/view/16054

- 37. Silva CS, Bodstein RCA. Referencial teórico sobre práticas intersetoriais em Promoção da Saúde na Escola. Ciênc Saúde Colet [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 15 jun. 2019];21(6):1777-88. Disponível em: https:// doi.org/10.1590/1413-81232015216.08522016
- Freire P. Educação como prática da liberdade. 34ª ed. São Paulo: Paz e Terra; 2011.
- Andrade TP, Mendonça BPCK, Lima DC, Alfenas IC, Bonolo PF. Projeto conviver: estímulo à convivência entre idosos do Catete, Ouro Preto, MG. Rev Bras Educ Méd [Internet]. 2012 [acesso em 06 jul. 2019];36(1):81-5. Disponível em: http://www.scielo. br/pdf/rbem/v36n1s1/v36n1s1a11.pdf
- 40. Roecker S, Budó MLD, Marcon SS. Trabalho educativo do enfermeiro na Estratégia Saúde da Família: dificuldades e perspectivas de mudanças. Rev Esc Enferm USP [Internet]. 2012 [acesso em 15 jul. 2019];46(3):641-9. Disponível em: http://www.scielo. br/pdf/reeusp/v46n3/16.pdf
- Gonçalves RJ, Soares RA, Troll T, Cyrino EG. Ser médico no PSF: formação acadêmica, perspectivas e trabalho cotidiano. Rev Bras Educ Méd [Internet]. 2009 [acesso em 07 jul. 2019];33(3):382-92. Disponível em: http://www.scielo.br/scielo.php?pid=S0100-55022009000300009&script=sci_abstract&tlng=pt
- 42. Brasil. Portaria GM/MS nº 3.194, de 28 de novembro de 2017. Dispõe sobre o Programa para o Fortalecimento das Práticas de Educação Permanente em Saúde no Sistema Único de Saúde - PRO EPS-SUS. Nov. 2017. Disponível em: http://www.cosemsrn.org. br/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/ok-portaria3194.pdf
- 43. Clark F, Jackson J, Carlson M, Chou CP, Cherry BJ, Jordan-Marsh M, et al. Effectiveness of a lifestyle intervention in promoting the well-being of independently living older people: results of the Well Elderly 2 Randomised Controlled Trial. J Epidemiol Community Health [Internet]. 2012 [acesso em 04 jul. 2019];66(9):782-90. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21636614





Premature aging in adults with Down syndrome: genetic, cognitive and functional aspects

Lília Maria de Azevedo Moreira¹ 回

Renata Melo dos Santos¹ 👳

Marise Souza Barbosa² 回

Mônica Jacobina Fonseca Vieira¹ 回

Wiliane Santos de Oliveira² 몓

Abstract

Objective: To describe genetic aspects and characteristics associated with premature aging in adults with Down syndrome. *Method:* A cross-sectional study was carried out of 28 individuals with Down syndrome, aged between 20 and 54 years old (13 women and 15 men), in a university community genetics program, who were referred by philanthropic institutions which offers support to people with disabilities and their families. The genetic and functional data were recorded in anamnesis forms. *Results:* Karyotype analysis revealed free trisomy 21, with only one hereditary case of translocation between chromosomes 15/21. In the sample group, functional difficulties were observed in locomotion, sedentary lifestyles, behavior disorders, memory loss and depression symptoms, as well as loss of autonomy at more advanced ages. Only three people had reading and writing skills and 16 had good social relationships and friend-making skills. *Conclusion:* The study confirms that premature aging in Down syndrome starts in adulthood, and therapeutic follow-up is recommended with the implementation of interventions to prevent deficits and stimulate cognition, and activities for quality of life.

Keywords: Down Syndrome. Aging Premature. Neurodegerative Process.

Correspondence Lília Maria de Azevedo Moreira lazevedo@ufba.br

Received: February 14, 2019 Approved: August 12, 2019

¹ Universidade Federal da Bahia, Instituto de Biologia, Programa Genética&Sociedade. Salvador, BA, Brasil.

² Universidade Federal da Bahia, Instituto de Psicologia, Salvador, BA, Brasil.

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to this study. No funding was provided for this study.

INTRODUCTION

Down syndrome (DS) or chromosome 21 trisomy is the main genetic cause of intellectual disability, which in Brazil occurs in about one in 600 to 800 births¹. Although there are hereditary cases, chromosomal disorders are most often due to a new mutation, with no chance of recurrence in the same family. Free trisomy of chromosome 21 is the most frequent disorder in the syndrome, occurring in 90 to 95% of cases. The remaining percentage is attributed to trisomy 21 by mosaicism, with normal and trisomic cells, Robertsonian translocations, half of which are hereditary, or to rarer chromosomic rearrangements with chromosome 21.

DS is characterized by a variable degree of intellectual and motor developmental delay, a typical face profile and congenital, cardiac and systemic malformations, with severe or detrimental consequences, although there are differences in clinical signs according to ethnicity².

As the individual grows older premature aging is observed, leading to senescence of the organs, immune system, strength and functional capacity. The changes caused by aging may potentiate the effects of trisomy, resulting in an even greater dependence on third parties for the performance of daily activities³. Such conditions eventually differentiate the aging process in individuals with and without DS⁴. Premature aging is accompanied by the whitening or loss of hair, hearing difficulties, reduced vision, cataracts, and manifestations of Alzheimer's disease (AD)⁵.

Hithersay et al.⁶ emphasize the role of AD in the life expectancy of people with DS, noting that this disorder occurs in about 70% of cases and that the mortality rate is about five times higher in those with dementia, whereas in the general population, dementia of either type is recorded on only 18% of death certificates in elderly persons over 65 years of age. This relationship between AD and DS occurs due to the influence of genes located in chromosome 21.

Among the gene products contained in this chromosomal region is APP (amyloid precursor protein), which is associated with poor cell adhesion, neurotoxicity and cell growth, with the early formation of diffuse plaques characteristic of AD. Arking⁷ notes that although APP production is greater in DS, different genetic mechanisms appear to control the formation of neuritic plaques both in this syndrome and in AD, reinforcing the view that similar manifestations may be produced by different processes. According to Hopkins⁸, the signs and symptoms of DS can be explained by subtle changes in the pace of development induced by chromosomal imbalances, with other genes included in this process, which makes the understanding of premature aging in this syndrome complex.

With advances in medical treatments and early intervention therapies, the mortality rate of the syndrome has been reduced, with significant advances in physical and mental development. On the other hand, there is still a shortage of AD-focused intervention therapies in people with DS⁹. Research involving adults with DS and their interactions is therefore necessary, especially due to the particular health needs of this group¹⁰.

According to Rosa³, the recognition of premature aging in people with DS by society and public agencies may provide better planning of actions in several areas: preventive and curative medicine, psychology and gerontology, leading to new opportunities for social inclusion.

The etiological relationship of 21 trisomy with premature aging in DS remains unclear, which makes further studies on this topic necessary to support preventive measures and provide greater support to people with the syndrome at this stage of life. Considering the current trend of increased life expectancy in individuals with DS, the present study aimed to describe genetic aspects and characteristics associated with premature aging in Down syndrome.

METHOD

A cross-sectional descriptive study was carried out with a sample of 28 individuals aged between 20 and 54 years, who were treated from 2008 to 2018 at a university community genetics program that studied the karyotype and/or family genetic orientation, and who were invited from three non-profit institutions (named in this study as A, B, and C). We included all individuals with DS in the adult phase, referred by the partner institutions, based on literature³ that establishes that is possible to identify characteristics of premature aging in this syndrome from 25 years of age onwards. The most common type of care sought at the aforementioned health service is for children with suspected genetic syndromes, but the search for genetic guidance for adults and the elderly, although less frequent, made the present study possible.

Institution A is a social organization (NGO) and provides educational and psycho-pedagogical services for people with disabilities, while Institution B is a government-run special education center. Institution C, meanwhile, is non-profit and operates near a health center offering housing to people with disabilities who were abandoned by their families.

The participants of this study had the diagnosis of DS confirmed by the study of karyotypes, performed by the usual technique of lymphocyte culture and analysis under microscope following GTG banding, according to the norms recommended by An International System for Human Cytogenomic Nomenclature (ISCN) 2016¹¹.

Within the protocol of genetic care, anamnesis forms were complete with a record of the family's genetic history and pre, peri and postnatal data. The follow-up period was analyzed based on anamnesis records, with observations recorded in the periodic returns. The bases of interest in the consultation were aspects of overall health, cognition, functionality, behavior and social interaction. To this end, the form used for data collection was supplemented with a questionnaire prepared by the program, regarding the aspects of interest, which was answered by parents/guardians. Data collected on the first visit were described and then tabulated using Graphpad inStat software.

The project was approved by the Ethics Research Committee of the Nursing School of the Universidade Federal da Bahia, under register n° 1.023.774, according to opinion dated April 1, 2015 and was part of a research project on longitudinal study and karyotype/phenotype correlation in genetic syndromes, approved by the Research Ethics Committee, subject to the granting of Free and Informed Consent, in accordance with Resolution 466/12 of the National Health Council¹² and also following the principles of the Helsinki Convention¹³ and other international documents.

RESULTS

The summary of data regarding the aging process is presented in Table 1, according to the institutions of origin. Among the patients, the majority (96%) had the most common karyotype, free trisomy 21, except one woman with 15/21 chromosomal translocation, with hereditary transmission in five generations by progenitors with the balanced form of the rearrangement.

The group consisted of 15 men and 13 women, predominantly of low socioeconomic status. Among these, 16 were in the age group between 20 and 30 years, and had developed a generally good social relationship.

There was a loss of skills, especially from the fifth decade of life onwards, in which all individuals of this age group had difficulty and slow motor activities. Functional deficits associated with locomotion, physical inactivity, conduct disorders, memory loss and depression, as well as the loss of autonomy were observed in some of the individuals, starting at 25 years old. Depression symptoms were predominantly manifested by individuals from institution B, while the majority of functional difficulties were found in residents of institution C.

During the study period, five of the individuals died due to cardiorespiratory disorders or due to the aggravation of chronic old age diseases associated with depression, and there was a diagnosis of dementia in two.

	Institution A	Institution B	Institution C	Total
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
Sex				
Female	4 (36.4)	6 (66.7)	3 (37.5)	13 (46.0)
Male	7 (63.6)	3 (33.3)	5 (62.5)	15(53.0)
Age (years)				
20-30	8 (72.7)	5 (55.5)	4 (50.0)	17(60.0)
31-40	1 (9.1)	2 (22.2)	2 (25.0)	5 (18.0)
> 40	2 (18.2)	2 (22.2)	2 (25.0)	6 (21.0)
Cognitive activities				
Mastery of reading and writing	-	2 (22.2)	1 (12.5)	3 (11.0)
Ease of making friends	8 (71.7)	4 (44.4)	4 (50.0)	16 (57.0)
Autonomy in activities of daily living	-	1 (11.1)	-	1 (3.6)
Functional characteristics				
Speech difficulties	4 (36.4)	3 (33.3)	-	7 (25.0)
Difficulties in locomotion	2 (18.2)	2 (22.2)	2 (25.0)	6 (22.0)
Cognitive and chronic diseases	3 (27.3)	-	2 (25.0)	5 (18.0)
Memory loss	-	-	3 (32.5)	3 (11.0)
Often sick	-	-	1 (12.5)	1 (3.6)
Depression Symptoms	-	5 (55.5)	4 (50.0)	9 (32.0)

Table 1. Down syndrome sample group from three institutions, separated by gender, age, cognitive and functional skills. Data were collected between 2008 and 2017, in the first meeting with each person referred. Salvador, Bahia.

DISCUSSION

The karyotype results showed a higher prevalence of free trisomy 21 and a low frequency of the unbalanced translocation of this chromosome, in line with literature¹⁴.

The peculiarities related to the increasing number of people with DS who reach adulthood are not limited to biological issues, but also involve other dimensions of development¹⁵, such as emotional and social issues, since such changes in the adult phase of people with DS are commonly associated with neurodegeneration processes16. The relationships of friendship predominantly observed in individuals attending educational centers support the view that inclusion in the school environment is an important premise for the construction of identity and social relationships. People with intellectual disabilities are able to maintain lasting bonds and the main places where this type of relationship occurs are educational support centers¹⁷, which highlights the importance of this type of support for development in DS.

The sample group included all adults with DS referred to the program, representing a convenience sample, due to the low demand among adults and elderly people with DS to attend the program, as the majority of care for the syndrome occurs in the early years of childhood. The sample resulted in adults who, at the first meeting, were aged between 20 and 54 years old, similar to previous studies¹⁸. There were no differences in the severity of manifestations between men and women, however they were more evident at older ages.

The present study supports the fact that there is early deterioration in the aging process in individuals with DS, observing, for example, that three (11%) of the individuals had symptoms of memory loss, and that according to family information, these symptoms started to appear after the age of 25. Head et al.¹⁹ highlight the consequences of chromosome 21 trisomy on the development of AD neuropathology, associated with overexpression of the amyloid precursor protein (APP) gene, precursor of β -amyloid peptide (A β) leading to early-onset amyloid plaque

formation, neurofibrillary tangles formation, cerebrovascular pathology, white matter pathology, oxidative damage, neuroinflammation and neuron loss. Nichols²⁰ highlights the changes associated with AD, such as the phosphorylation and aggregation of the TAU protein, and notes that the action of this protein on the neurodegenerative processes that may affect those with DS is due to the action of the DYRK1A gene involved in hyperphosphorylation, which may lead to neurofibrillary degeneration, making studies of the regulatory enzymes of these processes fundamental for therapeutic purposes.

Each of the institutions that indicated the participants in this study for genetic care had different characteristics. Institutions A and B serve people with disabilities who are assisted by their families and provide educational activities for these individuals and support (lectures, training) for their families. Institution C assists people with disabilities who have been abandoned by their families, and has no program to encourage school education, although the individuals attend special schools. It can be seen, then, that those with DS from each institution have different realities, which are reflected in their relational, emotional and psychological characteristics.

The highest indicators of functional/emotional and psychiatric deficits were observed in institution C, where two (25.0%) individuals had walking difficulties; three (37.5%) memory loss; one (12.5%) often fell ill; two (25.0%) had cognitive or chronic diseases and four (50.0%) had symptoms of depression. These individuals had no contact with their families and some experienced situations of abandonment. According to Viana and Oliveira²¹ it is essential to recognize the role of the family as a therapeutic strategy for the development of people with DS. It is also observed that some of the characteristics presented may be related to the subjective conditions of each individual, such as personality and social stimuli. It was also observed that five (56.0%) of the individuals who presented symptoms of depression came from institution B, which provides support to families, highlighting the multifactorial character of the pathology, influenced by several environmental factors.

Nichols²⁰ preventively proposes therapeutic measures such as the protection of mitochondrial decline from oxidative stress with antioxidants, sleep regulation, dietary monitoring and vitamin supplementation, among others. Fonseca et al.¹⁰, considering the occurrence of AD in this syndrome, emphasize the importance of treatments, pharmacological or not, in reducing cognitive and functional losses, attenuating clinical signs. Health care for adults and elderly people with DS is a matter of priority and should be aimed at maintaining a healthy lifestyle (diet, sleep hygiene and exercise) and developing autonomy for activities of daily living, highlighting measures of self-care, socialization, social and economic inclusion¹.

From the standpoint of advances in genetics in the treatment of DS, hopes arise with the possibility of the therapeutic application of methodologies derived from the use of the genomic editing tool known as (CRISPR-Cas9), a class of RNA-guided endonucleases known as Cas9, which are extracted from the adaptive immune system of CRISPR microorganisms (clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats), which can be easily directed to virtually any genomic location of choice by a short RNA guide²². The use of this tool can lead to the silencing of harmful effect genes, such as those associated with early dementia. This methodology has prospects for evolution, but its long-term effects are still poorly understood and many studies are required before its use as a new therapy.

CONCLUSION

The analysis of the aging process of adults and the elderly with Down syndrome, performed in this study, allowed the association of specific manifestations with the increased expression of chromosome 21 genes, resulting from chromosomal trisomy. The authors believe that new information on the evolution of dementia disorder in Down syndrome, as well as the implementation of compensatory responses that may benefit nervous system functioning, may provide opportunities to develop interventions aimed at delaying or suppressing the manifestation of this disorder.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- Brasil. Ministério da Saúde, Secretaria de Atenção à Saúde, Departamento de Ações Programáticas Estratégicas, Diretrizes de atenção à pessoa com Síndrome de Down. Brasília, DF: Ministério da Saúde; 2013.
- Kruszka P, Porras AR, Sobering AK, Ikolo FA, La Qua S, Chung BHY, et al. Down syndrome in diverse populations. Am J Med Genet Part A. 2017;73:42-53.
- Da Rosa ERA. Os idosos com síndrome de Down e a exclusão social na velhice: um estudo de caso [dissertação]. Brasília, DF: Universidade católica de Brasília; 2015.
- Van Buggenhout GJCM, Trommelen JCM, Schoenmaker C, de Bal C, Veerbeck JJ, Smeets DS, et al. Down Syndrome in a population of elderly mentally retarded patients: Genetic-Diagnostic survey and implications for medical care. Am J Med Genet. 1999;85:376-84.
- Lopes BS, Vianna LG, Moraes CF, Carvalho GA, Alves VP. A Síndrome de Down e o processo de envelhecer: revisão sistemática. Rev Kairós. 2014;17(4):141-55.
- Hithersay R, Startin CM, Hamburg S, Mok KY, Hardy J, Fisher EMC, et al. Association of dementia with mortality among adults with Down syndrome older than 35 years. JAMA Neurol. 2018;76(2):152-60.
- Arking R. Biologia do envelhecimento: observações e princípios. Tradução: Feliciano AI; revisão Duarte FAM. Ribeirão Preto : FUNPEC; 2008.
- Hopkins K. Chromosome 21 genes in Down syndrome and development. J NIH Res. 1995;7:29-30.
- Bettini-Pereira RA, Blascovi-Assis SM, Nunes R. Bioética e síndrome de Down: pesquisa com cuidadores de pacientes adultos. Cad Pós-Grad Distúrb Desenvolv. 2015;15(2):18-28.
- Fonseca LM, Navatta ACR, Bottino CMC, Miotto EC. Cognitive rehabilitation of dementia in adults with Down syndrome: a review of nonpharmacological interventions. Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord Extra. 2015;5(3):330-40.
- McGowan J, Simons A, Schimd M, Switzland S, Karger AG. ISCN 2016: An International System for Human Cytogenetic Nomenclature. [Place unknown]: Karger; 2016.

- 21ª Resolução 466/12 de 12 de dezembro de 2012. Aprova diretrizes e normas regulamentadoras de pesquisa envolvendo seres humanos. Saúde. Legis. 2012. Disponivel em: http://bvsms.saude.gov.br/bvs/ saudelegis/cns/2013/res0466_12_12_2012.html
- World Medical Association. Declaration of Helsinki. Ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects [Internet]. [Place unknown]: WAM; 2008 [acesso 01 nov. 2013]. Disponível: http://www. wma.net/en/30publications/10policies/b3/17c.pdf
- Dias FL. O Treino da condição física na Trissomia 21: estudo de caso com aplicação de um programa específico [dissertação]. Porto: Universidade do Porto; 2016.
- Grieco J, Pulsifer M, Seligsohn K, Skotko B, Schwartz A, Down syndrome: Cognitive and behavioral functioning across the lifespan. Am J Med Genet Part C. 2015;169:135-49.
- 16. Andrade JFCM, Adultos com síndrome de Down e seus familiares cuidadores: caracterização, qualidade de vida e estresse [dissertação]. Juíz de Fora: Universidade Federal de Juiz de Fora; 2017.
- Annus T, Wilson LR, Young TH, Acosta-Cabronero J, Fryer TD, Cardenas-Blanco A. The pattern of amyloid accumulation in the brains of adults with Down syndrome. Alzheimers Dement. 2016;12:538-45.
- Andrade JFCM, Silva NLP. Adultos com síndrome de Down por eles mesmos: relatos de suas vivências. Psicol Pesqui. 2018;12:1-9.
- Head E, Lott IT, Wilcock DM, Lemere CA. Aging in Down Syndrome and the development of Alzheimer's Disease neuropathology. Curr Alzheimer Res. 2016;13(1):18-29.
- Nichols TW. Hyperphosphorylation of Tau Protein in Down's Dementia and Alzheimer's Disease: Methylation and Implications in Prevention and Therapy. J Alzheimers Dis Parkinsonism. 2014;4(5):1-8.
- Viana LP, Oliveira EMP. Influência do entorno familiar no desempenho comunicativo de crianças com Síndrome de Down. Rev CEFAC. 2015;17(1):177-83.
- 22. Hsu PD, Lander ES, Zhang F. Development and Applications of CRISPR-Cas9 for Genome Engineering. Cell. 2014;157:1262-78.





Effectiveness of a multiple intervention programme for the prevention of falls in older adults persons from a University of the Third Age



Ruth Caldeira de Melo¹ 回

Abstract

Objective: To evaluate the effectiveness of a multiple intervention programme for the prevention of falls in older adults from a University of the Third Age (U3A). Method: A quasi-experimental, non-controlled, longitudinal and quantitative study was performed. 69 older adults were allocated into three groups: Control (CG), Physical Exercise (PEG) and Multiple Intervention (MIG). The instruments/tests used were: sociodemographic questionnaire, Geriatric Depression Scale (15-items), Mini-Mental State Examination, Timed-Up and Go (TUG), Sit-to-Stand and Hand-Grip Strength, Falls Efficacy Scale-International and Falls Risk Awareness Questionnaire (FRAQ). The PEG and MIG groups underwent physical training (walking, muscular resistance, and balance) for 16 weeks (2x/week, 60 min/session). In the same period, the MIG also participated in educational sessions (1x/week, 60min/session). Covariance analysis was used for group comparisons. The effect size of the interventions was also calculated. The level of significance was set at p < 0.05. Results: 51 older adults (67±6.2 years and 76.3% women), of whom 15 were in the CG, 20 in the PEG and 16 in the MIG, concluded the study. TUG time in both intervention groups was reduced, but FRAQ score improved in the MIG only. Both interventions had a small effect on TUG time, while multiple intervention had a large effect on FRAQ. Conclusion: Multiple intervention brought additional benefits to the older adults from this U3A. In addition to improving balance, the older adults who underwent the multiple intervention increased their knowledge about risk factors for falls.

Keywords: Health of the Elderly. Accident Prevention. Accidental Falls. Exercise Movement Techniques. Physical Fitness. Health Education.

Correspondence Ruth Caldeira de Melo ruth.melo@usp.br

Received: March 18, 2019 Approved: August 20, 2019

¹ Universidade de São Paulo, Escola de Artes, Ciências e Humanidades, Programa de Pós-graduação em Gerontologia. São Paulo, SP, Brasil.

² Universidade Estadual de Campinas, Faculdade de Ciências Médicas, Programa de Pós-graduação em Gerontologia. Campinas, SP, Brasil.

Research funding: National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (or CNPq), Universal Bid Notice (process no 428865/2016-0) and Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (or CAPES), Financing Code 001 - Brazil.

The authors declare there are no conflicts of interest in relation to the present study.

INTRODUCTION

Falls in the older adults are a major public policy concern, mainly due to the negative outcomes and high health spending associated with their consequences^{1,2}. In Brazil, the prevalence of falls among communitydwelling older adults is approximately 25%, and is higher among women and older individuals³. Since falls have multifactorial characteristics, i.e., several risk factors may be involved in a single event¹, it is key that preventive programs include different types of intervention⁴.

Preventive interventions can be administered alone or in combination. The latter can be designed and offered individually based on the assessment of risk factors for each older adults (multifactorial intervention) or generalized and similar for all participants (multiple intervention)⁴. Scientific evidence suggests that multifactorial intervention and physical exercise (a single intervention) are the most effective in reducing falls, while the latter seems to have the greatest effect in reducing risk^{4,5}. It is recommended that interventions involving physical training include balance and muscular endurance exercises, either for the older adults in general or for those at risk of falls⁵.

Among the combined interventions, multifactorial interventions also seem to be the most effective in reducing falls, followed by multiple actions that combine physical exercises with educational activities or environmental modifications⁶. Therefore, multifactorial intervention should be the first option in offering this type of service to the older adults⁶. As multifactorial interventions are complex and require the involvement of more professionals^{4,7}, offering them more to the wider population is often costly and infeasible.

Although multiple interventions are not as effective as multifactorial interventions in preventing falls⁶, Goodwin et al.⁸ showed that, compared to a control situation, multiple intervention was also able to reduce the number of older adults who fell and the rate of falls, and physical exercise is an important component in achieving such results⁴. Other approaches widely used in multiple interventions include drug optimization, environmental modifications, and educational interventions⁷. In terms of educational interventions, their role in preventing falls is not yet fully established⁴. However, Schepens et al.⁹ suggest that they may contribute to improving the knowledge of the older adults about risk factors and, consequently, to the adoption of preventive behaviors.

Given the above, the present study aimed to evaluate the effectiveness of physical training, combined (multiple intervention) or not (isolated intervention) with educational intervention, on the physical-functional performance, self-efficacy and perception of risk factors for falls in older adults participants of an Open University for the Third Age (or U3A).

METHOD

A quasi-experimental, non-controlled longitudinal and quantitative study was carried out at the U3A of the School of Arts, Sciences and Humanities of the Universidade de São Paulo (or EACH | USP). Characterized as a continuing education program for refreshing and acquiring new knowledge, this U3A receives about 300 older adults every six months, who can enroll for free in some of the regular subjects of the University's undergraduate courses, didacticcultural activities and physical-sports activities. For the present study, we recruited older adults enrolled in the sport-physical activity entitled "Get Balanced" from February 2017 to December 2018.

The sample size calculation was performed using the G*Power software (version 3.1.9.4) using the intragroup comparison method (repeated measures) based on the values of the Timed Up and Go test (TUG) [7.3 (\pm 1.0) seconds] and Sit-To-Stand test (STS) [14.6 (\pm 2.0) seconds], previously reported in the literature for older adults participants of the U3A¹⁰. Considering a type I error of 5% and type II error of 20%, i.e. 80% sample power, 57 individuals (19 per group) would be needed to detect 10% intragroup differences in both tests. In order to reduce the effects of possible losses, a margin of 20% was added to the sample calculation, leading to a final amount of 23 people per group.

Ninety-five older adults men and women enrolled in the U3A volunteered to participate in the study and were selected according to the following inclusion criteria: 60 years of age or older, good health, and medical clearance for performing physical exercises. The study excluded older adults people who presented any health problem that contraindicate the participation in group physical exercises, such as those with diseases and/or limiting chronic conditions (cardiorespiratory diseases, neurological diseases, diagnosed vestibular disorders, musculoskeletal disorders and diagnosed cognitive impairment). The older adults with poor vision, a history of recurrent falls (more than two events in 12 months) and who used walking aids were also excluded from the study. After applying these criteria, 69 older adults were included and allocated by convenience in three experimental groups: Control (CG, n=23), Physical Exercise (PEG, n=25) and Multiple Intervention (MIG, n=21).

The older adults placed in the CG were instructed to maintain their routine activities and not initiate any kind of physical training while participating in the study. At the end of the 16-week follow-up period, the CG older adults were invited to participate in the same physical training program offered to the other groups. The older adults from the PEG underwent a multimodal physical training protocol, consisting of resistance, aerobic endurance/walking and balance exercises, twice a week with 60 minutes each session for 16 weeks. The older adults from the MIG were submitted to the same physical training protocol offered to the PEG (twice a week, 60 minutes/ session for 16 weeks), which was combined with an educational intervention protocol for fall prevention (once a week, 60 minutes/ session for 16 weeks).

The educational intervention was conducted in order to increase the knowledge of the older adults about risk factors and the prevention of falls. Each session was divided into two parts: lecture (30 minutes) and coordinated discussion to share experiences and clarify the doubts of participants (30 minutes). The topics covered in the educational sessions included important information for fall prevention, such as fall definition, risk factors and major preventive interventions. A detailed description of the physical training protocols and educational intervention can be seen in Chart 1.

Chart 1. Description of the characteristics of the multimodal physical training and educational intervention protocols used in the study. São Paulo, 2018.

Characteristics	Protocols		
	Multimodal Physical Training	Educational Intervention	
Experimental Group	Physical Exercise (PEG) and Multiple Intervention (MIG)	Multiple Intervention (MIG)	
Local	Sports gymnasium (more specifically, sports court, bodily activity room and surroundings).	Meeting room equipped with two rectangular tables and chairs.	
Materials	Chairs, anklets (1 to 3 kg), steps, poles, balls of various sizes, mats, cones and balance discs.	Microcomputer and video projector.	

to be continued

Characteristics	Protocols	
	Multimodal Physical Training	Educational Intervention
Activities and Exercises	 (1) aerobic endurance: indoor (outdoor) or outdoor (campus) walking; (2) resistance: lower limb exercises performed in sitting (chair) and/or standing position (plantar flexion and ankle dorsiflexion, knee flexion and extension, hip flexion, hip abduction and squatting /sitting and rising from the chair); (3) balance: exercises involving static and dynamic postures (single-legged support, tandem, cone zigzag, toe-walking, heel- walking, lateral-walking, obstacle-walking and ludic activities*). 	Each session was divided into two parts: 1) lecture (30 minutes) and 2) coordinated discussion for sharing experiences and clarifying questions from participants (30 minutes). The themes developed during the intervention included: falls (definition, consequences, risk behaviors and prevention); diseases and changes in health (major diseases that predispose the individual to falls and how to prevent them); extrinsic factors (such as improving the home environment, better footwear and foot care); reducing the risk of falling (most recommended physical exercise); and other factors influencing falls (drug interactions, diet, cognition and fear of falling).
Frequency	Twice per week.	Once a week.
Duration	60 min/session (i.e. 20 min/ session for each multimodal training component).	60 min / session (i.e. 30 min / session for lecture and 30 min / session for discussion).
Volume and Intensity	 moderate-intense walking, according to the subjective perception of effort; two to three sets of 10 to 15 repetitions, with a load of 1 to 3 kg (anklet) and rest interval of one minute. Volume and load increments were performed when volunteers rated the intensity of effort as mild; increased difficulty individually, from reductions in upper limb support, reductions in support base, inclusion of unstable surfaces and association with cognitive tasks (verbal fluency, mental calculations and immediate memory). 	Not applicable.

Continuation of Chart 1

*Every 15 days the balance exercises were replaced by ludic activities involving body displacement and other motor and/or cognitive skills (examples: adapted volleyball, adapted tic-tac-toe and body perception/expression activities).

Data were collected by a team of researchers (graduate students and academics) who were previously trained and familiar with the tests and measuring instruments. The data were collected through the completion of a form containing sociodemographic information (age, gender, marital status and education), anthropometric data (weight, height and body mass index (BMI)) and history of falls in the last 12 months. Weight and height were measured with the aid of a mechanical scale and a wall stadiometer, respectively. The ratio between weight (in kilograms, kg) and height squared (in meters, m) was used to calculate BMI (kg/m²). To better characterize the sample, depressive symptoms and cognitive impairment were assessed respectively using the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) and Mini Mental State Exam (MMSE), using versions adapted and validated for the Brazilian population in previous studies¹¹⁻¹³.

The 15-item GDS is widely used to screen depressive symptoms in the older adults. For the Brazilian population, the 5/6 score (not case/case) showed good sensitivity (81%) and specificity (71%) for the diagnosis of depression, as well as presenting satisfactory reliability for clinical use^{11,12}.

The MMSE is a cognitive screening instrument that assesses five areas of cognition: orientation; registration; attention and calculation; recall and language. Although the MMSE is widely used in Brazil, there are still differences regarding cutoff scores and some of its psychometric characteristics¹⁴. The present study used the version suggested by Brucki et al.¹³.

The outcome variables were TUG, handgrip strength (HGS), and STS scores, as well as scores in the Falls Efficacy Scale-International (FES-I) and Falls Risk Awareness Questionnaire (FRAQ).

The TUG test was used to assess mobility and balance. This test measures the time taken to get up from a chair with arms, walk three meters forward, turn around, walk back, and sit down in the chair¹⁵. For older adults Brazilians, times longer than 12.47 seconds (usual speed) indicate a higher risk of falls¹⁶. The volunteers were allowed to take the course once prior to timing to familiarize them with the test. The older adults were then instructed to move as quickly as possible, provided that their safety was not endangered. The test was performed three times, with the average time spent in all attempts used in the analyzes, provided that the variability between the measurements was less than 10%. Measures with variance greater than 10% were not used in the final mean calculation.

HGS was measured using a hydraulic dynamometer (SH 5001, SAEHAN Corp, Korea) which has two parallel handles which are adjustable according to the dimensions of the hands. This equipment measures the force produced by a maximum isometric contraction, which is recorded in kilograms-force (kgf) or pounds. The maximal HGS of the dominant limb was evaluated in the orthostatic posture, with the elbow flexed at 90° and the other joints (shoulder and wrist) in neutral positions. Three measurements were performed and their mean was used in data analysis¹⁷.

The 5-repetition STS was used to assess lower limb muscle strength¹⁸. For the test, a standard chair (seat height 43 cm) without arms and a stopwatch were used. The older adults were instructed to get up and sit five times in a chair as quickly as possible without the help of the upper limbs, which remained crossed in front of the body while performing the movement. The test began from the seated posture on the chair with the back resting on the backrest and ended when the volunteer reached this same position after getting up from the chair five times. The time taken for an attempt was used in the analyzes.

The FES-I is a self-efficacy scale that assesses the confidence of the older adults in performing daily activities without falling. Therefore, it has also been used as a measure of fear of falls¹⁹. The Brazilian version has good psychometric characteristics, with satisfactory internal consistency and reliability, with a score ≥ 23 points associated with a history of sporadic falls²⁰.

FRAQ assesses the perception of the older adults regarding the risk of falls²¹. The FRAQ score ranges from 0 to 32 points, with no cutoff established in literature. However, the higher the score, the better the older adults awareness of risk factors and fall prevention. In the FRAQ cross-cultural adaptation study for the Brazilian older adults, Lopes and Trelha²¹ also observed excellent reliability and internal consistency for this instrument.

Categorical variables are expressed as absolute (n) and relative (%) frequencies, and the differences between the three groups were evaluated using Pearson's chi-square and Fisher's exact tests..

For the continuous variables, an exploratory data analysis was initially performed, including measures of normality (Shapiro-Wilk test), data distribution (Asymmetry and Kurtosis) and homogeneity of variances (Levene test). Once the normality of the data was verified, the mean, standard deviation and 95% confidence interval of the mean of all the continuous variables were calculated. For variables related to sample characterization (age, weight, height, BMI, GDS and MMSE), the differences between groups were tested using analysis of variance (ANOVA) for independent samples. For the outcome variables (TUG, HGS, STS, FES-I and FRAQ), the effects of group, time and interaction were tested by means of repeated measures covariance (ANCOVA), considering BMI as a covariate in comparisons. In case of significance, the Bonferroni and t-Student post hoc tests were used to detect inter and intragroup differences, respectively.

The effect size of the interventions for outcome variables was also calculated using the Hedges test (g), and their values were classified as: insignificant (<0.19); small (0.20-0.49); medium (0.50-0.79); large (0.80-1.29) and very large (>1.30). For all statistical analyzes, the significance level was set at p <0.05.

The present study complied with Resolution n° 466/2012 of the National Health Council and was approved by the EACH|USP Ethics Committee for Research involving human beings (opinion n° 1.427.294 and CAAE 51671215.6.0000.5390). After being informed about the research procedures and ethical aspects, all participants signed a Free and Informed Consent Form.

RESULTS

Of the 69 older adults included in the study, 51 completed all stages of the research. The final number of participants in the CG, PEG and MIG groups was 15, 20 and 16, respectively. The main reasons related to sample loss included not returning for reevaluation, personal problems, abandonment of activities and non-adherence to the interventions performed, i.e., a frequency below 75%.

The sociodemographic data, anthropometric characteristics, history of falls, GDS and MMSE performance of the three groups are presented in Table 1. The groups did not differ for most of these variables except for weight $[F_{(2.48)} = 6.34; p=0.00]$ and BMI $[F_{(2.48)} = 6.45; p=0.00]$. The MIG group had a higher weight than the PEG (p=0.00) and a higher BMI than the other groups (vs. CG, p=0.04 and vs. PEG, p=0.00). Thus, BMI was used as a covariate in

analyzes involving outcome variables. In all groups there was a higher prevalence of young older adults (mean age 67±6.2 years), women and participants with nine or more years of study. Additionally, all groups performed well in the GDS and MMSE, with no statistical differences among them.

The comparisons between groups for the outcome variables are presented in Table 2. Regarding the physical-functional performance tests, interaction between group and time was observed. [$F_{(2.47)}$ =5.02; p=0.01] for TUG performance. In the intragroup analysis both groups submitted to physical training showed significant reduction in the time of this test (FEG, p=0.02 and MIG, p=0.03). The HGS showed the effect of time [$F_{(1.47)}$ = 8.80; p=0.00], but no statistical differences were found in the intragroup comparisons. (p>0.05).

The analyzes also showed interaction between group and time $[F_{(2.46)}=8.69; p=0.01]$ for FRAQ, with an increase in score only for the MIG group (p=0.00). However, no effect was observed for STS performance and FES-I score.

Analyzes of the effect size of interventions are presented in Table 3. Both interventions had a small but significant effect on TUG time (FEG, g= -0.25 and MIG, g= -0.38). Although the covariance analysis did not show statistical significance for the STS test, the control situation had a significant and medium effect (g= 0.54) on reducing performance, while the effects of both interventions were insignificant. Multiple intervention had a large effect (g= 1.19) on the FRAQ score. Finally, the effects of interventions on HGS and FES-I were mostly negligible.
Variables	Control Group (n=15)	Physical Exercise Group (n=20)	Multiple Intervention Group (n=16)	<i>p</i> - value
Age (years)				
Mean (standard deviation)	67.1 (±6.28)	67.3 (±5.56)	68.1 (±6.82)	0.88
95% CI	63.7–70.6	64.7-69.9	69.2-71.8	
Sex, n (%)				
Female	10 (66.7)	17 (85.0)	12 (75.0)	0.44
Male	5 (33.3)	3 (15.0)	4 (25.0)	
Marital Status, n (%)				
Married / civil partnership	6 (40.0)	9 (45.0)	7 (43.8)	
Single	6 (40.0)	3 (15.0)	2 (12.5)	0.41
Widowed	2 (13.3)	5 (25.0)	6 (37.5)	
Divorced / Separated	1 (6.7)	3 (15.0)	1 (6.2)	
Schooling (years), n (%)				
1-4	2 (13.3)	3 (15.0)	2 (12.5)	
5-8	3 (20.0)	5 (25.0)	2 (12.5)	0.90
≥9	10 (67.0)	12 (60.0)	12 (75.0)	
Height (m)				
Mean (standard deviation)	1.61 (±0.95)	1.58 (±0.49)	1.61 (±0.86)	0.42
95% CI	1.56-1.67	1.56-1.61	1.56-1.66	
Weight (kg)				
Mean (standard deviation)	71.0 (±10.4)	67.0 (±8.69)*	80.0 (±13.6)	0.00
95% CI	65.1–76.7	62.7-70.8	72.4-86.9	
BMI (kg / m2)				
Mean (standard deviation)	27.4 (±3.80)*	26.4 (±2.57)*	30.6 (±4.31)	0.00
95% CI	24.3-29.6	25.2-27.6	28.3-32.9	
Fall history, n (%)				
Yes	4 (26.7)	2 (10.0)	5 (31.6)	0.26
No	11 (73.3)	18 (90.0)	11 (78.4)	
GDS (score)				
Mean (standard deviation)	1.93 (±1.59)	1.80 (±2.28)	2.06 (±1.98)	0.98
95% CI	1.01-2.85	0.73-2.87	2.06-3.12	
MMSE (score)				
Mean (standard deviation)	26.4 (±2.56)	25.6 (±2.32)	26.6 (±2.13)	0.35
95% CI	24.9-27.9	25.6-27.7	25.4-27.7	

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics, anthropometric measurements, history of falls, depressive symptoms and cognitive performance of the control (CG), physical exercise (PEG) and multiple intervention (MIG) groups. São Paulo, 2018.

CI = confidence interval; BMI = body mass index; GDS = geriatric depression scale; MMSE = Mini Mental State Examination; *p<0.05 vs. MIG.

Variables	Control Grou	up (n=15)	Physical Exercise Group (n=20)		Multiple Intervention Group (n=16)		<i>p</i> -value		
	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	Pre	Post	G	Т	GxT
TUG (sec)									
Mean (sd)	7.57 (±0.82)	7.77 (±1.06)	7.64 (±1.42)	7.26 (±1.02)*	7.72 (±1.07)	7.32 (±0.90)*	0.82	0.10	0.01
CI 95%	7.12-8.03	7.18-8.36	6.98-8.31	6.79-7.75	7.15-8.29	6.84–7.80			
HGS (kgf)									
Mean (sd)	27.1 (±8.04)	26.7 (±9.67)	23.3 (±3.84)	24.9 (±3.97)	24.7 (±7.74)	25.5 (±6.99)	0.48	0.00	0.13
CI 95%	22.7-31.6	21.3-32.1	21.6-25.2	23.1-26.8	20.6-28.9	21.8–29.3			
STS (sec)									
Mean (sd)	11.5 (±2.17)	12.6 (1.43)	12.7 (±4.04)	12.5 (2.18)	12.7 (±2.72)	12.6 (1.92)	0.68	0.29	0.19
CI 95%	10.3-12.7	11.8–13.4	10.8–14.6	11.5–13.5	11.3–14.2	11.6–13.6			
FES-I (score)									
Mean (sd)	22.6 (±3.76)	24.5 (6.19)	24.2 (±6.22)	25.4 (7.53)	24.7 (±6.23)	24.6 (6.51)	0.65	0.32	0.51
CI 95%	20.4-24.7	20.9-28.1	21.3-27.1	21.9-28.9	21.4-28.1	21.1-28.1			
FRAQ (score)									
Mean (sd)	22.7 (±2.87)	24.3 (±2.76)	23.1 (±3.79)	23.2 (±3.27)	20.4 (±4.33)	25.8 (±4.49)*	0.95	0.44	0.01
CI 95%	21.1-24.4	22.7-25.9	21.3-24.9	21.7–24.8	18.1–22.7	23.4-28.2			

Table 2. Comparison between control (CG), exercise (FEG), and multiple intervention (MIG) groups for mobility, handgrip strength, lower limb strength, self-efficacy, and perception of risk factors for falls. São Paulo, 2018.

G = group effect; T = effect of time; GxT = interaction between group and time effects; sd = standard deviation; CI = confidence interval; TUG = Timed Up and Go; HS = hand grip strength; CS = chair stand; FES-I = Falls Efficacy Scale International; FRAQ = Falls Risk Awareness Questionnaire; **p*<0.05 vs. basal situation within the same group.

Table 3. Analysis of the effect size of the interventions (pre vs. post) for the control (CG), exercise (PEG) and multiple intervention (MIG) groups for mobility, handgrip strength, lower limb strength, self-efficacy, and perception about risk factors for falls. São Paulo, 2018.

Variables	Hedges g	Confidence 95%		Student's t	df	<i>p</i> - value	CLES	ES Classification
variables		CI Lower	CI Upper	_				
TUG (sec)								
CG	0.19	-0.14	0.54	1.27	14	0.22	55.6	Insignificant
PEG	-0.25	-0.70	-0.06	-2.46	19	0.02	57.0	Small
MIG	-0.38	-0.76	-0.04	-2.38	15	0.03	60.7	Small
HGS (kgf)								
CG	-0.11	-0.87	0.07	-1.81	14	0.09	53.1	Insignificant
PEG	0.19	-2.38	5.58	0.84	19	0.41	55.4	Insignificant
MIG	0.10	-1.00	2.60	0.36	15	0.36	52.8	Insignificant
STS (sec)								
CG	0.54	0.20	2.00	2.61	14	0.02	64.9	Medium
PEG	-0.04	-1.37	0.97	-0.36	19	0.73	51.2	Insignificant
MIG	-0.04	-1.01	0.81	-0.23	15	0.82	51.2	Insignificant

to be continued

Maniah laa	Hedges g	Confidence	95%	Student's t	df	<i>p</i> - value	CLES	ES Classification
variables		CI Lower	CI Upper	-				
FES-I (score)								
CG	0.33	-0.68	4.48	1.58	14	0.14	59.3	Small
PEG	0.17	-2.56	4.96	0.67	19	0.51	54.8	Insignificant
MIG	-0.02	-2.55	2.35	-0.09	15	0.93	53.8	Insignificant
FRAQ (score)								
CG	0.55	-0.84	4.04	1.41	14	0.18	65.2	Medium
PEG	0.03	-1.07	1.27	0.18	19	0.86	50.9	Insignificant
MIG	1.19	3.27	7.53	5.41	15	0.00	80.2	Large

Continuation of Table 3

CI= confidence interval; df= degree of freedom; CLES= common language effect size; TUG= *Timed Up and Go*; HS= handgrip strength; CS= chair stand test; FES-I= *Falls Efficacy Scale International*; FRAQ= *Falls Risk Awareness Questionnaire*.

DISCUSSION

Scientific evidence suggests that multimodal physical training has several health benefits for the older adults ²², and is also the most recommended in the prevention of falls as an single intervention⁴. Although the effects of this type of training are well established, its magnitude varies widely between studies. According to the systematic review by Bouaziz et al.²², the gains from multimodal training in muscle strength and mobility ranged from 1.4 to 95% and 5.3 to 88.9%, respectively. These differences may be related to several factors, including the characteristics of the subjects involved, the tests used and the physical training program itself.

In the present study an improvement of approximately 5% in mobility was observed in both groups undergoing physical training which, although small, was statistically significant. On the other hand, no changes were observed in performance in muscle strength tests after the follow-up period. It is important to remember that the older adults included in this study came from an U3A and, therefore, have some particular characteristics compared to older adults recruited from other types of services and locations. A previous study within the same U3A showed that its participants are relatively young (mean age 67±6.2 years), have a high level of education (eight years or more of study) and are physically active²³, corroborating the characteristics of the older adults in this research. Additionally, older adults participants of U3As tend to present

good physical and functional performance^{10,23} and therefore, a low risk of falls.

Due to the predictive power for negative outcomes, physical-functional tests have been widely investigated in literature. Regarding the risk of future falls, a meta-analysis study suggested cutoff values for different tests/scales²⁴, with older adults with TUG and STS times longer than 11 and 12 seconds, respectively, considered at risk. In the same study, FES-I scores greater than 24 were also indicative of a risk of future falls. For Brazilian communitydwelling older adults, Alexandre et al.¹⁶ showed that TUG values greater than 12.47 seconds are predictive of falls, with a sensitivity of 73.7% and a specificity of 65.8%. In the present study, all the groups had lower TUG values than those suggested for the risk of falls, regardless of whether international ²⁴ or Brazilian¹⁶ reference values are applied. If compared with the study by Lusardi et al.24, STS and FES-I values were borderline for risk of falls in all groups and therefore should not be disregarded.

The importance of maintaining good physical performance in old age has been demonstrated by several studies²⁵⁻²⁸. Den Ouden et al.²⁵, in a 10-year prospective study, observed that muscle strength, associated with number of chronic diseases, age, sex (female) and socioeconomic status, was a determining factor for dependence on daily living activities in community-dwelling older adults. Similarly, Dodds et al.²⁶ evaluated the influence of different factors in determining future disability in middle-aged individuals. The variables that best fit the model were sex (female), the presence of knee osteoarthritis, use of two or more medications, being a smoker, having a high BMI and poor performance in the HGS, STS and balance tests.

The present study also revealed that early physical-functional performance tests, i.e., in middle age, increased the discriminative power of at-risk subjects in 16 years of follow-up¹⁶. These findings underscore the importance of encouraging older people to participate in multimodal physical training programs, regardless of their physical condition. Above average physical performance can act as a "physical reserve," allowing older people to respond adequately to stressful events²⁷.

The benefits of physical training alone in psychological variables, such as fear of falls, for example, are controversial. According to Whipple et al.28, multiple interventions are most effective in reducing the fear of falls, especially when involving multimodal physical training and cognitive behavioral intervention. Freiberger et al.²⁹ conducted a randomized clinical trial to evaluate the effect of three different interventions on older adults with a history of falls and fear of falls. All interventions consisted of exercises of muscular resistance and balance, and were differentiated with a third component: a) strength and balance: intensity of the exercises progressively increased, b) fitness: addition of aerobic endurance and c) multiple intervention: addition of education on risk factors for falls and cognitive behavioral training. The authors observed improved lower limb mobility and strength (except for the multiple intervention group) after six months of follow-up. However, no change was observed for measures related to knowledge of risk factors and fear of falls. In contrast, Siegrist et al.³⁰ found positive effects on balance and fear of falling in older adults in primary care after 16 weeks of multiple intervention (physical exercise combined with educational activities). As in the study by Freiberger et al.29, there was no improvement in fear of falls (FES-I) in the present work. On the other hand, the multiple intervention group showed greater knowledge about the risk factors of falls than the other groups after the intervention, contrary to the results of these authors²⁹.

As well as other risk factors for falls recognized in literature, Moreira et al.³¹ showed that poor knowledge about risk factors (assessed by the FRAQ) was also associated with the history of falls in communitydwelling older adults. The authors observed that physical-functional performance and perception of risk factors were different between older adults with and without history of falls, regardless of age. Older adults with greater knowledge about risk factors and no history of falls also had better physical-functional and cognitive performance. According to Chehuen Neto et al.³², the older adults generally has little knowledge about falls, and does not recognize themselves as a vulnerable group. In this study, an inverse association was also observed between the perception of risk and the presence of household risk factors, suggesting lower exposure to risk of older adults with greater knowledge about falls.

In a systematic review, Campbell and Robertson³³ observed that for older adults in the community, isolated interventions are as effective as combined interventions. Factors contributing to the lack of additional effects of combined interventions include the poor adherence of the older adults, difficulties in implementing programs for the general population, and lack of recognition of the importance of programs for the older adults. According to Hill et al.³⁴, the older adults do not believe that such an approach can reduce falls and therefore strategies aimed at raising awareness that falls can be preventable rather than unpredictable, thus contradicting the idea that nothing can be done in terms of falls, may be a facilitating measure for adherence to prevention programs and, consequently, for the prevention of future events. In this sense, Schepens et al.9 found positive effects of educational methods for the prevention of falls, and improved knowledge of the older adults regarding risk and preventive behavior. The present study partly agrees with these authors⁹, since the multiple intervention group, which participated in the educational activities, had increased knowledge about risk factors. However, the impact of these activities on preventive behavior has not been evaluated.

Finally, the present study has some limitations that should be pointed out. Initially, the study was designed as a randomized clinical trial, also 10 of 12

involving a group submitted only to an educational intervention. However, the older adults allocated in this group had low adherence to the proposed activities, making it clear to the researchers that the greatest interest of the older adults was to participate in physical training groups.

Another important limitation concerns the study sample. Older adults participants in U3As are very active and, therefore, perform well in physical and functional tests. In combination with poorly sensitive testing for younger, highly-performing older adults, the results of the interventions may have been underestimated. According to Bergquist et al.³⁵, most physical-functional tests have a ceiling effect on younger, more active older people, making early identification of declines difficult. The Community Balance and Mobility scale seems to be a more

REFERENCES

- Ambrose AF, Paul G, Hausdorff JM. Risk factors for falls among older adults: a review of the literature. Maturitas. 2013;75(1):51-61.
- 2. Florence CS, Bergen G, Atherly A, Burns E, Stevens J, Drake C. Medical costs of fatal and nonfatal falls in older adults. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2018;66(4):693-8.
- Pimentel WRT, Pagotto V, Stopa SR, Hoffmann MCCL, Andrade FB, Souza Junior PRB, et al. Falls among Brazilian older adults living in urban areas: ELSI-Brazil. Rev Saúde Pública. 2018;52(Suppl 2):1-9.
- Gillespie LD, Robertson MC, Gillespie WJ, Sherrington C, Gates S, Clemson LM, et al. Interventions for preventing falls in older people living in the community. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;(9):1-4.
- Sherrington C, Michaleff ZA, Fairhall N, Paul SS, Tiedemann A, Whitney J, et al. Exercise to prevent falls in older adults: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Sports Med. 2017;51(24):1750-8.
- Cheng P, Tan L, Ning P, Li L, Gao Y, Wu Y, et al. Comparative effectiveness of published interventions for elderly fall prevention: a systematic review and network meta-analysis. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018;15(3):498-14.
- Guirguis-Blake JM, Michael YL, Perdue LA, Coppola EL, Beil TL. Interventions to prevent falls in older adults. JAMA. 2018;319(16):1705-12.

sensitive option for this group, although it has not yet been validated for the Brazilian population. Finally, due to the involvement in different activities within the U3A, the influence of other activities on the variables studied can also not be excluded, thus characterizing a significant study bias.

CONCLUSION

The multiple intervention, involving physical exercises and educational activities, brought additional benefits to the older adults participants of the Open University for the Third Age studied. In addition to improved balance, older adults in the multiple intervention group showed greater knowledge about risk factors for falls after the followup period, which may be helpful in implementing strategies for reducing risk behaviors in daily life.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

- 8. Goodwin VA, Abbott RA, Whear R, Bethel A, Ukoumunne OC, Thompson Coon J, et al. Multiple component interventions for preventing falls and fallrelated injuries among older people: systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Geriatr. 2014;14(1):1-8.
- Schepens SL, Panzer V, Goldberg A. Randomized controlled trial comparing tailoring methods of multimedia-based fall prevention education for community-dwelling older adults. Am J Occup Ther. 2011;65(6):702-9.
- Vieira ND, Testa D, Ruas PC, Salvini TF, Catai AM, Melo RC. The effects of 12 weeks Pilates-inspired exercise training on functional performance in older women: a randomized clinical trial. J Bodywork Mov Ther. 2017;21(2):251-8.
- Almeida OP, Almeida SA. Confiabilidade da versão brasileira da Escala de Depressão em Geriatria (GDS) versão reduzida. Arq Neuropsiquiatr. 1999;57(2B):421-6.
- Paradela E, Lourenço RA, Veras RP. Validação da escala de depressão geriátrica em um ambulatório geral. Rev Saúde Pública. 2005;39(6):918-23.
- Brucki SMD, Nitrini R, Caramelli P, Bertolucci PHF, Okamoto IH. Suggestions for utilization of the mini-mental state examination in Brazil. Arq Neuro-Psiquiatr. 2003;61(3B):777-81.

- de Melo DM, Barbosa AJG. O uso do Mini-Exame do Estado Mental em pesquisas com idosos no Brasil: uma revisão sistemática. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2015;20(12):3865-76.
- Northgraves MJ, Hayes SC, Marshall P, Madden LA, Vince RV. The test-retest reliability of four functional mobility tests in apparently healthy adults. Isokinet Exerc Sci. 2016;24:171-9.
- 16. Alexandre TDS, Corona LP, Nunes DP, Santos JLF, Duarte YAO, Lebrão ML. Gender differences in incidence and determinants of disability in activities of daily living among elderly individuals: SABE study. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2012;55(2):431-7.
- Boadella JM, Kuijer PP, Sluiter JK, Frings-Dresen MH. Effect of self-selected handgrip position on maximal handgrip strength. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2005;86(2):328-31.
- Mehmet H, Yang AWH, Robinson SR. What is the optimal chair stand test protocol for older adults?: a systematic review. Disabil Rehabil [Internet]. 2019 [acesso em 10 jul. 2019]. [Epub ahead of print]. Disponível em: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/ full/10.1 n080/09638288.2019.1575922
- Marques-Vieira CMA, Sousa LMM, Severino S, Sousa L, Caldeira S. Cross-cultural validation of the falls efficacy scale international in elderly: Systematic literature review. J Clin Geront Geriatr. 2016;7(3):72-6.
- Camargos FFO, Dias RC, Dias JMD, Freire MTF. Cross-cultural adaptation and evaluation of the psychometric properties of the Falls Efficacy Scale
 International Among Elderly Brazilians (FES-I-BRAZIL). Rev Bras Fisioter. 2010;14(3):237-43.
- Lopes AR, Trelha CS. Translation, cultural adaptation and evaluation of the psychometric properties of the Falls Risk Awareness Questionnaire (FRAQ): FRAQ-Brazil. Rev Bras Fisioter. 2013;17(6):593-605.
- 22. Bouaziz W, Lang PO, Schmitt E, Kaltenbach G, Geny B, Vogel T. Health benefits of multicomponent training programmes in seniors: a systematic review. Int J Clin Practice. 2016;70(7):520-36.
- 23. Melo RC, Santos CCN, Yassuda MS, Domingues MARC, Lopes A, Meire C. Desempenho físicofuncional e nível de atividade física de participantes da Universidade Aberta à Terceira Idade da Escola de Artes Ciências e Humanidades da Universidade de São Paulo (UnATI EACH-USP). Rev Kairós. 2012;15(7):129-54.
- 24. Lusardi MM, Fritz S, Middleton A, Allison L, Wingood M, Phillips E, et al. Determining risk of falls in community dwelling older adults. J Geriatr Phys Ther. 2017;40(1):1-36.

- 25. den Ouden MEM, Schuurmans MJ, Mueller-Schotte S, van der Schouw YT. Identification of high-risk individuals for the development of disability in activities of daily living. A ten-year follow-up study. Exp Gerontol. 2013;48(4):437-43.
- 26. Dodds RM, Kuh D, Sayer AA, Cooper R. Can measures of physical performance in mid-life improve the clinical prediction of disability in early old age? Findings from a British birth cohort study. Exp Gerontol. 2018;110:118-24.
- 27. Blain H, Carriere I, Sourial N, Berard C, Favier F, Colvez A, et al. Balance and walking speed predict subsequent 8-year mortality independently of current and intermediate events in well-functioning women aged 75 years and older. J Nutr Health Aging. 2010;14(7):595-600.
- Whipple MO, Hamel AV, Talley KMC. Fear of falling among community-dwelling older adults: a scoping review to identify effective evidence-based interventions. Geriatr Nurs. 2018;39(2):170-7.
- 29. 29. Freiberger E, Häberle L, Spirduso WW, Zijlstra GAR. Long-term effects of three multicomponent exercise interventions on physical performance and fall-related psychological outcomes in communitydwelling older adults: a randomized controlled trial. J Am Ger Soc. 2012;60(3):437-46.
- Siegrist M, Freiberger E, Geilhof B, Salb J, Hentschke C, Landendoerfer P, et al. Fall prevention in a primary care setting. Dtsch Arztebl Int. 2016;113(21):365-72.
- 31. Moreira NB, Rodacki ALF, Pereira G, Bento PCB. Does functional capacity, fall risk awareness and physical activity level predict falls in older adults in different age groups? Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2018;77:57-63.
- 32. Chehuen Neto JA, Braga NAC, Brum IV, Gomes GF, Tavares PL, Silva RTC, et al. Percepção sobre queda e exposição de idosos a fatores de risco domiciliares. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2018;23(4):1097-104.
- 33. Campbell AJ, Robertson MC. Rethinking individual and community fall prevention strategies: a metaregression comparing single and multifactorial interventions. Age Ageing. 2007;36(6):656-62.
- 34. Hill KD, Day L, Haines TP. What factors influence community-dwelling older people's intent to undertake multifactorial fall prevention programs? Clin Interv Aging. 2014;9:2045-53.
- 35. Bergquist R, Weber M, Schwenk M, Ulseth S, Helbostad JL, Vereijken B, et al. Performance-based clinical tests of balance and muscle strength used in young seniors: a systematic literature review. BMC Geriatr [Intermet]. 2019. [acesso em 10 jul. 2019];19(1):1-14. Disponível em: https://bmcgeriatr. biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12877-018-1011-0





Perceptions of the elderly on aging and violence in intrafamily relationships



Amanda Kuyawa² ঢ

Ana Carolina Bertoletti De Marchi¹ 回

Nadir Antonio Pichler¹

Abstract

Objective: To identify the different perceptions of the aging process and violence in intrafamilial relations of elderly participants of a social and coexistence group. *Method*: An exploratory and descriptive qualitative study was performed through the application of a sociodemographic questionnaire and a semi-structured interview, with seven elderly people participating in the Coexistence and Strengthening of Bonds social group. The results of the discourses were assessed through thematic content analysis. *Results*: The extraction into thematic units allowed the elaboration of two intertwined categories: *self-perception of the process of intrafamily aging* and *violence in the eyes of the elderly. Conclusion*: The elderly reported that the family is responsible for providing care, appreciation and understanding, and that the aging process brings new possibilities for coexistence, but it is also accompanied by weaknesses and limitations. They also indicated subtle practices of psychological, financial, and abandonment violence, making them impotent, ashamed, and fearful to adopt effective initiatives to restore cordial, ethical, and harmonious family relationships.

Keywords: Aging. Violence. Family. Health of the Elderly.



² Universidade de Passo Fundo (UPF), Programa de Graduação em Serviço Social.. Passo Fundo, RS, Brasil.

No funding was received in relation to the present study. The authors declare there are no conflicts of interest in relation to the present study.

Correspondence Nadir Antonio Pichler nadirp@upf.br

Received: March 08, 2019 Approved: August 16, 2019

INTRODUCTION

The growing process of population aging in various parts of the world is a demographic phenomenon that has repercussions for various dimensions of the social and individual sphere. Aging is a dynamic process, permeated by biological, physical, psychological, environmental, cultural and social modifications¹. In addition, "these multiple factors associated with the aging process interact and regulate both typical and atypical functioning of the aging individual"².

The concept of aging is dynamic. For Mucida³, "social discourse minimizes its complexity from denominations associated with the years lived by the person, social security contributions, years worked, the third age, among others". The author refers to the different ways of aging and the various perceptions of the process experienced by the individual, such as changes in image, in the body and in social ties that impact considerably on feelings.

The aging process of the population presents changes in the configuration of the elderly and their relationship with other people, both in the family and social environments. In this context, factors such as identity crisis, role changes and the impact of retirement stand out, in addition to the various losses experienced and a reduced social life. Health problems, coping in the sphere of public policy, the training of professionals to care for older people, among other aspects, are becoming more frequent².

In this context, an important debate to be addressed concerns the various forms of violence against the elderly, the most common of which are physical; psychological; sexual; financial and economic; neglect and abandonment^{4,5}. Among those mentioned, intrafamily violence is gradually getting worse, with repercussions for people's lives¹. The elderly can become victims of violence when they are dependent on their families in a range of aspects. Up to four generations are known to reside in the same household. Thus, facing the different demands associated with the presence of elderly people in the same family is a challenge, as there is practically no succession planning and little knowledge about the aging process in rural areas⁶.

Regardless of what is advocated by legislation⁷, it is within the family that affective bonds are established, and which is one of the main sources of protection and care for the elderly. The quality of the relationship between the elderly and their families depends on several factors, as Lafin⁸ points out: gender, housing, personal history and physical and mental health. It is understood that the more serious the problems, such as rejection and violence, the more difficult are the relationships and the ability to deal with weaknesses on the part of the elderly and their families⁹.

Violence against the elderly presents itself as a social, economic, cultural, health and family problem. For Rocha et al.,¹⁰ the neglect involved in the various forms of violence against the elderly is invisible and silent, in the physical, mental, financial and self-neglect spheres, treating them as if they were "disposable". Therefore, the first reactions of elderly victims of domestic violence are fear, shame and guilt, as they realize the failure of family relationships. Saidel and Campos¹¹ state that the victims seek to omit and even accept practices of violence as natural, "as if the elderly were to blame for the situation in which they find themselves".

For Minayo¹², violence in Brazil has historically been structured into nuclei: structural (inequality, poverty, deprivation, discrimination), institutional (inefficient public policies and rational/legal domination) and interpersonal (forms of communication and everyday relations of indifference). Consequently, many elderly persons are victims of these forms of violence, especially interpersonal violence, which erodes and produces suffering in the process of living and aging in intrafamily living. According to Beauvoir¹³, there is silent, subtle, hidden and stereotyped violence towards old age, considered normal by contemporary society.

The present study aimed to identify the different perceptions of the aging process and violence in the intrafamily relationships of elderly participants of an activity and social group. 2 of 8

METHOD

An exploratory and descriptive, qualitative research study was conducted in August 2016, in the interior of the state of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil. According to data from the Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (IBGE), this municipal district had a population of 2,196 people. Of this total, 364 were 60 years of age or older, making up 16.5% of the population¹⁴.

The study was conducted in a Coexistence and Strengthening of Bonds social group, linked to the Social Assistance Reference Center (or CRAS). This group consisted of 80 participants, who met once a month for study, debate and leisure. To achieve the objective of the study, seven people were selected, who had signs of recurrent intrafamilial violence and who had already been visited and monitored by the social services, with improvements in the family relationship.

A sociodemographic questionnaire (age, gender, income, marital status, home, retired and if lives with family) and semi-structured interview were used for data collection. The guiding questions for the interviews were: *How did you imagine your life at this stage? What is violence for you? How would you describe your relationship with your family? How would you describe your day to day life with your family?*

The inclusion criteria were: having previous knowledge of the work and care performed by the CRAS technical team and having suffered some kind of violence by family members in the last two years.

The interviews were conducted in a location defined by the participants, who mostly opted for their homes, had an average duration of 70 minutes, and were audio recorded and then transcribed. The information was synthesized by Bardin's content analysis¹⁵, by means of a skim reading, rereading, identification of repetitive positions, constants and the like; and then corroborated with the literature on the subject, mainly the Manual to Confront Violence Against the Elderly¹².

Finally, the discourses were grouped into categories by units of meeting. The elderly were

named with the letter P for participant, followed by sequential numbering: P1 to P7.

The study was approved by the Ethics Research Committee of the Universidade de Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, under opinion nº 1.661.297. All participants signed a Free and Informed Consent Form (FICF).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The ages of the participants ranged from 64 to 77 years, six were married with children, retired and resided in their own home or with family. Four lived in the rural area and three in the urban area of the municipal district. The average monthly income of respondents was one minimum wage. Based on the results of the interviews and following content analysis, two categories emerged: *Self-perception of the intrafamily aging process* and *Violence in the eyes of the elderly*.

Self-perception of the intrafamily aging process

The aging process occurs in various ways, with each individual perceiving their aging in a particular and individual way. According to Mucida³, there is no old age per se, but different ways "in which it presents itself." For elderly people living in a small town in the interior of Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, of rural origin and characteristics, such perceptions are even more distinct. Culture, identity, education, family relationships and religiosity affect the way of being and seeing in the world.

The participants confirmed these different ways of seeing the world. P1 expressed himself in a positive manner, reporting that he had always seen himself as a doting grandfather. He revealed that he had not been as affectionate with his own children as he has with his grandchildren. This statement may be an indication that the elderly seek to compensate for the probable lack of love felt by their own children, as "it is really nice to be a grandfather and have them [grandchildren] around" (P1).

The role of the family is fundamental at any stage of life and becomes relevant during two distinct periods: in childhood and adolescence and in old age. When analyzing the family institution, it appears to present constant structural transformations, such as the reorganization of the responsibilities of primary providers based on care needs, in the case of the elderly^{4-6,13,16}.

The aging process and advanced age emerged in the discourse of the participants, with P2, P3, P4 and P5 demonstrating that time, age, autonomy and independence are intrinsically connected to the historical and cultural context, revealing contradictory feelings, such as fear of loneliness, insecurity, dependence and the projection of aging with more dignity and happiness. Regarding this issue, one of the participants said:

> "I couldn't wait to reach old age, so I would have fun, I would go out, I would be happier. [But] I'm always alone. I have my husband, but he works a lot, away from home". (P4)

The study developed by Menezes et al.¹⁷, with 20 participants over 60 years of age, found that "the elderly are increasingly active and participative in today's society", making them, despite the difficulties of life, happier "at this stage of life." For Minayo¹², character and lifestyle help the elderly to overcome existential contingencies and have self-esteem, confidence and self-care. This helps promote dignity in old age by sharing the belief in building a better society for all with adults and young people.

The participants also revealed that the aging process was rewarding, with participation in social groups. This space of social insertion and sociability was an alternative to escaping loneliness, the absence of children (P5, P7) and overcoming obstacles with partners, as attested in two statements:

> "I always imagined that I was going to take part in the seniors group, and I couldn't wait to turn 55 so I could go, talk, have fun". (P6)

> "I have no sons or grandsons living with me. My husband drank a lot. I was suffering, I had very serious depression, for no reason. It was because I was alone". (P4)

Most of the older people who participate in social groups are women. Even before the age of 60, many are determined and intent on joining a group because they are welcomed, listened to and gain a new space to develop self-care. These reciprocal exchanges contributed to the intertwining of thoughts and new life projects, accompanied by listening, respect, dignity, new learning and the synthesizing of new meanings for their existence. Thus, they break with the patterns of domination to which they were probably submitted in life, an attitude capable of generating autonomy, independence and strengthening⁹. The group also represents a motivational space for facing daily difficulties, exchanging experiences and seeking understanding of oneself and others^{1,2,5}.

It is important to present the results of the study by the anthropologist Leo Simmons, cited by Minayo¹², regarding the life expectancy of elderly people from 71 indigenous societies, summarized in the following statements: Live as long as possible, concluding life with dignity and without suffering, in need of care due to the progressive decrease of your capabilities, as well as being able to participate in community decisions and having access to "social achievements and prerogatives such as properties, authority and respect".

Violence in the eyes of the elderly

The participants reported their perceptions and understandings of violence, according to their experiences. Among the forms of violence that emerged explicitly and implicitly are psychological and financial.

P1 and P2 reported that they had two daughters and that the family experience generated suffering, causing psychological violence. Even trying to minimize such hostile relationships, they revealed helplessness due to enmity among their daughters, absence, separation, and little money from one of them:

> "One thing has upset me already, but I never took it seriously. My daughters never answered me, they always respected me a lot. [...]. I miss her. My

daughter was widowed and had no money because her late husband spent it on parties, drink, and a car. And now she has nothing. She has only the house and her husband never paid INSS. She has no pension and she doesn't get along with her sister. [...]. We can't always call because everything is so expensive" (P1).

"We live in the basement of one of the daughters and I would be so happy if they were both close, living harmoniously, [but I'm] living and fighting to have my daughters here" (P2).

Violence against the elderly presents itself as a social, economic, cultural, health and family problem. For Minayo¹² there are three major prejudices that generate violence against the elderly: disease, decay and the understanding of their condition as a problem. "In fact these three negative myths are intertwined and potentiate violence." For Beauvoir¹³, considering the elderly person as inactive and passive, especially deprived of liberty, is a form of violence.

There are several forms of aggression against the elderly, the most frequent of which are physical, financial, psychological, sexual, neglect and abandonment, especially psychological aggression, as it causes insecurity and fear for the elderly^{13,15,16}. Saidel and Campos¹¹ describe long-term psychic suffering "as like a chronic condition," followed by exhaustion, tiredness, and intolerance. An existence marked by such conflicts on a daily basis involves the living and aging of the elderly person as a whole, as a body, community and environment, and in the biological, social, psychic and spiritual dimensions, with all their multidimensionalities^{1,2,9,12}. Thus, P4 conceives violence in an extreme manner. He claims he was never a victim, but mentions and positions himself in relation to money as follows:

> "I don't like violence, nor even talking about it, I can't sleep when I think about it. Violence for me is killing, stealing, beating. She says her husband respects her, and even when he got drunk he never said anything. [But] in terms of my money, sometimes they ask me for it (the children), and I give it to them, but because I want to, they never made me give them money" (P4).

From the same perspective, participant P5 stated that she had never suffered violence. She had six children, one of whom was deceased. She says she has lived with one son and her daughter-in-law for five years (then she paused). However, she revealed that in the early days, when the couple had a small baby, the daughter-in-law would not let her pick her up. Only when her son came home from work did he "take the baby and put her on my lap; she wouldn't give it to me but now she's got better, but when she makes mate tea she won't offer me one if her husband isn't around" (P5).

This same interviewee also said that her daughterin-law did not allow her to prepare meals and "she would not let me do anything". But now, recently, she lets her cook and do her own laundry, apart from the "bedclothes, that's right, they're the ones who wash me". This change in her daughter-in-law's behavior occurred after the "CRAS social worker held a meeting with them". The elderly woman believed that the improvement was due to the "social worker talking to them and telling them how it is". The social worker helped establish an understanding of what seemed to be exploitative. According to the elderly women, the money she offered, she gave "to them with pleasure [..]. I gave R\$500 to buy food, of the rest I spend a lot on doctors and medicine. She (daughter-in-law) never judged me for not doing things, she gets everything ready in the sink and I cook. But she has changed a lot" (P5).

Tavares et al.¹⁸ describes how many of these relationships are not established in a peaceful and harmonious manner, "such as in the case of retired elderly persons who are exploited and subjected to violence or are abandoned by their families." In this sense, among the main results in the study, it was found that: a) 80% of the elderly were responsible for at least half of their family's income; b) family dependence is related to problems such as unemployment, low pay, unplanned pregnancy, divorce and other events; c) due to their pensions, they assume new roles in the family; d) contributing to the material maintenance of their families is considered an obligation for the elderly, as a show of gratitude for the care received.

Based on the reports of the participants, there is a perception of the role reversal of the elderly in relation to their children. Instead of being cared for, it is the elderly who continue to care for their children and grandchildren. Therefore, the bonds of affection, love and care fall short of the expectations of the elderly parents. For Mucida³, when the health of the elderly person requires care, there is an inversion of the caregiver and the care recipient. One of the causes of this lies in the absence of cordial relationships and indifference between parents and children during life and the "tendency for children to be absent when the elderly depend on them". In this sense, according to Minayo¹², in intrafamily living there are many prejudices, manifested in expressions such as: "they are a burden"; "they are unproductive"; "they are sick"; "they spend a lot"; "the resources for their retirement would be better spent if they went to young people".

For P6, violence is an evil. He initially stated that he did not give his son money but paid his bills. He describes how "then I had to sell a small piece of land to pay one of my son's bills at the bank, [...] if he didn't pay, he could have lost everything". The old man paid the debt and the son did not return the money. But "today, he doesn't ask for money, I give him a little money to pay for the water and the electricity, since he lives with me. At home I help do the laundry, make lunch and take care my grandson".

For Santos-Orlandi et al.¹⁶, in Brazil and other countries, it has become common for the elderly to take care of their grandchildren, due to their children's financial difficulties. However, this seemingly charitable practice is accompanied by depressive signs; isolation; physical and mental suffering; cognitive changes; arterial hypertension; weight loss; physical inactivity; fatigue; low grip strength; slow gait, "negatively impacting the caregiver's quality of life". Moreover, there is a fear among children that grandparents will interfere too much in the education of their grandchildren. However, this financial dependence is increasingly frequent and recurrent. In the same study, "most of the older caregivers were female" and belonged to the 60 to 69 years old age group".

Another aspect of violence emerged in the discourse of P7. She revealed that her husband is an alcoholic and sought help from social services. She tried to persuade her husband to seek support from an alcoholic support group, but he didn't accept it, because "I don't want him to die. He is a family man, we did everything, [...] he had lost his head. But in my prayers, [...] I got everything I wanted, and he became a family man again overnight." With professional help, her husband stopped drinking and she says that if "he had gone to the alcoholics, he would have hated me and his children." The interviewee is also responsible for paying for the monthly shopping to support the family and her husband pays for water and electricity, and the money left over from them both is deposited in the bank. She has five children, but only one, the youngest, lives with his parents. As he was getting married, they were transferring the property to him because "he will take care of us. They are building a house near us".

In the situations reported, it is clear that the elderly feel insecure and afraid of abandonment or violence. For Saidel and Campos¹¹, "guilt and anguish and even stress, aggression and sadness" are recurrent situations of violence in the lives of elderly family members. And the financial situation of families, as well as the transfer of land from parent to child, often does not occur in a fair, ethical and friendly manner. Sharing "the same roof as your father" and taking over "the role after [...] the physical strength of the parents is exhausted, [as] they concede the care of the establishment to their children", requires adaptation and resilience and can be frustrating, "creating conflicts that are difficult to resolve"⁶.

The study by Honnef et al.¹⁹, with 16 rural elderly persons from two municipal districts in Rio Grande do Sul, through interviews, showed that domestic violence is a complex social representation, with unequal relationships between men and women, affected by the "sexual division of labor, physical and psychological violence against women as a means of maintaining male dominance over them". Moreover, it is evident that many elderly persons feel abandoned and their financial resources are used by their children. The aging process transforms daily life, family ties and the future of the elderly. In new family configurations, subtle forms of indifference and disrespect may occur implicitly. This is the case of P1 and P2, who lived in a house and did not intend to leave. The youngest daughter proposed to "take responsibility for" her parents but put them out of their home. P1 revealed that now children generally,

> "Don't pay much attention to their parents, because we don't speak nicely, we are simple and all this generates violence. I treat it all as a joke, I don't care anymore, it goes in one ear and out the other. If I keep everything, I'll end up suffering much more".

The study by Guedes et al.²⁰ showed that the relationship between gender, age and social conditions are determining factors in the experience of physical and psychological violence with the elderly, mainly practiced by family members. Thus, according to Minayo¹², one of the causes of the highest incidence of violence against the elderly is that 90% of them live in the family environment.

It is noteworthy that intrafamily violence involving the elderly is a recurrent, hidden and silent problem^{9,21,22}. Therefore, further studies and an expansion of the sample of rural elderly persons are required to understand the issue systematically and propose alternatives to overcome the problem in a family, social and institutional context.

CONCLUSION

The results of the study show that the elderly conceived the process of aging in intrafamily living as positive and rewarding, with the possibility of playing with their grandchildren and participating in social groups, as a form of social insertion and sociability to overcome the loneliness of the absence of their children. They also mentioned that time, age, autonomy and independence are intrinsically connected to the historical and cultural context and may, on the one hand, reveal contradictory feelings, such as fear of loneliness, insecurity, fragility and dependence and, on the other, the projection of aging with more dignity and happiness. Regarding family experiences, they reported that the family is responsible for caring for, valuing and understanding the elderly and also indicated subtle and implicit practices of psychological, financial and abandonment, often feeling powerless and ashamed to take effective initiatives aimed at restoring cordial, ethical and harmonious family relationships.

The study also permitted an insight into the problem of domestic violence from the perspective of the elderly, who are often victims of aggression. One of the ways that the elderly find to open up, unburden themselves and find possible alternatives to the suffering they experience is in social and welcome groups.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- Sá JLM, Doll J, Oliveira JFP, Herédia VBM. Multidimensionalidade do envelhecimento e interdisciplinaridade. In: Freitas EV, Py L. Tratado de Geriatria e gerontologia. 4. ed. Rio de Janeiro: Guanabara Koogan; 2016. p. 107-8.
- Campos ACV, Ferreira EF, Vargas AMD. Determinantes do envelhecimento ativo segundo a qualidade de vida e gênero. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2015;20:2221-37.
- Mucida A. Atendimento psicanalítico do idoso. São Paulo: Zagodoni; 2014.
- Guimarães APS, Górios C, Rodrigues CL, Armond JE. Notification of intrafamily violence against elderly women in the city of São Paulo. Rev Bras Geriatr Gerontol. 2018;21(1):1-7.
- Minayo MCS, Souza ER, Silva MMA, Assis SG. Institutionalizing the theme of violence within Brazil's national health system: progress and challenges. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2018;23(6);2007-2016.
- Silva DF, Ribeiro ML, Duval HC, Ferrante VLSB. As dificuldades de "passar o bastão": perspectivas da sucessão da propriedade entre produtores de comunidades rurais do município de Campos Gerais/ MG. Retr Assent. 2017;20(2):240-9.

- Brasil. Constituição (1988). Constituição da República Federativa do Brasil. Brasília, DF: Senado Federal: Centro Gráfico; 1988.
- Lafin SHF. As relações familiares e o idoso: algumas reflexões. In: Bulla LC, Argimon IIL, Org. Convivendo com o familiar idoso. Porto Alegre: Edipucrs; 2009. p. 56-9.
- Gerino E, Caldarera AM, Curti L, Brustia P, Rollè L. Intimate Partner Violence in the Golden Age: Systematic Review of Risk and Protective Factors. Front Psychol. 2018;9:1-14.
- Rocha RC, Côrtes MCJW, Dias EC, Gontijo ED. Veiled and revealed violence against the elderly in Minas Gerais, Brazil: analysis of complaints and notifications. Saúde Debate. 2018;42(4):81-94.
- Saidel MGB, Campos CJG. Family of older adults with mental disorder: perception of mental health professionals. Rev Bras Enferm. 2017;70(4):753-60.
- 12. Brasil. Secretaria de Direitos Humanos da Presidência da República. (SDH/PR) Manual de enfrentamento à violência contra a pessoa idosa: é possível prevenir; é necessário superar. Brasília,DF: Secretaria de Direitos Humanos da Presidência da República; 2013.
- Beauvoir S. A velhice. Tradução Monteiro MHF. Rio de Janeiro: Nova Fronteira; 1990.
- Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatística, Ministério do Planejamento, Orçamento e Gestão. Cidades [Internet]. Rio de Janeiro: IBGE; 2017 [acesso em 22 abr. 2019]. Disponível em: https:// cidades.ibge.gov.br/brasil/rs/santo-antonio-dopalma/ panorama

- Bardin L. Análise de Conteúdo. 4. ed. Tradução Pinheiro LA. São Paulo: Edições 70; 2016.
- Orlandi AAS, Brito TRP, Ottaviani AC, Rossetti ES, Zazzetta MS, Gratão ACM, et al. Profile of older adults caring for other older adults in contexts of high social vulnerability. Esc Anna Nery. 2017;21(1):1-8.
- Menezes JN, Costa MPM, Iwata ACNS, Araujo PM, Oliveira LG, et al. A visão do idoso sobre o seu processo de envelhecimento. Rev Contexto Saúde. 2018;18(35):8-12.
- Tavares VO, Teixeira KMD, Wajnman S, Loreto MDS. Interfaces entre a renda dos idosos aposentados rurais e o contexto familiar. Textos & Contextos. 2011;10(1):94-108.
- Honnef F, Costa MC, Arboit J, Silva EB, Marques KA. Representações sociais da violência doméstica em cenários rurais para mulheres e homens. Acta Paul Enferm. 2017;30(4):368-74.
- 20. Guedes DT, Alvarado BE, Phillips SEP, Curcio CL, Zunzunegui MV, Guerra RO. Socioeconomic status, social relations and domestic violence (DV) against elderly people in Canada, Albania, Colombia and Brazil. Arch Gerontol Geriatr. 2015;60(3):492-500.
- 21. Belisário MS, Dias FA, Pegorari MS, Paiva MM, Ferreira PCS, Corradini FA, et al. Cross-sectional study on the association between frailty and violence against community-dwelling elderly people in Brazil. Sao Paulo Med J. 2018;136(1):10-9.
- Calvo MR, Mendoza CG, León TG, Llopis AA, Duran YD, Álvarez PR. Violencia intrafamiliar en el adulto mayor. Rev Arch Med Camagüey 2018;22(2):204-13.





Depressive symptoms in older adults in basic health care

Gesualdo Gonçalves de Abrantes¹ 🗩

Geovana Gomes Souza¹ 🔟

Nilza Maria Cunha² 몓

Hélder Novais Barreto da Rocha³ 👳

Antonia Oliveira Silva⁴ ©

Selene Cordeiro Vasconcelos² 回

Abstract

Objective: To identify depressive symptoms in older adults treated in primary care. Method: A descriptive-exploratory cross-sectional quantitative study was conducted with 260 older adults registered with Family Health Units in João Pessoa, Paraíba, Brazil. A sociodemographic instrument and the Geriatric Abridged Depression Scale (GDS-15) were applied. Descriptive analysis summarized the variables through percentages and number of participants. Results: There was a prevalence of older adults aged 60-70 years (n=154; 59.2%), who were female (n=186; 71.5%) and had a low educational level (n=89; 34.2%). The GDS-15 revealed that 195 (75.0%) of the older adults had no depressive symptoms. It was observed that 219 (84.2%) older adults were satisfied with their lives, 198 (76.1%) felt happy most of the time, 194 (74.6%) were in a good mood most of the time, 236 (90.8%) reported feeling hope in their lives and 248 (95.4%) mentioned feeling that it was wonderful to be alive. In addition, 135 (51.9%) older adults preferred to go out rather than stay at home, 180 (69.2%) felt full of energy, and 226 (86.9%) considered themselves useful people, although 112 older adults (43.0%) had interrupted many of their activities and 141 (54.2%) feared that something bad would happen. Conclusion: Primary Health Care is responsible for the screening of depressive symptoms in older adults to implement actions to protect and promote the health of this population. It is a guiding strategy of the care process, aimed at stimulating active aging and autonomy, as well as the prevention of health problems. This study contributes to reflections on the importance of public policies and good practices in the care of older adults.

Correspondence Selene Cordeiro Vasconcelos selumares@gmail.com Keywords: Geriatric Psychiatry. Public Health. Primary Health Care. Mental Health. Depression.

> Received: February 12, 2019 Approved: September 28, 2019

¹ Universidade Federal da Paraíba, Departamento de Enfermagem. João Pessoa, PB, Brasil.

² Universidade Federal da Paraíba, Departamento de Enfermagem em Saúde Coletiva. João Pessoa, PB, Brasil.

³ Faculdade Instituto de Desenvolvimento Educacional, Movimente Wellness. Recife, PE, Brasil.

⁴ Universidade Federal da Paraíba, Instituto Paraibano de Envelhecimento. João Pessoa, PB, Brasil.

Research Funding: Scientific Research Mentorship Program - Universidade Federal da Paraíba – Coordination for the Improvement of Higher Education Personnel (UFPB-CAPES). Edital 2017 PIBIC/PIVIC - UFPB/CNPq. The authors declare there are no conflicts of interest involved in this study

INTRODUCTION

Depression is highly significant contemporary social problem, and an issue that must be discussed and reflected upon from different conceptual perspectives in order to obtain a broader knowledge and understanding that can guide decision making in clinical practice.

Depression is conceptualized by the World Health Organization¹ as a common mental disorder characterized by sadness, loss of motivation, lack of pleasure and oscillations between feelings of guilt and low self-esteem. In addition to sleep or appetite disorders, it causes social and psychological harm, affecting autonomy, freedom and lifestyle, and is related to the aggravation of chronic diseases and impairments to the physical and mental performance and social life of the individual². Behavioral changes may be the first sign of a possible diagnosis of affective disorders³.

The aging process is a set of several interrelated physiological, morphological, biochemical and emotional changes, which are progressive and gradual and marked by motor and sensory losses, and which make individuals more vulnerable and susceptible to diseases, causing damage to their functionality⁴. Decline in physical health is considered the main risk factor for depression, and is related to disability and greater dependence⁵.

Depression is one of the most prevalent chronic diseases in old age, and is related to increased morbidity and mortality, deficits in self-care and low adherence to treatments. It becomes a public health problem due to its individual, family and social repercussions, which include, in addition to financial costs, the use of health services and the decrease in quality of life⁶. However, older adults can perceive themselves as healthy and socially active when they can fulfill their expectations and plans through daily activities, building positive attitudes and images about old age⁷.

Based on the above, it appears that aging is a natural process of the life cycle, which is both complex and multifaceted. At the same time it is considered to be a period of loss, and a moment of

discovery, opportunity and change towards an active and healthy aging. However, respect and care should be encouraged, according to the demands and needs of older adults. The present study therefore aimed to identify depressive symptoms in older adults being treated in primary care.

METHOD

An observational, descriptive-exploratory, crosssectional study with a quantitative approach was carried out, following the guidelines proposed by the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) document. It was implemented in Family Health Units (FHU) attached to Health District II in the city of João Pessoa, Paraíba, Brazil, from August to December 2017.

Sample size calculation was performed using the R software package, with a 5% margin of error, a 95% reliability that the margin was not exceeded and an expected prevalence of 50%, in order to obtain a value that maximized the sample size, based on a registered population in these units of 394 older adults. The final sample comprised 260 such adults.

The inclusion criteria were: older adults registered in the health units surveyed, regardless of gender. The exclusion criteria were any physical or mental conditions that made it difficult to understand the research instruments, a situation subjectively assessed by the research team throughout the interview.

The sample was selected at random and for convenience, with the selection of the older adults based on the medical records of the families registered in the health units, and subsequent recruitment through prior contact with the community health agents who organized the home visits for the carrying out of the research.

Data collection was preceded by the training of the research team through study meetings and discussions on the theme and instruments, as well as the simulation of the application of instruments among the participants. However, supervision by the advisor professor was required during the first two data collections. A sociodemographic questionnaire, developed by the research team, was used to characterize the profile of the participants, as well as the Abbreviated Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15). These instruments were applied among the participants by three research students, with an approximate duration of 40 minutes. A friendly and conducive space for reception and conversation and was provided, and the sessions were carried out when all the patients were receiving treatment. Most of the older adults were accompanied by a family member or caregiver during the survey, and these individuals were told that they could not interfere with the interview.

The Abbreviated Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15), validated in Brazil, was used in the study. This tool investigates the presence of depressive symptoms and the worsening of symptoms in older adults, and consists of 15 questions with binary answers (yes or no). The scores produced range from 0 to 5, classifying the older adults as "no depressive symptoms", and 6 points and above, meaning "some depressive symptoms", with 5 considered the cutoff point⁸.

The sociodemographic data were tabulated and analyzed using the Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS), version 21.0, using descriptive statistics tools. The study complied with the ethical principles of Resolution n° 466/2012 of the National Health Council⁹, and was approved by the Ethics Committee for Research Involving Human Beings under opinion n° 2.190.153.

RESULTS

Most of the older adults were aged between 60 and 70 years old (n=154; 59.2%), female (n=186; 71.5%) and had low education levels (n=89; 34.2%) (Table 1).

The results from the analysis based on the Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15) showed that 195 (75.0%) older adults were classified as having "no depressive symptoms" (Table 2). However, 25 (9.6%) older adults with 5 points in the GDS-15 were identified, a score considered to be the cut-off point for this scale. This is of clinical significance as these individuals can be considered to be borderline between the absence and presence of depressive symptoms.

The analysis of the GDS-15 variables shows that 219 (84.2%) older adults said they were satisfied with their life, 193 (74.2%) did not find their life empty, 170 (65.4%) did not frequently get bored and 194 (74.6%) were in good spirits most of the time. However, 141 (54.2%) older people feared that something bad would happen to them (Table 3).

Variables	n (%)
Sex	
Male	74 (28.5)
Female	186 (71.5)
Age (years)	
60 to 70	154 (59.2)
71 to 80	75 (28.8)
81 to 90	26 (10.0)
91 or more	5 (2.0)
Schooling (years of study)	
No schooling	21 (8.1)
1 to 5	89 (34.2)
6 to 10	59 (22.7)
≥11	67 (25.8)
Did not respond	24 (9.2)

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristics of the older adults (N=260). João Pessoa, Paraíba, 2017.

Table 2. Depressive symptoms identified based on the Abbreviated Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS-15) (N=260). João Pessoa, Paraíba, 2017.

GDS-15 Points	n (%)
0 to 5: no depressive symptoms	195 (75.0)
\geq 6 or more: depressive symptoms	65 (25.0)
Total	260 (100.0)

Table 3.	Distribution	of responses	of older	adults to	the Abbreviated	Geriatric	Depression	Scale	(GDS-15)
(N=260).	João Pessoa,	Paraiba, 2017							

Variable	Yes	No
	n (%)	n (%)
1.Are you satisfied with your life?	219 (84.2)	41 (15.8)
2.Have you dropped many of your activities?	112 (43.1)	148 (56.9)
3.Do you feel that your life is empty?	67 (25.8)	193 (74.2)
4.Do you often get bored?	90 (34.6)	170 (65.4)
5.Are you in good spirits most of the time?	194 (74.6)	66 (25.4)
6. Are you afraid that something bad is going to happen to you?	141 (54.2)	119 (45.8)
7.Do you feel happy most of the time?	198 (76.1)	62 (23.8)
8.Do you often feel helpless?	39 (15.0)	221 (85.0)
9.Do you prefer to stay at home, rather than going out?	125 (48.1)	135 (51.9)
10.Do you feel you have more problems with memory than most people?	52 (20.0)	208 (80.0)
11.Do you feel it is wonderful to be alive?	248 (95.4)	12 (4.6)
12.Do you feel worthless?	34 (13.1)	226 (86.9)
13.Do you feel full of energy?	180 (69.2)	80 (30.8)
14.Do you feel that your situation is hopeless?	24 (9.2)	236 (90.8)
15. Do you think that most people are better off than you are?	67 (25.8)	193 (74.2)

It was observed that 198 (76.1%) older adults were happy most of the time, 39 (15.0%) felt helpless and 248 (95.4%) said they thought it was wonderful to be alive. In addition, 135 (51.9%) older adults preferred to stay at home, 180 (69.2%) felt energetic and 226 (86.9%) considered themselves useful, but 112 (43.0) %) such adults had dropped many of their activities.

DISCUSSION

The sociodemographic characteristics identified in this study corroborate the findings of another study¹⁰. The results showed a higher prevalence of older women, a phenomenon known as the feminization of old age, which occurs due to the longer life expectancy of women, related to lower exposure to risk and greater health care and services in Basic Health Units (BHU)¹¹.

Studies indicate that low levels of education are related to the occurrence of depressive symptoms in older adults, promoting reflections on the relationship between schooling and the ability to cope with depressive symptoms^{12,13}, guiding care actions aimed at the empowerment of these adults and co-responsibility for their health care.

Similarly, a study showed a difference in depressive symptoms depending on sex, with a higher prevalence of depressive symptoms in women¹⁴. Understanding the gender-related peculiarities of older adults may support specific care actions for this population.

The present study showed that the older adults were both satisfied with their lives and happy, illustrating that happiness is an important indicator of well-being, which may be a protective factor against depressive symptoms. However, a study conducted in Portugal with 119 older adults, 65.5% of whom were women and 34.5% of whom were men, with an average age of 78 years, identified another reality, composed of older people who were dissatisfied with their lives and described themselves as sad and anxious, aspects that were related to harm to their interpersonal, family and social relationships, quality of life and impairments of physical, mental and functional capacity³.

Feeling energetic can contribute to the acquisition of healthy habits, such as regular exercise, which promotes beneficial effects such as stress relief, due to the increased production of endorphins that act on nerve connections to control the internal environment and responses to the environment, increasing the ability to cope with environmental stress¹⁵. In addition, it is considered an aspect of active and healthy aging and part of the pursuit of improvements in overall health and protection against cognitive impairment¹⁶.

Almost all of the older adults in the study said that they felt it was *wonderful* to be alive, and that they felt useful and hopeful; attributes that enable activities that promote socialization and interpersonal relationships are important for quality of life and better mental health¹⁷. Such thoughts are essential individual tools for coping with depressive symptoms during any life cycle, especially during the aging process.

Some older adults in this study reported concern with memory problems, which represents another important aspect to be investigated by the primary care team, guiding actions to prevent depressive symptoms and promote mental health care¹⁸.

In this sense, investigations into the context in which older adults are inserted, their lifestyles and health-promoting behaviors are indispensable for the promotion of comprehensive care for this population. These aspects are considered attributes for physical and mental well-being, contributing to life satisfaction and engagement in activities aimed at a better quality of life, and which can delay or prevent the onset of depressive symptoms¹⁹.

The limitations of the present study include the research design, as a cross-sectional study reveals only a specific aspect of the reality investigated, as well as the difficulty in recruiting and accessing the older adults in their homes.

Based on the above, the main contributions of this study to geriatrics and gerontology are that it promotes reflections on the screening and monitoring of depressive symptoms in older adults, demonstrating that primary health care is an important scenario of care. Knowledge of the life context of older adults promotes a deeper understanding of aspects that permeate their lives, as well as their perception of factors related to depressive symptoms. Teaching and research also represent care strategies, based on the production of scientific evidence that can guide actions that promote and protect the health of older adults and their families, as well as specific referrals based on the findings.

CONCLUSION

The study identified the occurrence of depressive symptoms in older adults registered in family health units. The abbreviated geriatric depression scale showed that the older adults were satisfied with their own lives and that this satisfaction is related to healthy living, the practice of varied activities, leisure and an active memory. In addition, the older adults were found to be happy, participative, active and happy, who felt useful and among whom high spirits contributed to a feeling of hope.

An active life affects the quality of life and social life of an individual and contributes to the improvement of mental capacity. The present study identified the importance of implementing public policies and practices that promote well-being and healthy aging, as well as the screening and monitoring of depressive symptoms in older adults.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- 1. Organização Mundial de Saúde. Relatório Mundial de Envelhecimento e Saúde. Genebra: OMS; 2015.
- Siu AL, Bibbins-Domingo K, Grossman DC, Baumann LC, Davidson KW, Ebell M, et al. Screening for depression in adults: US Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. JAMA. 2016;315(4):380-7.
- 3. Martins RM. A depressão no idoso. Spectrum. 2016;(34):119-23.
- Menezes JNR, Costa MDPM, Iwata ACDNS, de Araujo PM, Oliveira LG, de Souza CGD, et al. A visão do idoso sobre o seu processo de envelhecimento. Rev Contexto Saúde. 2018;18(35):8-12.
- Prata HL, Alves Junior EDD, Paula FL, Ferreira SM. Envelhecimento, depressão e quedas: um estudo com os participantes do Projeto Prev-Quedas. Fisioter Mov. 2017;24(3):437-43.
- Luppa M, Sikorski C, Luck T, Ehreke L, Konnopka A, Wiese B, et al. Age-and gender-specific prevalence of depression in latest-life: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. 2012;136(3):212-21.
- Veloso LDSG, Veloso JAP, Miguel MDGD, Gouveia MLA, Colella TLA, Moreira MASP. Cognitive Capacity and Depressive Symptoms in Elderly People Attending the Primary Care Services. Rev Pesqui Cuid Fundam. 2018;10(4):1182-7.
- 8. Almeida OP, Almeida SA. Short versions of the geriatric depression scale: a study of their validity for the diagnosis of a major depressive episode according to ICD-10 and DSM-IV. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. 1999;14(10):858-65.
- Brasil. Conselho Nacional de Saúde. Resolução n0 466, de 12 de dezembro de 2012. Aprova Diretrizes e normas regulamentadoras de pesquisas envolvendo seres humanos. Diário Oficial da União. 13 jun. 2013; Seção 1: p. 59.
- Silva PAB, Santos FC, Soares SM, Silva LB. Sociodemographic and clinical profile of elderly persons accompanied by Family Health teams under the gender perspective. Rev Pesqui Cuid Fundam Online. 2018;10(1):97-105.

- Camargos MCS, Gonzaga MR. Viver mais e melhor?: estimativas de expectativa de vida saudável para a população brasileira. Cad Saúde Pública. 2015;31(7):1460-72.
- Brodaty H, Altendorf A, Withall A, Sachdev P. Do people become more apathetic as they grow older?: a longitudinal study in healthy individuals. Int Psychogeriatr. 2010;22:426-36.
- Groeneweg-Koolhoven I, de Waal MW, Van Der Weele GM, Gussekloo J, Van Der Mast RC. Quality of life in community-dwelling older persons with apathy. Am J Geriatr Psychiatry. 2014;22:186-94.
- 14. Mendes-Chiloff CL, Lima MCP, Torres AR, Santos JLF, Duarte YO, Lebrão ML, et al. Sintomas depressivos em idosos do município de São Paulo, Brasil: prevalência e fatores associados (Estudo SABE). Rev Bras Epidemiol. 2019;21:e180014 [16 p.].
- 15. Sanchez MA, Brasil JMM, Ferreira IAM. Benefícios de um programa de atividade física para a melhoria da qualidade de vida de idosos no estado do Rio de Janeiro. Rev Bras Ciênc Envelhec Hum. 2014;11(3):209-18.
- 16. da Silva JF, do Nascimento Júnior JRA, de Araújo APS, de Oliveira DV. Análise comparativa da qualidade de vida de idosas praticantes de exercícios físicos em centros esportivos e nas academias da terceira idade. Rev Bras Ciênc Envelhec Hum. 2016;13(3):285-98.
- Ferreira L, Roncada C, Tiggemann CL, Dias CP. Avaliação dos níveis de depressão em idosos praticantes de diferentes exercícios físicos. Conscientiae Saúde. 2014;13(3):405-10.
- Raymundo TM, Boligon B, Canales EB, Nascimento MXC, Bernardo LD. Treino cognitivo para idosos: uma estratégia interventiva utilizada pela Terapia Ocupacional. Rev Ocupación Hum. 2017;17(2):5-19.
- Marques JFS, de Sá SC, de Freitas Filho W, do Espírito Santo LR, de Prince KA, de Oliveira MVM. Transtorno depressivo maior em idosos não institucionalizados atendidos em um centro de referência. Arq Ciênc Saúde. 2017;24(4):20-4.





Coaching as a strategy for the health promotion of the elderly: a systematic review



Eraldo Schunk Silva² 回

Leonardo Pestillo de Oliveira³ D Rose Mari Bennemann³

Abstract

Objective: To evaluate the effect of the application of coaching on the health promotion of the elderly. Method: A systematic review was performed in the PubMed, MEDLINE and SciELO databases. The selection of articles followed the PRISMA guidelines, and the articles were published from 2008 to July 2018. The following descriptors were used: aged (idoso, anciano), elderly (idoso, anciano), coaching (tutoria, tutoría), mentoring (tutoria, tutoría) and health promotion (promoção da saúde, promoción de la salud). Boolean operators were used for all databases: (coaching OR mentoring) AND (health promotion) AND (aged OR elderly); (idoso) AND (tutoria OR coaching) AND (promoção da saúde); (anciano) AND (tutoría OR coaching) AND (promoción de la salud). Results: The final analysis included three articles. These evaluated coaching tools for changes in lifestyle and the reduction of health risks for the elderly. The results were positive, with a significant improvement in the quality of life (mental and physical), health status, goal attainment, self-efficacy and increased immunization of the evaluated elderly persons. Conclusion: The use of coaching in health promotion in elderly is still incipient, however, based on the results, health coaching proved to be an effective strategy to enable the elderly to reach the maximum potential of self-management in health.

Keywords: Health of the Elderly. Coaching. Health Promotion. Quality of Life.

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to this study. No funding was provided for this study.

Correspondence Graciele Reinert Casadei gracielerei@hotmail.com

Received: March 29, 2019 Approved: September 09, 2019

¹ Centro Universitário de Maringá (UNICESUMAR), Programa de Pós-graduação em Promoção da Saúde, Mestrado em Promoção da Saúde. Maringá, PR, Brasil.

² Universidade Estadual de Maringá (UEM), Departamento de Estatística (DES), Programa de Pósgraduação em Bioestatística. Maringá, PR, Brasil.

³ Centro Universitário de Maringá (UNICESUMAR), Programa de Pós-graduação em Promoção da Saúde, Produtividade em Pesquisa do Instituto Cesumar de Ciência, Tecnologia e Inovação (ICETI). Maringá, PR, Brasil.

INTRODUCTION

Coaching is an important strategy for encouraging personal development, and is a major driving force of responsibility, organization, quality of care, support and the affirmation of human potential. Its essence is the development of skills to achieve goals. Thus, coaching contributes to the sustainability of an organization and the growth of the individual, allowing managers to realize that constructive and proactive change generates emotionally intelligent leaders who seek improvement and the ability to overcome problems, promoting productivity and, consequently, quality of life¹.

The development of coaching has been exponential around the world, with the emergence of diverse schools, various lines of thought, different views, approaches and applications for varied markets and publics². One of the modalities of coaching is health coaching, which is a health intervention aimed at helping the individual to set goals that promote health, such as changes in behavior and lifestyle to reduce health risks and improve quality of life³. In other words, health coaching helps patients find the motivation to initiate and maintain change by offering a variety of perspectives, and the recognition that various factors contribute to achieving goals⁴.

Some studies⁵⁻⁷ that have evaluated health coaching identified positive results regarding behavior and lifestyle changes such as increased physical activity, improved nutrition and the improved management of chronic diseases.

Each year nearly 58 million individuals reach the age of 60, so the aging of the world's population cannot be ignored, as it poses challenges to public health, particularly in health promotion⁸. The postponement of chronic illness and the effective management of existing diseases and disabilities among the elderly are important if a positive impact on the quality of life of this age group is to be achieved.

Based on the above, the present study aimed to evaluate, through a systematic review, the effect of the application of coaching on health promotion in older individuals.

METHOD

The selection of articles included in this systematic review followed the guidelines of the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyzes (PRISMA)⁹. The guiding question for the search was: *What effect does coaching have on the health promotion of the elderly?*

The PubMed database of the National Library of Medicine, Medical Literature Analysis and Retrieval System Online (MEDLINE) and the Scientific Electronic Library Online (SciELO) were used for the article search, which was carried out in July 2018, seeking articles published in Portuguese, Spanish and English between 2008 and July 2018. The Health Science Descriptors(or DeCS) were used, together with their equivalents in English from the Medical Subject Headings - MeSH list: aged (idoso, anciano); elderly (idoso, anciano); coaching (tutoria, tutoria); mentoring (tutoria, tutoria) and health promotion (promoção da saúde, promoción de la salud). Boolean operators were applied in all the databases: (coaching OR mentoring) AND (health promotion) AND (aged OR elderly); (idoso) AND (tutoria OR coaching) AND (promoção da saúde) and (anciano) AND (tutoría OR coaching) AND (promoción de la salud).

As eligibility criteria the review included articles that were available free and in full; which employed health coaching, regardless of the tool and delivery method (in person, by telephone or via the internet); conducted with older adults (age ≥ 60 years); and which evaluated the effect of the application of coaching on the promotion of health among the elderly. Duplicate articles were excluded, as well as those unavailable online; abstracts and reviews.

For the selection and evaluation of articles, an instrument was developed containing the following variables: authorship; year; country of publication; type of study; number of participants; age range; statistic; intervention period; objectives; type of coaching delivery; coaching tool used and results achieved.

Four phases were selected for article selection: 1) identification of articles in the databases; 2) screening for inclusion and exclusion of studies by reading of the titles and abstracts; 3) full reading of the selected articles; 4) final selection of articles that met the systematic review eligibility criteria.

The articles identified by the search strategy were independently evaluated by two researchers.

RESULTS

The search resulted in 317 publications, 178 (56.2%) in PubMED, 139 (43.8%) in MEDLINE and zero (0%) in SciELO. From the titles and abstracts of the articles, 42 articles met the eligibility criteria, of which 21 were removed as they were duplicates, i.e. articles found in the MEDLINE database were also indexed in PubMED (Figure 1).

After reading the full texts of the 21 pre-selected articles, 18 studies were excluded: ten for including participants under 60 years of age, six for describing future or ongoing research protocols and two which did not fully address the objectives of the review (Table 1). In the end, three studies met the eligibility criteria and comprised the results of this review (Chart 2) years.

Chart 2 describes the articles selected and included in the review. The selected articles were published in years 2016 (n=1) and 2017 (n=2). The countries in which the surveys were conducted were: the Netherlands, South Korea, and the USA. The average age of the older adults ranged from 64.7 to 80.9 years. The studies were developed as randomized controlled trials, with the presence of intervention and control groups. The number of participants ranged from 90 to 18,107. The t and Chi-square tests were mainly used for statistical analysis.



Figure 1. Flowchart of article selection. Maringá, Paraná, 2018.

Author, year, country of publication	Number of participants, age group, delivery method	Intervention period, objectives	Exclusion, reason
Clark et al., 2011, USA ¹⁰	N= 470 Patients ≥65 years Telephone coaching	Intervention: 48 months. Evaluate an intervention (SENIOR II Project) to promote the maintenance of both exercise and healthy eating in the elderly.	Article removed from review as described in progress or future research protocol.
Long et al., 2012, USA ¹¹	Group 1: control n= 39; 60 (±4) years Group 2: telephone monitoring n= 39; 60 (±5) years Group 3: financial intervention n= 40; 59 (±5) years Telephone coaching	Intervention: six months. Assess whether mentors or financial incentives help African American veterans improve their glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) levels.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.
Patja et al., 2012, Finland ¹²	DM2 Intervention group: $n=770$; 64.6 (\pm 9.4) years Control group: $n=359$; 65.6 (\pm 9.5) years CAD intervention group: $n=172$; 65.4 (\pm 9.4) years Control group: $n=97$; 66.0 (\pm 8.6) years CHF intervention group: $n=92$; 67.3 (\pm 7.9) years Control group: $n=45$; 62.4 (\pm 7.7) years Telephone coaching	Intervention: 12 months. To evaluate the health effect of C on clinical outcomes (risk determinants) in three patient groups: CHF, CAD and DM2.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.
Sahlen et al., 2013, Sweden ¹³	N= 1.509 Intervention group: n= 1,132 Control group: n= 377 Age between 60 and 75 years Coaching in person and by telephone	Intervention: 18 months. Assess whether health C, in terms of motivational interviewing and a range of activities, will contribute to positive lifestyle and health changes among older people at risk for cardiovascular disease, diabetes or mild depression.	Article removed from review as described in progress or future research protocol.
van Nimwegen et al., 2013, Netherlands ¹⁴	Intervention group: n= 299; 65.1 (±7.9) years Control group: n= 287; 65.9 (±7.2) years Face to face coaching	Intervention: 24 months. To evaluate whether a multifaceted behavioral change program (ParkFit specifically designed to achieve a lasting increase in physical activity levels, with coaches using motivational strategies) increases physical activity in sedentary Parkinson's disease patients.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.

Chart 1. Description of pre-selected articles subsequently excluded from the review. Maringá, Paraná, 2018.

to be continued

Continuation	of Chart 1
Continuation	OI CHAIL I

Author, year, country of publication	Number of participants, age group, delivery method	Intervention period, objectives	Exclusion, reason
Veroff et al., 2013, USA ¹⁵	N= 24,167 Intervention group: n= 13,901 Control group: n= 10,266 Average age ≥49 years Telephone coaching	Intervention: six months. To assess IVR, which included the ability of individuals at high risk for spinal and knee surgery to connect directly with the Health Coach (AutoDialogW) compared to a Control group.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.
Tabak et al., 2014, Netherlands ¹⁶	Intervention group: n= 15; 64.1 (±9.0) years Control group: n= 14; 62.8 (±7.4) years Online coaching	Intervention: nine months. Evaluate a technology- supported care program that supports the treatment of COPD patients through self- treatment and promotion of an active lifestyle through real-time C and home exercise using a web portal.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.
Clare et al., 2015, UK ¹⁷	Intervention group: $n= 24$ Control group: $n= 24$ Average age ≥ 65 years Face to face and telephone coaching	Intervention: 12 months. Evaluate a goal-setting intervention aimed at promoting cognitive enhancement, physical activity, improving mental and physical fitness, diet and health.	Article removed as did not consider the objectives of the review in their entirety.
Karhula et al., 2015, Finland ¹⁸	Cardiac patients: n= 246; 69.1 (±9.1) years Diabetes patients: n= 225; 66.2 (±8.6) years Telephone coaching	Intervention: 12 months. To evaluate whether a cell phone based health C program could be used to improve the health-related quality of life of patients with type 2 diabetes and heart disease patients.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.
Pavel et al., 2015, USA ¹⁹	N= 33 elderly persons; 80.3 (±9.4) years Face to face and online coaching	Describe the structure of the Health C platform prototype and address aspects of the components needed to support its functions.	Article removed as did not consider the objectives of the review in their entirety.
Tiedemann et al., 2015, Australia ²⁰	Intervention group: n= 65 Control group: n= 65 patients ≥60 years Face to face, internet and telephone coaching	Intervention: 12 months. C in health that aims to evaluate personalized physical activity and fall prevention intervention in the elderly.	Article removed from review as described in progress or future research protocol.
Young et al., 2015, USA ²¹	N= 15 28 to 74 years Face to face coaching	Intervention: three months. Examine the feasibility and effectiveness of a student- oriented wellness program for people with disabilities.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.

to be continued

Author, year, country of publication	Number of participants, age group, delivery method	Intervention period, objectives	Exclusion, reason
Cadmus-Bertram et al., 2016, USA ⁵	Intervention group: n= 71; 60.0 (±6.3) years Control group: n= 34; 60.8 (±6.2) years Telephone coaching	Intervention: 12 months. Evaluate an intervention that trained women at high risk of developing breast cancer to use a self-monitoring and telephone C site to increase physical activity and lose weight.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.
<u>Thomson</u> et al., 2016, USA ²²	N= 1.070 Average age≥21 years Telephone coaching	Intervention: 24 months. To evaluate the hypothesis that a 24-month lifestyle intervention will significantly increase progression-free survival following cancer therapy for stage II-IV ovarian cancer.	Article removed from review as described in progress or future research protocol.
Tiedemann, et al., 2016, Australia ²³	N= 600 (60 Groups) Physical activity and fall prevention intervention (30 Groups) Healthy diet intervention (30 Groups) Individuals aged ≥60 years Telephone coaching	Intervention: 12 months. The main objective of this study was to evaluate the effect of an intervention for the promotion of physical activity combined with the prevention of objectively measured and self-reported falls compared with dietary programs among established groups of community-dwelling people \geq 60 years of age.	Article removed from review as described in progress or future research protocol.
Early et al., 2017, England ²⁴	Group 1 – more advanced COPD Intervention group: n= 11; 66.36 (±12.33) years Group 2 – less advanced COPD Intervention group: n= 8; 60.63 (±9.47) years Face to face. internet and phone coaching	Intervention: three months. Evaluate the feasibility of an internet-based health promotion program, the Preventive Plan (TPP), along with nursing coaching for home-based COPD self-management focusing on patient activation and self-management benefits.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.
Vanroy et al., 2017, Belgium ²⁵	Intervention group: n= 25; 65.3 (±8.1) years Control group: n= 21; 59.4 (±8.2) years Face to face coaching	Intervention: six months. To evaluate the short- and long-term health and behavior- related effects of a physical activity intervention support program in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients.	Article removed from review as included participants aged younger than 60 years.
Rich et al., 2018, USA ²⁶	N= 408 Age ≥50years Face to face coaching	Intervention: 24 months. Describe the intervention protocol and study design for the Peer Empowerment Program 4 Physical Activity (PEP4PA, coaching)).	Article removed from review as described in progress or future research protocol.

C: coaching; CHF: congestive heart failure; CAD: coronary artery disease; DM2: type 2 diabetes mellitus; COPD: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; IVR: interactive voice response.

6 of 11

Author, year and country of publication	Number of participants, age group, delivery method	Intervention period, objectives	Coaching tool	Results
Broekhuizen et al., 2016, Netherlands ⁶	Controlled and randomized control study N= 235 Intervention group: n= 119; 64.7 (±3.0) years Control group: n= 116; 64.9 (±2.8) years T-test for independent samples. Mann-Whitney and linear regression tests Online coaching	Intervention: three months. Evaluate an intervention based on a physical activity program available on the internet, DirectLife (C program), aimed at increasing physical activity to improve the quality of life of inactive older adults.	Program with a personal coach, which provides regular email updates of physical activity and advice on how to increase such activity.	The use of the physical activity program available on the internet, DirectLife (C program), significantly improved quality of life, especially the emotional health of older participants in the Intervention group compared to older adults in the Control group.
Park et al., 2017, South Korea ⁷	Controlled and randomized trial N= 90 Intervention group: n= 43; 80.91 (±7.65) years Control group: n= 47; 80.19 (±7.53) years T test. Chi-squared and ANOVA Face to face coaching	Intervention: two months. To evaluate the effect of a self-management and C in health (HCSMP- NHR) program designed for older people with chronic conditions and mild to moderate cognitive impairment living in nursing homes.	Goal-based counselling.	HCSMP-NHR improved the self- efficacy, achievement of goals, health status and quality of life of older people with chronic conditions and mild to moderate cognitive impairment.
Zimmerman et al., 2017, USA ²⁷	Randomized control study N= 18,107 ≥65 years, with average age of 74.2 years 25 primary care clinics stratified by city, Pittsburgh n= 19 clinics and Houston n= 6 clinics Chi-squared and Hazard ratio Face to face and telephone coaching	Intervention: 24 months. To evaluate the effectiveness of an evidence-based guide, the 4 Pillars TM Immunization Toolkit (education and coaching), to increase pneumococcal vaccination in the elderly.	Face to face C advocating the importance of immunization for the team. Phone C to ensure that the chosen strategies were being implemented and to work with team motivation.	Intervention and control groups increased PPSV vaccination rates in in the elderly. In the pre and post study, the use of the 4 Pillars TM Immunization Kit significantly improved vaccination with PPSV and PCV compared to practices in the maintenance phase of the study.

Chart 2. Description of articles selected and included in the review. Maringá, Paraná, 2018.

PPSV: 23-valent polysaccharide pneumococcal vaccine; PCV: pneumococcal conjugate vaccine; C: coaching.

Of the three articles selected, two applied face to face coaching^{7,27}, one of which combined face to face coaching with telephone coaching²⁷, and one article applied only online coaching⁶. The intervention period ranged from two to 24 months. In terms of objectives, the studies sought to evaluate coaching tools for lifestyle changes and health risk reduction.

The results achieved in the studies were positive, with a significant improvement in quality of life (mental and physical)^{6,7}; health status⁷; achieving goals⁷; self-efficacy⁷ and increased immunization²⁷ of the elderly persons evaluated.

DISCUSSION

There are few articles that evaluate the effect of coaching on health promotion, hampering a robust analysis of the effect of coaching on health promotion among the elderly. Most studies analyzed in their entirety (n=21) at the eligibility stage were excluded (n=10) as they included older and middle-aged individuals in the groups evaluated (intervention and control), which may mean the results are unreliable, as the elderly have their own characteristics resulting from the aging process. In addition, six studies were from future or ongoing study protocols.

It was also observed that although the studies reported the use of coaching for health promotion, there is great difficulty on the part of the authors when it comes to understanding the term "health coaching". In general, the understanding of coaching observed was focused on the action of a health professional who combines information and health education to encourage the individual to initiate and maintain behavioral changes associated with health. This procedure, however, relates to the application of mentoring rather than coaching. The former involves the transmission of instructions from an individual who has knowledge of a specific domain to a less experienced individual, and does not require mentor coaching skills²⁸. Coaching, on the other hand, is a process in which the coach (the one who leads the process) facilitates the learning of an individual without, however, having knowledge of the area of learning of such individual, that is, the coach

only needs to have experience in the process of learning facilitation and performance enhancement²⁹. Coaching is a process of human development that involves the use of structured, focused interactions and strategies, as well as appropriate tools and techniques to bring about desirable change for the benefit of the individual.³⁰

The lack of understanding and inadequate use of these techniques may be related to the scarcity in literature of information about the specifications needed for coach training. There are some basic requirements for working in this area, such as: obtaining a coaching development training certificate; have gone through a specific coaching process; have carried out work on one's own; provide adequate vocational training; remain under constant supervision in one's activities as a coach²⁹. Other limitations of health coaching studies are associated with the lack of clarification about the characteristics of health coaching (strategies, practices, delivery methods); what is the exact role of the coach (educator, facilitator, navigator, partner); what training is required to act as a coach and what type of training would enable such professionals to perform competently in the health coaching process³¹.

The difficulty in defining the coach's duties, as well as their academic training or the training methodology verified in the studies, made selection difficult and restricted the results to a few articles. It was a challenging task, given the variety of concepts used, the diversity of approaches, as well as the scarcity of studies focused on the theme.

The evidence of the selected articles^{6,7,27} in the present review that met the eligibility criteria suggests that coaching is a viable strategy for improving health, self-management, adherence to health promotion activities and, consequently, to improving the quality of life of the elderly. Programs that enable the elderly to self-manage their symptoms and treatments based on lifestyle changes are essential for a healthy life³². Self-management improves problem solving, the maintenance of exercise, medication use, and communication skills.³³

The coaching methodology presents beneficial results that lead to behavioral and lifestyle changes, such as increased physical activity, improved nutrition and self-esteem³⁴⁻³⁶, reinforcing that this technique can be used as a strategy for health promotion, aimed at such promotion and an improved quality of life.

Thus, research evaluating the effects of coaching on health promotion in the elderly needs to be further explored, as the world's older population is expanding rapidly. This is a challenge for the health care needs of these individuals, as aging is a multifactorial process that promotes anatomical and functional changes in the body. Such changes usually result in the onset of chronic diseases; functional disability; the need for care; reduced mobility; depression; isolation and loneliness, which can negatively influence the quality of life of the older adult³⁷.

Under chronic conditions, the commitment to self-care and the ability to adhere to long-term recommendations is of utmost importance. In this sense, health coaching motivates individuals to initiate and maintain change, and to recognize factors that contribute to achieving their goals⁴. Health coaching is an effective strategy for older people to prevent a disease from getting worse and for improving their lifestyle³⁸.

Limitations of the present study include its design, as the eligibility criterion meant that only free full text studies in the searched databases were evaluated, the sample size obtained (three articles) and the individualistic approach, as observed in one of the selected studies, in which the participation of the older adults was voluntary, which may have contributed to the representation of participants who were highly motivated towards lifestyle-related changes. Similarly, the restricted selection of internetenabled elderly persons led to a sample with a relatively high educational level; as a consequence, the application of the results of this study to the general elderly population is limited⁶.

CONCLUSION

Although the studies produced promising results, suggesting that health coaching brings about changes in the disease management and lifestyle of the elderly, the application of the methodology in health promotion for older individuals is still incipient. The sense of partnership between patients and health professionals promoted through the coaching methodology, either face to face, online or by phone, can be a tool used to promote the health of the elderly.

The importance of further studies that evaluate the coaching methodology in the health promotion of elderly persons in the areas involved, such as those related to physical, mental and social aspects, is emphasized. Such studies are important for the planning of strategies that aim to implement actions for the promotion of the health of the elderly, contributing to geriatric and gerontological research and practice.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- Barosa Pereira A. Coaching em Portugal: Teoria e Prática. Lisboa: Edições Sílabo; 2008.
- Ustá V. Coaching na gestão de enfermagem [Dissertação]. Lisboa: Escola Superior de Enfermagem de Lisboa, Curso de Mestrado em Enfermagem; 2012.
- Linden A, Butterworth SW, Prochaska JO. Motivational interwiewing-based health coaching as a cronic care intervantion. J Eval Clin Pract. 2010;16(1):166-74.
- 4. Wolever RQ, Dreusicke M, Fikkan J, Hawkins TV, Yeung S, Wakefield J, et al. Integrative health coaching for patients with type 2 diabetes: a randomized clinical trial. Diabetes Educ. 2010;36(4):629-39.
- Cadmus-Bertram L, Nelson SH, Hartman S, Patterson RE, Parker BA, Pierce JP. Randomized trial of a phone and web based weight loss program for women at elevated breast cancer risk: the HELP study. J Behav Med. 2016;39(4):551-9.
- Broekhuizen K, de Gelder J, Wijsman CA, Wijsman LW, Westendorp RG, Verhagen E, et al. An Internet based physical acivity intervention to improve quality of life of inactive older adults: a randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 06 jul. 2018];18(4):e74 [16p.]. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC4917725/

- Park YH, Moon SH, Ha JY, Lee MH. The longterm effects of the health coaching selfmanagement program for nursing-homeresidents. Clin Interv Aging 2017;11:1079-88.
- Fundo de População das Nações Unidas. Envelhecimento no século XXI: celebração e desafio: resumo executivo. Nova York: UNFPA; 2012.
- Galvão TF, Pansani TSA, Harrad D. Principais itens para relatar Revisões sistemáticas e Metaanálises: a recomendação PRISMA. Epidemiol Serv Saúde. 2015;24(2):335-42.
- Clark PG, Blissmer BJ, Greene GW, Lees FD, Riebe DA, Stamm KE. Maintaining exercise and healthful eating in older adults: the SENIOR project II: study design and methodology. Contemp Clin Trials. 2011;32(1):129-39.
- Long JA, Jahnle EC, Richardson DM, Loewenstein G, Volpp KG. Peer mentoring and financial incentives to improve glucose control in African American veterans: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2012;156(6):416-24.
- 12. Patja K, Absetz P, Auvinen A, Tokola K, Kytö J, Oksman E, et al. Health coaching by telephony to support self-care in chronic diseases: clinical outcomes from The TERVA randomized controlled trial. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2012 [acesso em 08 jul. 2018];12:1-8. Disponível em: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3502505/ pdf/1472-6963-12-147.pdf
- Sahlen KG, Johansson H, Nyström L, Lindholm L. Health coaching to promote healthier lifestyle among older people at moderate risk for cardiovascular diseases, diabetes and depression: a study protocol for a randomized controlled trial in Sweden. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 08 jul. 2018];13:1-9. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC3599987/pdf/1471-2458-13-199.pdf
- 14. van Nimwegen M, Speelman AD, Overeem S, van de Warrenburg BP, Smulders K, Dontje ML, et al. Promotion of physical activity and fitness in sedentary patients with Parkinson's disease: randomised controlled trial. BMJ [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 08 jul. 2018];346:1-16. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3585777/
- Veroff DR, Ochoa-Arvelo T, Venator B. A randomized study of telephonic care support in populations at risk for musculoskeletal preferencesensitive surgeries. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak [Internet]. 2013 [acesso em 08 jul. 2018];13:1-18. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC3575312/

- 16. Tabak M, Brusse-Keizer M, van der Valk P, Hermens H, Vollenbroek-Hutten M. A telehealth program for self-management of COPD exacerbations and promotion of an active lifestyle: a pilot randomized controlled trial. Int J Chronic Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2014;9:935-44.
- Clare L, Nelis SM, Jones IR, Hindle JV, Thom JM, Nixon JA, et al. The Agewell trial: a pilot randomised controlled trial of a behaviour change intervention to promote healthy ageing and reduce risk of dementia in later life. BMC Psychiatry [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 08 jul. 2018];15:1-28. Disponível em: https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4337106/
- Karhula T, Vuorinen AL, Rääpysjärvi K, Pakanen M, Itkonen P, Tepponen M, et al. Telemonitoring and Mobile Phone-Based Health Coaching Among Finnish Diabetic and Heart Disease Patients: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 08 jul. 2018];17(6):e153 [20 p.]. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pmc/articles/PMC4526947/
- Pavel M, Jimison HB, Korhonen I, Gordon CM, Saranummi N. Behavioral Informatics and Computational Modeling in Support of Proactive Health Management and Care. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2015;62(12):2763-75.
- 20. Tiedemann A, Paul S, Ramsay E, O'Rourke SD, Chamberlain K, Kirkham C, et al. What is the effect of a combined physical activity and fall prevention intervention enhanced with health coaching and pedometers on older adults' physical activity levels and mobility-related goals?: Study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2015 [acesso em 08 jul. 2018];15:1-10. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC4429838/
- Young HJ, Erickson ML, Johnson KB, Johnson MA, McCully KK. A wellness program for individuals with disabilities: Using a student wellness coach approach. Disabil Health J. 2015;8(3):345-52
- 22. Thomson CA, Crane TE, Miller A, Garcia DO, Basen-Engquist K, Alberts DS. A randomized trial of diet and physical activity in women treated for stage II-IV ovarian cancer: Rationale and design of the Lifestyle Intervention for Ovarian Cancer Enhanced Survival (LIVES): An NRG Oncology/Gynecologic Oncology Group (GOG-225) Study. Contemp Clin Trials. 2016;49:181-9.

- 23. Tiedemann A, Rissel C, Howard K, Tong A, Merom D, Smith S, et al. Health coaching and pedometers to enhance physical activity and prevent falls in community-dwelling people aged 60 years and over: study protocol for the Coaching for Healthy AGEing (CHAnGE) cluster randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2016 [acesso em 09 jul. 2018];6(5):e012277 [14]. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4874201/
- 24. Early F, Young JS, Robinshaw E, Mi EZ, Mi EZ, Fuld JP. A case series of an off-the-shelf online health resource with integrated nurse coaching to support self-management in COPD. Int J Chronic Obstr Pulmon Dis. 2017;12:2955-67.
- Vanroy J, Seghers J, Bogaerts A, Devloo K, De Cock S, Boen F. Short- and long-term effects of a needsupportive physical activity intervention among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A randomized controlled pilot trial. PLoS One [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 09 jul. 2018];12(4):e0174805 [16p.]. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC5383224/
- 26. Rich P, Aarons GA, Takemoto M, Cardenas V, Crist K, Bolling K, et al. Implementation-effectiveness trial of an ecological intervention for physical activity in ethnically diverse low income senior centers. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2017 [acesso em 8 jul. 2018];18(1):29. Disponível em: https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5516364/
- 27. Zimmerman RK, Brown AE, Pavlik VN, Moehling KK, Raviotta JM, Lin CJ, et al. Using the 4 Pillars Practice Transformation Program to Increase Pneumococcal Immunizations for Older Adults: a Cluster-Randomized Trial. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2017;65(1):114-22.
- Grant AM. Towards a psychology of coaching: The impact of coaching on metacognition, mental health and goal attainment [Doctoral thesis]. Australia: Macquarie University, Departament of Psychology; 2001.

- Oliveira-Silva LC, Werneck-Leite CDS, Carvalho PSF, Anjos AC, Brandão HIM. Desvendando o Coaching: uma Revisão sob a Ótica da Psicologia. Psicol Ciênc Prof. 2018;38(2):363-77.
- 30. Cox E, Bachkirova T, Clutterbuck D. The complete handbook of coaching. London: Sage; 2014.
- Wolever RQ. Health & Wellness Coaching: evidence, challenges and opportunities. London: Vanderbilt University Medical Center; 2016.
- Richard AA, Shea K. Delineation of self-care and associated concepts. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2011;43(3):255-64.
- 33. Jordan JE, Briggs AM, Brand CA, Osborne RH. Enhancing patient engagement in chronic disease self-management support initiatives in Australia: the need for an integrated approach. Med J Aust. 2008;189(10 Suppl):9-13.
- 34. Mendes FP, Garin NC, Timm EZ, Ribeiro J L. Aplicação da metodologia coaching para o tratamento da obesidade: uma visão multidisciplinar. Ciênc Mov. 2017;19(39):61-9.
- 35. Magalhães T, Neves L, Poínhos R. A metodologia de coaching aplicada às ciências da nutrição: usos, potencialidades e controvérsias em Portugal. Acta Port Nut. 2018;12:26-31.
- 36. Meya-Molina A, Giménez-Sánchez J. Coaching nutricional como herramienta para la adquisición de hábitos alimentarios preventivos del cáncer. Rev Esp Nutr Hum Diet. 2014;18(1):35-44.
- 37. Ory MD, Cox DM. Forging ahead: Linking health and behavior to improve quality of life in older people. In: Romney DM, Brown RI, Fry PS, editors. Improving the Quality of Life. Dordrecht: Springer Publishing Company; 1994.
- Huffman M. Health coaching: a new and exciting technique to enhance patient self-management and improve outcomes. Home Healthc Nurse. 2007;25(4):271-4.





Oxidative stress among informal caregivers

Natália Ramos Imamura de Vasconcelos¹ 💿

Gilsenir Maria Prevelato de Almeida Dátilo² 💿

Agnaldo Bruno Chies³ 回

Eduardo Federighi Baisi Chagas⁴ 回

Thiago José Querino de Vasconcelos⁵ 回

Pedro Marco Karan Barbosa⁶ 回

Abstract

Objective: to evaluate oxidative stress and non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses in informal caregivers, and correlations with anxiety, health satisfaction and quality of life. *Method:* a case-control analytical study was performed, where the case was represented by the main informal caregiver and the control was paired with individuals with identical characteristics to the case, but who were not informal caregivers. The following instruments were used: a sociodemographic questionnaire, the Beck anxiety scale and the WHOQoL-Bref. Oxidative stress was measured through blood by analysis of the Ferric Reducing Ability of Plasma (FRAP) and Thiobarbituric Acid Reactive Substances (TBARS) markets. *Results:* most informal caregivers were females. There was no difference in the degree of anxiety between the Case and Control groups. Among informal caregivers, 9.4% said they were very dissatisfied and 53.1% dissatisfied with their health. Most caregivers (43.8%) rated their quality of life as poor and 12.5% as very poor, while most controls rated it as good (68.8%). The TBARS and FRAP values were lower in the Case group than in the Control group. *Conclusion:* The informal caregivers, who were mostly women, defined themselves as dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with their health. Nevertheless, they did

Keywords: Caregivers. Oxidative Stress. Quality of Life. Anxiety.

¹ Faculdade de Medicina de Marília (FAMEMA), Pós-graduação em Saúde e Envelhecimento. Marília, SP, Brasil.

² Universidade Estadual Paulista Júlio Mesquita Filho (UNESP), Departamento de Psicologia da Educação. Marília, SP, Brasil.

³ Faculdade de Medicina de Marília (FAMEMA), Departamento de Farmacologia, Pós-graduação em Saúde e Envelhecimento. Marília, SP, Brasil.

⁴ Universidade de Marília, Departamento de Educação Fisica. Faculdade de Medicina de Marília, Programa de Pós-graduação em Saúde e Envelhecimento. Marília, SP, Brasil.

⁵ Hospital Beneficente da Universidade de Marília (UNIMAR), Departamento de Anestesiologia. Marília, SP, Brasil.

⁶ Faculdade de Medicina de Marília (FAMEMA), Departamento de Enfermagem clínica, Pós-graduação em Saúde e Envelhecimento. Marília, SP, Brasil.

Funding: Programa Demanda Social Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES). Number of process: 1758470.

The authors declare there are no conflicts of interest in relation to the present study.

not manifest a higher degree of anxiety in comparison with the control population. In addition, they presented a lower degree of oxidative stress than the non-caregiving participants, perhaps due to a greater mobilization of the non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses present in the body.

INTRODUCTION

Free radicals are continuously formed in the human body as a result of aerobic metabolism or by the action of enzymatic systems such as NAD(P) H oxidases, catalases and nitric oxide synthases. In small concentrations these substances, play important physiological roles in intracellular and intercellular signaling and hormone production.

However, when the production of free radicals exceeds the capacity of antioxidant systems, a pathophysiological condition called oxidative stress occurs. So that free radical concentrations do not become elevated, the human body possesses enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidant systems capable of eliminating them¹⁻⁴. These mechanisms are important since excess free radicals react with proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and DNA, leading to many diseases prevalent in aging⁵. The products generated by the reaction of free radicals with these cellular constituents, including lipoperoxides, are considered important biomarkers of oxidative stress⁶. The redox balance can also be estimated by determining the ability of the plasma to reduce ferric ion, which reflects the action of the non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses present in this biological fluid7.

Oxidative stress can be aggravated by exposure to environmental agents such as pollution and cigarette smoke which contain free radicals, or by the consumption of alcohol and drugs that increase the endogenous production of these substances^{8,9}. Sedentary individuals are more likely to have higher levels of oxidative stress, as they do not properly develop their antioxidant defenses⁴. Oxidative stress is also higher in individuals subjected to mental stress and psychiatric illness, although the causal relationship between these pathophysiological conditions is still poorly known9. Thus, the mitigation of oxidative stress involves a balanced diet, physical activity, reduced alcohol and tobacco consumption, reduced mental stress, and improved environmental conditions.

Informal caregivers, as they dedicate themselves exclusively to others, can experience significant changes in their lifestyle and habits. Thus, they may neglect their diet or daily practice of physical activity and, therefore, may present a higher degree of oxidative stress. Informal caregivers may also have a higher degree of mental stress and anxiety. In fact, it is estimated that around 90% of the world's population may be affected by mental stress, which may be considered the most worrying factor of the modern age¹⁰.

Situations that threaten the physical and emotional security of the individual, in the short and long term, involving their reputation and self-esteem, are among the factors that most trigger stress situations¹¹. In this sense, some scales are useful, such as the Beck anxiety scale¹² and the WHO (World Health Organization) quality of life scale¹³ to investigate stress in day to day life¹⁴.

With population aging, there is a tendency for the number of older adults to depend partially or totally on care. It is increasingly common for someone to take on the role of informal caregiver of such older people, usually a family member. This leads to changes or redefinitions of the roles of one or more family members. These caregivers assume the responsibility of caring, most often without technical preparation, for up to 24 hours a day. Thus, the caregiver "gives up most of their daily life, mainly abdicating leisure and paid work, which significantly changes their life dynamics and the dynamics of family life"¹⁴.

The act of caring represents a challenge to the caregiver, as it causes physical and emotional exhaustion and overload, as well as financial costs, added to the risks of mental and physical illness. Caring is an act of bondage because the caregiver offers the best of his or her talents to others¹⁵. -Caregivers commonly manifest extreme tiredness; general fatigue; pains; physical and emotional exhaustion and overload; loss of resistance; nervousness; irritability; anxiety; insomnia; depression, among other symptoms. This indicates that, in most cases, caring for others implies neglecting oneself, which directly impacts the caregiver's quality of life^{16,17}.

The informal caregiver is one who cares voluntarily, usually represented by a family member, and may also be a friend or neighbor¹⁸. In Brazil, it is more common for the family to assume the role of caring¹⁹. Caring for an older family member is a subjective experience. Daily care becomes a challenge where, suddenly and often without knowledge and/ or support, this family member now takes on a new role, becoming a caregiver²⁰.

In this context, a new sphere to be encompassed by health services has emerged: home care. This is because families increasingly need to play the role of caregivers, both in order to maintain a sick family member or older adult in the family environment and to better manage resources that are often limited and prevent the hiring of a professional care provider²¹.

In this sense, the aim of the present study was to evaluate oxidative stress and non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses in informal caregivers, comparing the data obtained with non-caregivers, and correlating the results with degree of anxiety, health satisfaction and quality of life.

METHOD

A case-control analytical study was performed, where the cases were represented by primary informal caregivers, matched with individuals with identical gender and age characteristics who were not informal caregivers as controls.

The study was conducted in partnership with the Interdisciplinary Home Hospitalization Program (or PROIID) of the city of Marília, in the state of São Paulo, Brazil. This program accompanies patients and family members who, although they no longer need intensive in-hospital care, require care and guidance to improve their health-disease process, as well as restore their physical, emotional and mental integrity. The program is a partnership between the Clinical Hospital and the Municipal Health Department.

Informal caregivers who performed this role fully for six months or more, referred to as "cases", were included in the study. These caregivers were selected through direct contact between the principal researcher and the relevant PROIID nurse. In this contact, the users of the program who were dependent on care were identified, with the subsequent need for an informal caregiver for a minimum of 12 hours per day, referred to in literature as a primary caregiver. These were selected after consulting the PROIID database. For the control, pairs with the same characteristics, such as age and gender, but who did not currently perform the role of caregiver, or who had not performed it for at least one year, were selected. The cases and the controls were matched one to one. All subjects involved in the study were over 18 years of age.

Individuals who agreed to participate were initially asked if they had been diagnosed with systemic arterial hypertension, diabetes *mellitus*, and dyslipidemia, as well as whether they were smokers or alcoholics. Active smokers and alcoholics were excluded from both groups due to the recognized influence of these factors on the oxidative stress assessment parameters used. Survey participants were advised not to consume processed foods and not to drink alcohol for three days prior to blood collection.

The data was collected from July to November 2018, exclusively by the principal researcher. The Beck anxiety scale¹² and the World Health Organization Quality of Life Questionnaire (WHOQOL-bref) were applied¹³.

The Beck's anxiety scale consists of 21 multiple choice questions and measures the individual's degree of anxiety, which may be mild, moderate or severe. It provides a score ranging from 0 to 63, with the degree of anxiety is proportional to the score¹². The WHOQOL-bref, meanwhile, is a WHO-validated instrument to measure quality of life, divided into domains, namely: physical, psychological, social relations and environment²². Both instruments were applied individually.

Next, blood samples were collected from the participants to obtain plasma. These collections were made in the morning, between 8 am and 10 am. Blood samples were collected in an EDTA tube and refrigerated at the Pharmacology Laboratory of the Marilia Medical School (Famema) within one hour. In the laboratory, the samples were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 4°C, with rotation of 3000 rpm in a Hermle centrifuge. After centrifugation, the plasma was collected by pipette and transferred to another tube, where it was stored at -80°C for further analysis of plasma lipoperoxide concentration by the Thiobarbituric Acid Reactive Substances (TBARS)⁶ technique. These samples were also used to determine the ability of plasma to reduce ferric ion by the Ferric-Reducing Ability of Plasma (FRAP) technique⁷.

Sample size calculation was performed using the G*Power software program, version 3.1.9.2 (Franz Faul, Universität Kiel, Germany) to analyze oxidative stress in a case-control study using the Student t-test for independent samples.

Data normality distribution was verified by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. For comparison between two independent groups, the Student's t-test for unpaired samples or the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test were performed. To analyze the frequency distribution between the categories of qualitative variables, the Chi-square test for proportion was used. To analyze the relationship between two qualitative variables, the Chi-square test for proportion was applied. For all analyzes the SPSS software version 19.0 for windows was used, adopting a significance level of 5%.

The study was submitted to the Famema Research Ethics Committee, and was approved on December 14, 2017, under Opinion No. 2,439,044. Participants signed a Free and Informed Consent Form (FICF) to participate in this study, in compliance with National Health Council Resolution No. 466/2012.

RESULTS

There was no initial significant difference between the case and control groups regarding the distribution of the variables gender, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, systemic arterial hypertension, age group and sedentary lifestyle (Table 1).

Table 1. Absolute (n) and relative (%) frequency distribution of sample characteristics between case and control groups. Marília, São Paulo, 2018.

	Groups			
Variables	Case (n=32)	Control (n=32)	Þ	
	n (%)	n (%)		
Sex				
Female	28 (87.5)	28 (87.5)	0.646	
Male	4 (12.5)	4 (12.5)		
Diabetes mellitus				
Present	7 (21.9)	4 (12.5)	0.324	
Absent	25 (78.1)	28 (87.5)		
Dyslipidemia				
Present	5 (15.6)	8 (25.0)	0.355	
Absent	27 (84.4)	24 (75.0)		
Arterial hypertension				
Present	12 (37.5)	10 (31.3)	0.602	
Absent	20 (62.5)	22 (68.8)		
Age range (years)				
<60	20 (62.5)	22 (68.8)	0.602	
≥60	12 (37.5)	10 (31.3)		
Sedentary lifestyle				
Yes	27 (84.4)	24 (75.0)	0.355	
No	5 (15.6)	8 (25.0)		

p calculated by the chi-square association test.

The group of caregivers was made up of family members, predominantly female, especially daughters and wives (Table 2). For each participant in the case group, there was a same-sex participant, not belonging to the same family, in the control group.

The data obtained also show that there was no statistical difference in the degree of anxiety between individuals who performed the informal caregiver role and those who did not. Most individuals in the case group had minimal anxiety in comparison with control. Regarding satisfaction with health, no individual in the control group expressed dissatisfaction, while 9.4% of informal caregivers expressed such an opinion by answering the specific health-related question in the WHOQOL-bref. The alarming fact about this issue is that most caregivers, i.e. 17 (53.1%) participants, were dissatisfied with their health. Most caregivers (43.8%) rated their quality of life as poor, while most controls (68.8%) rated it as good (Table 3).

Table 2. Absolute (n) and relative (%) frequency distribution of caregiver kinship in case group. Marília, São Paulo, 2018.

Kinship	n (%)	<i>p</i> -value
Wife	8 (25.0)	
Daughter	19 (59.4)	
Sister	1 (3.1)	0.0001*
Husband	4 (12.5)	
Total	32 (100.0)	

* Significant difference (p≤0,0001) in the distribution of kinship proportion in the caregiver sample by the chi-square association test.

	Groups		
Variables	Case	Control	
	n (%)	n (%)	
Anxiety Degree (Beck Scale)			
Minimum	18 (56.3)	15 (46.9)	
Mild	5 (15.6)	12 (37.5)	0.170
Moderate	8 (25.0)	4 (12.5)	
Severe	1 (3.1)	1 (3.1)	
Health satisfaction (questionnaire WHOQOL-bref)			
Very unsatisfied	3 (9.4)	0 (0.0)	
Dissatisfied	17 (53.1)	7 (21.9)	
Dissatisfied/Satisfied	8 (25.0)	9 (28.1)	0.003*
Pleased	4 (12.5)	12 (37.5)	
Very satisfied	0 (0.0)	4 (12.5)	
Quality of life (questionnaire WHOQOL-bref)			
Very poor	4 (12.5)	1 (3.1)	
Poor	14 (43.8)	3 (9.4)	
Poor/Good	7 (21.9)	2 (6.3)	0.0001*
Good	7 (21.9)	22 (68.8)	
Excellent	0 (0.0)	4 (12.5)	

Table 3. Analysis of the association of cases and controls in the qualitative variables degree of anxiety, health satisfaction and quality of life. Marilia, São Paulo, 2018.

* Significant difference (p-value ≤0.05) by Chi-square test.
The data obtained also showed differences between the groups in relation to TBARS values. Participants in the case group were found to have lower TBARS values compared to those in the control group. In contrast, FRAP values were lower in the case group than in the control group (Table 4).

Table 4.	FRAP and	TBARS	values	obtained	in contro	l and case	group	s. Marília,	São	Paulo	, 201	8
----------	----------	-------	--------	----------	-----------	------------	-------	-------------	-----	-------	-------	---

	Groups	<i>p</i> -value	
Variables	Case (n=32)	Control (n=32)	
	Mean (standard-deviation)	Mean (standard-deviation)	
TBARS (mg/mol)	18.70 (±19.56)	41.98 (<u>+</u> 27.31)	0.0001**
FRAP (mg/mol)	1.09 (<u>+</u> 0.23)	1.36 (<u>+</u> 0.20)	0.0001*

* Significant difference ($p \le 0.0001$) between groups by Student's t-test for independent samples; ** significant difference ($p \le 0.0001$) between groups by the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, it was observed that due to performing the role of informal caregiver, the population included in the case group was predominantly composed of women, all of whom are family members of the care recipient 23,24 . These data are in line with literature that indicates that women predominantly assume the role of caregiver throughout the world, reflecting a culture rooted in the idea that caring is part of the female reality²⁵. It should be considered that the caregiver is the main target of family tension caused by the stress and tiredness involved in care. Thus, due to the global increase in life expectancy, families must be socially and economically prepared to understand and support the role of the informal caregiver²⁶. These caregivers, predominantly women, are also responsible for the link between the health team and the patient²⁷, and are thus an essential figure for the success of home care.

During data collection, it was common for the participant caregivers to report disturbed sleep patterns, as they often needed to wake up several times during the night to check the condition of the individual under their care (unquantified data). These caregivers complained that this compromised their daily activities. Another problem is a sedentary lifestyle, which was frequently found among the participants in both the case and control groups. In addition, there was a frequent complaint among informal caregivers about a lack of leisure opportunities, as they had no one to leave the caredependent family member with during the time spent on this purpose.

Another highly relevant factor, related to the link between women and the work of informal caregivers, is the misunderstanding, on the part of society in general, that caring is female in nature. In fact, care-related work represents an imposition on women. This understanding stems from the historic organization of the family in Brazil and in other countries, in which women were given all the domestic responsibilities, including looking after the recipient of care. According to Guedes²⁴, during their productive lives, women are more likely to give up their careers, including because of maternity care. Thus, this removal from the labor market is prolonged through the continuation of the role of caregiver for a family member. In addition, the labor laws in force in Brazil, with inflexible hours that do not consider double shifts, make it difficult to reinsert these caregivers in the labor market after the period dedicated to care, leading them unemployed.

Several instruments aimed at assessing quality of life have been described and validated in literature, of which the WHOQOL-bref, used in the present study, is one of the most important. In the data collected by this instrument lower scores were identified in the *psychological* and *interpersonal relationships* domains, which are indicated in literature as being some of the main burdens of performing the role of informal caregiver. Caring results in physical, psychological and social burden. This is not only due to caregiving, which is important in itself, but is aggravated by the fact that the caregivers, mostly women, accumulate extra duties related to household chores. This further increases the physical and social burden of the informal caregiver²⁸.

It is noteworthy that about 10% of caregivers surveyed said they were very dissatisfied with their health and more than half said they were dissatisfied. These data are reinforced by a previous study in which a direct relationship was detected between negative self-rated health and increased burden imposed by the act of caring, as well as reduced happiness perceived by the caregiver²⁹. Other authors have also observed an association between self-rated health and well-being^{26,30}. According to these authors, health is a multidimensional factor and psychological well-being can influence it. This proposition is based on the WHO concept that health does not only involve the absence of disease, but is the result of the sum of physical, psychological and social well-being. In addition, in this study, health-related quality of life was a predictive factor for increased psychological well-being.

Regarding the self-assessment of overall quality of life, it is noteworthy that 43.8% of caregivers rated their quality of life as poor and 12.5% said it was very poor. Factors related to burden in care work and health conditions are those that most significantly affect the self-assessment of quality of life of caregivers.

When assessing the TBARS of informal caregivers, a somewhat unexpected panorama was observed. This is because, despite declaring themselves dissatisfied with their health and classifying their quality of life as poor, informal caregivers had lower TBARS values than those observed in the control group. As already mentioned, TBARS is a parameter that indicates the degree of oxidative stress, as it quantifies the lipoperoxidation end products⁶. Thus, it can be said that despite the life and health conditions to which informal caregivers are subjected, they present a lower degree of oxidative stress. In this sense, it should be emphasized that chronic oxidative stress may be the genesis of several highly prevalent and often severe chronic degenerative diseases^{2,8}. Indeed, these data are somewhat reassuring, as they suggest that the risk of illness in these caregivers surveyed is not elevated by oxidative stress.

In this sense, it is worth noting that the difference in the degree of stress observed between the case and control groups is unlikely to be related to the prevalence of diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia and systemic arterial hypertension in the groups. This is because, although these diseases are closely related to oxidative stress^{31,32}, there were no differences in the prevalence of the same between the case and control groups. There were also no differences between the groups regarding age and physical inactivity, factors that are also known to aggravate oxidative stress^{2,31}.

As mentioned, oxidative stress is a result of the imbalance between oxidant production and antioxidant defenses. This imbalance can result, on the one hand, from the excessive production of free radicals and/or the high uptake of free radicals from the environment, and, on the other, from a lower ability to eradicate the same by the antioxidant defenses present in the body². Thus, when assessing oxidative stress, special attention should be paid to the body's antioxidant defenses. In this sense, the present study also evaluated the capacity of the non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses present in the plasma of the individuals studied, using the FRAP technique. In fact, the antioxidant capacity measured by FRAP reflects the sum of the antioxidant actions of various components of biological fluids, including uric acid and ascorbic acid, which exert approximately 60% and 20% of the evaluated antioxidant capacity, respectively. FRAP also influences the presence of vitamin E, bilirubin and albumin⁷. Given these considerations, the importance of a balanced diet for the proper functioning of these antioxidant defenses present in plasma is evident. It is interesting to note that the informal caregivers had reduced FRAP values, in comparison with the control group. This indicates that, in these individuals, the reduction of oxidative stress, characterized by the reduction in TBARS values, may have occurred due to the higher consumption of non-enzymatic antioxidant defenses, as measured by FRAP. However, why this mobilization of antioxidant defenses is greater in informal caregivers, to the point of perhaps reducing the degree of oxidative stress in these individuals, remains unknown.

CONCLUSION

Based on the data of the present study, it can be concluded that the informal caregivers were

REFERENCES

- 1. Halliwell B. The antioxidant paradox. Lancet. 2000;355(9210):1179-80.
- 2. Engers VK, Behling CS, Frizzo MN. A influência do estresse oxidativo no processo de envelhecimento. Rev Contexto Saúde. 2011;11(20):93-102.
- 3. Sies H. Oxidative stress: a concept in redox biology and medicine. Redox Biol. 2015;4:180-3.
- 4. Poblete-Aro C, Russell-Guzmán J, Parra P, Soto-Muñoz M, Villegas-González B, Cofré-Bolados C, et al. Exercise and oxidative stress in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Rev Med Chil. 2018;146(3):362-72.
- 5. Barreiros ALBS, David JM, David JP. Estresse oxidativo: relação entre geração de espécies reativas e defesa do organismo. Quím Nova. 2006;29(1):113-23.
- 6. Wills E. Mechanism of lipid peroxide formation in animal tissues. Biochem J. 1966;99(3):667-76.
- 7. Benzie IFF, Strain JJ. The Ferric Reducing Ability of Plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "Antioxidant Power": the frap assay. Anal Biochem. 1996;239(11):70-6.
- 8. Aseervatham GS, Sivasudha T, Jeyadevi R, Arul Ananth D. Environmental factors and unhealthy lifestyle influence oxidative stress in humans: an overview. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int. 2013;20(7):4356-69.

predominantly women from the family circle of the individual under care. This is explained by a culture that is rooted in the idea that caring is part of the female reality. These caregivers mostly define themselves as dissatisfied or very dissatisfied with their health, and more than half of them rate their quality of life as poor or very poor. Nevertheless, these caregivers did not show a higher degree of anxiety in relation to the population that did not perform care-related tasks.

Finally, the informal caregivers exhibited a lower degree of oxidative stress than the non-caregivers, perhaps due to the greater mobilization of nonenzymatic antioxidant defenses present in the body. These data suggest that the risk of illness among these caregivers due to oxidative stress does not appear to be high. This is not to say that the living conditions of informal caregivers are unhealthy, but does warn of the possible existence of other factors that may mitigate oxidative stress in these individuals.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

- 9. Golbidi S, Li H, Laher I. Oxidative stress: a unifying mechanism for cell damage induced by noise, (Water-Pipe) smoking, and emotional stress-therapeutic strategies targeting redox imbalance. Antioxid Redox Signal. 2018;28(9):741-59.
- 10. Anjos KF, Boery RNSO, Pereira R. Qualidade de vida de cuidadores de idosos dependentes no domicílio. Texto Contexto Enferm. 2014;23(3):600-8.
- 11. Barcaui A, Limongi-França AC. Estresse, enfrentamento e qualidade de vida: um estudo sobre gerentes brasileiros. Rev Adm Contemp. 2014;18(5):670-94.
- 12. Leyfer OT, Ruberg JL, Woodruff-Borden J. Examination of the utility of the Beck Anxiety Inventory and its factors as a screener for anxiety disorders. J Anxiety Disord. 2006;20(4):444-58.
- 13. The World Health Organization Quality of Life Assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the health organization. Soc Sci Med. 1995;41(10):1403-9.
- 14. Prudente COM, Ribeiro MFM, Porto CC. Qualidade de vida de cuidadores familiares de adultos com lesão medular: uma revisão sistemática. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2017;22(1):123-34.

- Queiroz RS, Camacho ACLF, Gurgel JL, Assis CRC, Santos LM, Santos MLSC. Perfil sociodemográfico e qualidade de vida de cuidadores de idosos com demência. Rev Bras Geriatr Gerontol. 2018;21(2):210-9.
- Flesch LD, Batistoni SST, Neri AL, Cachioni M. Psychological aspects of the quality of life of caregivers of the elderly: an integrative review. Geriatr Gerontol Aging. 2017;11(3):138-49.
- Ornstein K, Gaugler JE, Zahodne L, Stern Y. The heterogeneous course of depressive symptoms for the dementia caregiver. Int J Aging Hum Dev. 2014;78(2):133-48.
- Buyck JF, Ankri J, Dugravot A, Bonnaud S, Nabi H, Kivimäki M, et al. Informal caregiving and the risk for coronary heart disease: the Whitehall II Study. J Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2013;68(10):1316-23.
- Perkins M, Howard VJ, Wadley VG, Crowe M, Safford MM, Haley WE, et al. Caregiving strain and all-cause mortality: evidence from the Regards Study. J Gerontol Ser B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2013;68(4):504-12.
- Dátilo GMPA, Horiguela MLM. Idosos dependentes: o lugar do familiar cuidador. In: Bruns MAT, Del-Masso MCS, organizadoras. Envelhecimento humano: diferentes perspectivas. Campinas: Alínea; 2007. p. 143-66.
- Góis DCB. Vivências subjetivas na arte de cuidar idosos no seio familiar: o impacto psicossocial na prestação de cuidado no bem-estar subjetivo dos cuidadores informais [dissertação]. Beja: Instituto Politécnico de Beja, Escola Superior de Educação; 2017. 207 p.
- 22. Kluthcovsky ACGC, Kluthcovsky FA. O WHOQOLbref, um instrumento para avaliar qualidade de vida: uma revisão sistemática. Rev Psiquiatr Rio Gd Sul. 2009;31(3 Supl):1-12.
- 23. Araujo JS, Vidal GM, Brito FN, Gonçalves DCA, Leite DKM, Dutra CDT, et al. Perfil dos cuidadores e as dificuldades enfrentadas no cuidado ao idoso, em Ananindeua, PA. Rev Bras Geriatr Gerontol. 2013;16(1):149-58.

- Guedes C. Itinerários do cuidar em doenças falciformes e suas repercussões na vida de mulheres. Textos Contextos. 2016;15(2):370-81.
- 25. Moreira ACA, Silva MJ, Darder JJT, Coutinho JFV, Vasconcelos MIO, Marques MB. Effectiveness of an educational intervention on knowledge-attitudepractice of older adults' caregivers. Rev Bras Enferm. 2018;71(3):1055-62.
- 26. Faleiros AH, Santos CA, Martins CR, Holanda RA, Souza NLSA, Araújo CLO. Os desafios do cuidar: revisão bibliográfica, sobrecargas e satisfações do cuidador de idosos. Janus. 2015;12(22):59-68.
- Nobre IDN, Lemos CS, Pardini ACG, Carvalho J, Salles ICD. Ansiedade, depressão e desesperança no cuidador familiar de pacientes com alterações neuropsicológicas. Acta Fisiátrica. 2015;22(4):160-5.
- Avelar TMT, Storch AS, Castro LA, Azevedo GVMM, Ferraz L, Lopes PF. Oxidative stress in the pathophysiology of metabolic syndrome: which mechanisms are involved? J Bras Patol Med Lab. 2015;51(4):231-9.
- 29. Lutomski JE, Baars MAE, Schalk BWM, Boter H, Buurman BM, den Elzen WPJ, et al. The development of the older persons and informal caregivers survey minimum DataSet (TOPICS-MDS): a large-scale data sharing initiative. PLoS ONE. 2013;8(12):e81673 [9 p.].
- 30. Lethin C, Renom-Guiteras A, Zwakhalen S, Soto-Martin M, Saks K, Zabalegui A, et al. Psychological well-being over time among informal caregivers caring for persons with dementia living at home. Aging Ment Health. 2017;21(11):1138-46.
- Korsager LM, Matchkov VV. Hypertension and physical exercise: the role of oxidative stress. Medicina (Kaunas). 2016;52(1):19-27.
- Oguntibeju OO. Type 2 diabetes mellitus, oxidative stress and inflammation: examining the links. Int J Physiol Pathophysiol Pharmacol. 2019;11(3):45-63.





Analysis of quality of life and associated factors in a group of elderly persons with supplemental health plans in the city of São Paulo, Brazil

Maria Elisa Gonzalez Manso^{1,2} 10 Leandro Tadeu Prazeres Maresti³ 10 Henrique Souza Barros de Oliveira² 10

Objective: To measure the Quality of Life (QoL) and associated factors in a group of elderly persons receiving care through a health plan operator in the city of São Paulo, Brazil. Method: A cross-sectional study was carried out with 169 elderly persons enrolled in a health plan and who were participants in a program to promote health and prevent risks and diseases. The Bref and Old versions of the World Health Organization Quality of Life (WHOQOL) instruments were adopted for the evaluation of the QoL of the elderly. After descriptive analysis, a comparative analysis was performed through the Student's t-tests and ANOVA. The Brown-Forsythe test was applied for situations in which no homogeneity was found and the Tukey test for multiple comparisons was applied. Results: The highest mean QoL values were found in the Psychological [72.1 (±14.3)] and Environment [68 (±15.4)] and Intimacy [72.5 (±20.8)] domains, while the worst results were found in the Physical [64.3 (±18)] domain and in the Death and Dying facet [61.2 (±23.2)]. In this group, factors such as obesity, neoplasia and previous hospitalizations were negatively associated with QoL, whereas young elderly, female, widows, carriers of chronic noncommunicable diseases and those limited to two morbidities, who practiced physical activity and had clinical care provided by a reference physician had a positive influence. Conclusion: The findings of this research showed high levels of satisfaction with health and QoL, in addition to raising relevant discussions about predictors that influence the QoL of the elderly receiving care from the supplementary sector. It also emphasizes the need for new strategies of action to ensure improvements in the health care of the elderly.

Keywords: Health of the Elderly. Quality of Life. Population Dynamics. Health Promotion. Prepaid Health Plans.

Received: January 31, 2019 Approved: August 12, 2019

¹ Pontifícia Universidade Católica de São Paulo (PUC-SP), Coordenadoria Geral de Especialização, Aperfeiçoamento e Extensão. São Paulo, SP, Brasil.

² Centro Universitário São Camilo (CUSC-SP), Faculdade de Medicina. São Paulo, SP, Brasil.

³ Informar Saúde Teleorientações, Unidade de Pesquisa e Educação Continuada. São Paulo, SP, Brasil.

The authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest in relation to this study. No funding was provided for this study.

Correspondence Maria Elisa Gonzalez Manso mansomeg@hotmail.com

INTRODUCTION

According to the 2010 Brazilian Institute of Geography and Statistics (or IBGE) census, the elderly population and life expectancy have been growing significantly in Brazil¹. However, increased life expectancy is not necessarily associated with improved quality of life (QoL). The latter is conceptualized by the World Health Organization (WHO) as "the individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns". It is a polysemic definition, the components of which may vary from researcher to researcher².

The evaluation of the QoL of the elderly covers several aspects, such as: functional capacity; socioeconomic level; psychological state; social interaction; intellectual activity; self-care; family support; sociocultural, ethical and religious values; the process of death and dying; lifestyle; satisfaction with job and/or activities of daily living; the environment in which one lives and which one frequents. It is known that the changes caused by the physiological and pathological process of aging tally with a reduction in the QoL of this group, justifying the relevance of studies that support strategies and actions aimed at prevention and the maintenance of active aging³.

Currently, the supplementary health sector in Brazil assists in the health needs of approximately 30% of the country's population, of which about 14% are elderly, and is characterized by offering prepaid health plans or health insurance. These services offer the same coverage as the public sector, but have their own networks of clinics, laboratories and hospitals throughout the country. It is also noted that the elderly population that receives care from the supplementary health sector has different demographic and socioeconomic conditions in relation to income, access, education and age than the majority of the elderly Brazilian population⁴.

There are few Brazilian studies focused on this sector, and for some years the country's government has been encouraging public policies aimed at this population segment and contributing to changes in the service provision model of health plan operators (HPO), which still focus their health care on illness. Thus, since 2005, the Brazilian government has been discussing programs that meet the health specificities of the elderly they serve with companies that sell health plans. The intention is to transform this model into one centered on the person and the integrated health care of the individual, with progressive implementations of health promotion and risk and disease prevention actions⁵⁻⁷.

These actions, carried out in the form of programs, seek to stimulate self-care, emphasizing health education, with the main objective of preventing both the emergence of non-communicable chronic diseases (NCDs) and the triggering of such illnesses. However, there has been little progress in this field, mainly due to poor knowledge about the health of those receiving care from HPO⁵⁻⁷.

The aim of the present study was to measure the quality of life and the main factors associated with the same in a group of elderly persons participating in the chronic disease prevention program of a health insurance company, in the city of São Paulo, in the state of the same name, in Brazil.

METHOD

A quantitative, descriptive, exploratory and crosssectional study was conducted between December 2017 and August 2018 by applying the instruments to people aged 60 years of age and over, receiving care from a HPO and who participated in a program for the prevention of NCDs and their complications, in the city of Sao Paulo, Brazil.

The program to which this group of elderly participants in this study is linked is offered by the HPO and is carried out and coordinated by a multidisciplinary team, ensuring the continuous accompanying, evaluation and monitoring of participants through health indicators. The clinical management of the elderly receiving care is carried out through monthly telephone monitoring and home visits, during which the clinical status of the individuals is assessed^{6,7}.

Entry and adherence to this program are spontaneous, and there is a requirement of having

at least one NCD diagnosed by a doctor. There is no time limit set on remaining in the program.

The sample size of the present study was calculated within the total of the 301 elderly participants of the program. Applying the Central Limit Theorem, a sampling error of 5% and a confidence interval of 95% were considered, resulting in a representative sample of 169 elderly persons, randomly drawn from the participants of the described program. The only exclusion criterion adopted was the medical diagnosis of neuropsychiatric diseases that could prevent the elderly persons from answering the questions of the instruments, which require self-completion.

The instruments used were: a structured questionnaire to collect sociodemographic variables and health status data and the World Health Organization Quality of Life-Bref (WHOQOL-Bref) and the World Health Organization Quality of Life Assessment for Older Adults (WHOQOL-Old) instruments to measure the QoL of the elderly participants^{8,9}.

The structured questionnaire was designed by the researchers and addressed the sociodemographic characteristics of the researched elderly, such as: age; sex; marital and occupational status; and questions regarding health status such as: sedentary lifestyle, characterized by the absence of supervised physical activity; obesity measured by body mass index (BMI), according to the cutoff levels for age¹⁰; presence of degenerative chronic diseases under treatment at the time of the interview; date of last medical appointment; if the elderly had a specific referring physician and the presence or absence of hospitalizations in the previous year.

The QoL of the elderly was measured using the WHOQoL-Bref and WHQOL-Old instruments, both developed by The WHOQOL Group in 1998 and cross-culturally adapted for Brazil in 2000^{8,11}. These instruments were tested in previous studies and presented satisfactory psychometric properties in the investigation of QoL in Brazilian elderly persons.

The WHOQOL-Bref, an abbreviated form of the WHOQOL-100, is composed of 26 questions, two general, related to QoL and overall health and 24 that make up the four domains: a) Physical; b) Environment; c) Psychological; and d) Social Relationships. It is used in conjunction with the WHOQOL-Old module, which consists of 24 questions assigned to six facets: a) Functioning of the Senses; b) Autonomy; c) Past Activities, d) Present and Future; e) Death and dying; and f) intimacy. The WHOQOL-Old is a specific instrument for the assessment of QoL in the elderly and should be applied in conjunction with the WHOQOL-Bref⁹.

Data was collected through home visits, previously scheduled by telephone, with the contact information of the participants provided by the HPO. During the contact, the purpose of the research was explained to the elderly, making it clear that their participation was voluntary and that their non-acceptance would not interfere with the care provided by the health plan. Following this stage, the information obtained through the visits was submitted to review and codification. The collected data were stored in electronic medical records and later transferred and stored in the study database. If inconsistent data were found between the databases, corrections were made by consulting the original interview.

The answers obtained through the self-applicable instruments were consolidated with their respective syntax, with the WHOQOL-Bref domains and WHOQOL-Old facets analyzed separately. The scores were calculated using a syntax developed and recommended by The WHOQOL Group, for the *Statistical Package for Social Sciences* (SPSS®) software package. In general, each domain/facet was represented in percentage scores from zero to 100, with the highest value corresponding to a better perception of QoL¹².

Data analysis followed descriptive statistics. For the comparison between the domains/facets of the WHOQOL instruments and the variables of the two groups, presented above, the Student t test was applied. In the comparison between variables with three or more groups, analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed. For situations where no homogeneity was found, adjustment was performed using the Brown-Forsythe Test. In multiple comparisons, the Tukey test was applied.

All results were analyzed by the SPSS software, and a criterion for determining statistical significance of 5% (p<0.05) was adopted.

The research project was approved by the Ethics Research Committee of the Pontifícia Universidade Católica de São Paulo (PUC-SP), under opinion n° 2.284.626, following the regulations of National Health Council Resolution n° 466/2012. The elderly were only contacted once this approval was obtained.

RESULTS

The sample of this study consisted of 169 elderly persons, most of whom were male (n=87; 51.5%), had a mean age of 71.6 (\pm 8.0) years, were married and retired, as shown in Table 1. Regarding the clinical conditions and lifestyle of the elderly, the most prevalent NCD was systemic arterial hypertension, followed by type 2 diabetes mellitus. The elderly were largely sedentary, with a mean number of comorbidities of 2.4 (\pm 1.2) NCDs, ranging from one to five diseases. It was also observed that most were assisted on a consistent basis by the same referral physician, with consultations in the previous six months. Several had a previous history of hospitalization, with more than two hospitalizations per year.

In QoL measurement, the WHOQOL-Bref domains with the highest scores were *Psychological* $[M=72.1 (\pm 14.3)]$ and *Environment* $[M=68.0 (\pm 15.4)]$, while the lowest score was *Physical* $[M=64.3 (\pm 18.0)]$, as shown in Table 2.

The evaluation of the two general and initial questions determined that 75% (n=127) of the elderly rated their QoL as good or very good and 63.6% (n=108) stated that they were satisfied with their health.

Regarding the WHOQOL-Old, as shown in Table 3, the facets with the best scores were: Intimacy [M=72.5(± 20.8)] and Sensory Functioning [M=70.3(± 20.3)], while the worst was Death and Dying [M=61.2(± 23.2)]. The total score of the WHOQOL-Bref was higher than that of the WHOQOL-Old.

Variables n (%) Sex Male 87 (51.5) Female 82 (48.5) Age (years) 60-70 82 (48.5) ≥71 87 (51.5) Marital Status Married 109 (64.5) Widower 36 (21.3) Not married 21 (12.4) Others 03 (1.8) Occupational status Retired 128 (75.7) 25 (14.8) Active 14 (8.3) Pensioner Economic dependent 02 (1.2) Chronic Non-Communicative Disease Arterial hypertension 119 (70.4) Diabetes mellitus 63 (37.3) Cancer 42 (24.9) Depression 13 (7.7) 06 (3.6) Chronic pain Obesity 42 (24.9) to be continued

Table 1. Sociodemographic and clinical characteristics of an elderly group (N=169) receiving care from a health plan operator. São Paulo, 2018.

Continuation of Table 4	
Variables	n (%)
Sedentarism	91 (53.8)
Comorbidities	
0-2	90 (53.2)
≥3	79 (46.7)
Has referral physician	159 (94.1)
Last doctor's appointment	
Less than six months	149 (88.2)
Between six months and one year	20 (11.8)
Hospitalization	
Never been hospitalized	61 (36.1)
Been hospitalized	108 (63.9)
Up to twice in the last year	65 (38.5)
Interned more than twice in the last year	104 (61.5)

Table 2. WHOQOL-Bref instrument scores in the group of elderly persons (N=169) receiving care from a health plan operator. São Paulo, 2018.

Domains	Mean (standard deviation)	Median	Minimum-Maximum
Physical	64.3 (±18.0)	64.3	14.3-100
Psychological	72.1 (±14.3)	75.0	25.0-100
Social relationships	67.4 (±18.8)	66.7	16.7-100
Environment	68.0 (±15.4)	68.8	31.3-100
Q1 *	75.0 (±18.4)	75.0	25.0-100
Q2 **	63.6 (±24.3)	75.0	0.0-100
Total score	67.93 (±13.5)	70.19	37.50-98.08

*Q1= WHOQOL-Bref question 1 – How would you rate your quality of life? **Q2= WHOQOL-Bref question 2 – How satisfied are you with your health?

Table 3. WHOQOL-Old instrument scores in the group of elderly persons (N=169) receiving care from a health plan operator. São Paulo, 2018.

Facets	Mean (standard-deviation)	Median	Minimum-Maximum
Sensory Functioning	70.3 (±20.3)	75.0	25.0-100
Autonomy	65.1 (±17.7)	68.8	12.5-100
Past, Present and Future Activities	66.4 (15.6)	68.8	25.0-100
Social Participation	63.8 (17.2)	68.8	18.8-100
Death and dying	61.2 (23.2)	62.5	0.0-100
Intimacy	72.5 (20.8)	75.0	0.0-100
Total score	66.5 (±11.1)	66.7	34.4-88.5

It was observed that the lowest scores were among (a) elderly persons with neoplasia in the *Social Relations* domain (p=0.042); (b) obese elderly persons in the *Social Participation* facet (p=0.025) and (c) elderly persons with previous hospitalizations in the *Physical* (p=0.001), *Psychological* (p=0.042), *Social Relations* (p=0.07) domains, total score (p=0.007) and the *Autonomy* (p=0.020), *Past, Present and Future Activities* (p=0.001), *Social Participation* (p<0.001) and *Intimacy* (p<0.001) facets, and the WHOQOL-Old total score (p<0.001).

In contrast, some factors were found with the highest scores in certain domains/facets such as: (a) female gender and the Environment domain (p=0.009), and the Sensory Functioning (p<0.001)and Intimacy (p=0.027) facets; (b) age range up to 70 years and the *Physical* domain (p=0.001); (c) widowers and the Autonomy facet (p=0.040); (d) nonretired elderly persons and the Sensory Function facet (p=0.010); (e) elderly persons with less than two comorbidities and the *Physical* domain (p=0.046); (f) those with hypertension and WHOQOL-Old total score (p=0.045); (g) not having depression and the Psychological (p < 0.001), Social Relations (p < 0.001), Environment (p=0.005) domains, WHOQOL-Bref total score (p<0.001), the Past, Present and Future Activities (p<0.001), Social Participation (p=0.002), and Intimacy (p=0.004) facets and WHOQOL-Old total score (p=0.020); (h) practice of physical activity practice and the Physical domain (p=0.004), the Past, Present and Future Activities facet (p=0.007) and WHOQOL-Old total score (p=0.026); (i) being treated by a referral physician and the *Physical* domain (p=0.002).

DISCUSSION

The elderly group surveyed was characterized by a slight predominance of male elderly persons, which differs from most groups presented in literature, where there are a majority of women in this type of program, especially in the southeast region of Brazil. Regarding the sociodemographic characteristics of the elderly linked to the Brazilian supplementary health sector, the largest coverage is concentrated in those who are married, retired and aged over 70 years, especially 80 and over, data which corroborated those found in this research^{6,7,13,14}. Noncommunicable diseases and injuries (NCDs) - which encompass NCDs and violence and accidents - currently represent the major cause of demand for health services, morbidity and mortality, disability and a decrease in the QoL of the world's elderly population, accounting for 81.2% of deaths in the city of São Paulo, a proportion that has been growing every year¹⁵⁻¹⁷.

NCDs or chronic degenerative diseases represent a group of diseases with a multiplicity of risk factors, the etiology of which is not fully elucidated, which develop for many years, are asymptomatic, capable of generating irreversible injuries and complications that determine varying degrees of disability and even death. Among the NCDs, which are responsible for up to 75% of São Paulo deaths, conditions such as cardiocirculatory, neoplastic and metabolic diseases stand out¹⁴. In the present study, a predominance of hypertension was observed, followed by diabetes mellitus, neoplasms and obesity, similar to the distribution shown in the literature, in studies with similar groups^{7,16,17}.

It is also known that the longer the elderly live, the greater are the number of chronic conditions and their prevalence, giving rise to the presence of comorbidities – the concomitant occurrence of two or more diseases in the same individual – a factor directly related to greater functional disability^{18,19}. In the researched group, the prevalence of multiple comorbidities is notable, which, combined with the high average age, may demonstrate a higher risk of loss of autonomy and independence for these people, as highlighted in the literature^{7,14,18}.

It is noteworthy that these elderly persons, who are treated by a referral physician, with a predominance of consultations less than six months prior to the study, corroborate the importance of educational programs to improve adherence to treatment. Even so, more than half of the group had been hospitalized at least once in their lifetime, and nearly 62% of the elderly surveyed had been hospitalized more than twice in the last year, even though they have had regularly health appointments, a fact of concern to researchers, and which is notable in relation to the literature.

Regarding QoL, the WHOQOL-Bref domains in which the elderly people had the highest score and,

consequently, the highest level of satisfaction, were the *Psychological*, followed by the *Environment*, which differs from other studies with Brazilian elderly persons, which found higher average scores in the *Social Relationships* domain¹⁹⁻²³.

The performance of this group in the *Psychological* domain shows how satisfied they are regarding issues related to feelings, self-esteem, appearance, memory, concentration, spirituality and personal beliefs, in contrast to other previously studied groups that suffer from the process of adapting to senescence²¹.

The *Environment* domain evaluates the environment in which the elderly are inserted, encompassing aspects related to housing conditions; socialization; transport; physical safety; recreation; financial resources and protection. It is noteworthy that in most Brazilian studies found and conducted with the elderly, this domain usually has lower scores, impairing the assessment of QoL, a finding contrary to that which was observed in the present study^{20,23,24}. The fact that the elderly surveyed live in a large city and have different income and access characteristics, as already mentioned, may explain the strong performance of this group in the *Environment* domain.

In contrast, the worst performance was noted in the *Physical* domain, which also diverges from literature. It is believed that the fact that there are elderly people in the group who, in addition to already having a NCD, have comorbidities and high levels of previous hospitalizations, may explain this finding, since these are conditions that may limit their performance of activities of daily living with an impact on QoL^{18,22}.

Regarding the two general questions of WHOQOL-Bref, it was found that most of the elderly were satisfied or very satisfied with their health, also presenting a good perception of overall QoL. This result shows that most of the elderly in this group have a positive perception of their QoL and their health condition, up to the time of the interview.

The analysis of the facets of the WHOQOL-Old instrument found a higher mean score in the *Intimacy* facet and a lower mean score for *Death and Dying*. It is noteworthy that, although the results found in this study are compatible with those found in other studies conducted with elderly patients with NCDs, the average scores obtained by the elderly in this group are higher than those described in the literature^{21,23}. The strong performance in the *Intimacy* facet can be explained by satisfaction with their coexistence and intimate relationships with their partners and those around them, given the predominance of married elderly persons living with their families. On the other hand, it is noted that there is a difficulty in accepting the process of death and dying in this group.

When analyzing which sociodemographic and clinical aspects are significantly associated with the QoL of the elderly in this study, some differences were observed in relation to other Brazilian studies aimed at measuring this construct in the elderly^{2,3,18-20,24}.

Regarding gender, women in the surveyed group performed better than men in the Environment domain, the Sensory Functioning and the Intimacy facets, while widowed elderly performed better in the Autonomy facet. Both findings differ from the literature. Most studies find that women are more dissatisfied with their QoL in these domains, mainly related to the influences of psychosocial factors derived from the traditional role of women, highly present in the cohort of people today considered elderly^{18,24}. It is noteworthy that the women in the researched group have their own characteristics that differentiate them from the majority of the Brazilian female elderly population: 52 (63%) had a high educational level, with complete high school or higher educations, which is not characteristically observed in Brazilian elderly women. This condition may have influenced these results¹.

Elderly persons who live without a partner and who have suffered significant losses during life tend to have less contact with family and friends, a low frequency of help received and provided, and resilience is not always observed in the process of loss and control of their autonomy, as found in this study group^{18,24}.

The data for the relationship between young elderly persons, under 70 years old, and the *Physical* domain was not reported by other studies^{3,20}. This finding can be attributed to the lower number of comorbidities

and the degree of preservation of autonomy among these elderly persons, when compared to the older elderly persons in the group. The same applies to the relationship between non-retired elderly persons and the *Sensory Functioning* facet.

It can be inferred that for this group of elderly persons, widowhood, age and work seem to be protective factors that positively influence QoL, along with having less than two comorbidities, not having depression and being treated by a referral physician. The presence of chronic conditions, especially NCDs significantly affect the QoL of the elderly, but when these are diagnosed early, properly treated and preventive measures are instituted, with the encouragement of self-care and the prevention of systemic complications resulting from these diseases, the independence and autonomy of the elderly are preserved^{18-20,24}.

It is also noteworthy that higher levels of continuity of care, in any setting, with any group of people, involving both primary care physicians and specialists, are associated with lower rates of mortality. Continuity of care is associated with people with a physician who is more aware of such issues, the individualization of care received by the individual and the understanding of their needs, which may explain the finding in the present study²⁵.

In this study, there was also a positive influence between the regular practice of physical activities and QoL. As reported in other studies, it is known that physical activity is a measure that can delay functional losses and prevent possible negative and unwanted outcomes^{2,20}.

In this study, the presence of cancer and obesity were two characteristics negatively associated with both facets and domains related to social participation, bonds and affections, highlighting the difficulty of this group in participating in social activities and the need for affective support for these people.

The presence of a previous history of hospitalization was another association that affected, greatly and negatively, the QoL of these elderly people. During hospitalization, the elderly may evolve through a loss of functionality, also conceptualized as a hospital acquired infection (HAI), due to numerous factors: progression of the clinical condition; underlying previous diseases; the procedures to which they are submitted; difficulty in adapting to aging and frailty²⁶. But in the hospital environment, loneliness, fear of death and other psychosocial issues also influence the elderly not only during the act, but even after discharge, as shown by the responses of this group.

The presence of a previous history of hospitalization was found. The results obtained in this study show significant factors in the assessment of QoL of a group of elderly persons receiving care from the Brazilian supplementary health sector, in the city of São Paulo, regarding sociodemographic, clinical and lifestyle aspects. However, these results should be interpreted with caution due to the particularities of the study group. In addition, the cross-sectional design of the study does not allow causal relationships to be established. Another limitation relates to the characteristics of the WHOQOL instruments used, as they are self-reporting instruments, and therefore subject to response bias.

CONCLUSION

The researched group had the best quality of life in the *Psychological* and *Environment* domains and in the *Intimacy* and *Sensory Functioning* facets. The group reported a high level of satisfaction with their health and overall quality of life. On the other hand, the elderly had a worse perception in the *Physical* domain and in the *Death and Dying* facet.

It was also noted that the female gender, widowhood, age, work, having less than two comorbidities, not having depression, being treated by a referral physician and practicing physical activity seem to be protective factors that positively influence the quality of life of this group. However, previous hospitalizations and the presence of obesity and cancer generate stress factors, negatively influencing the quality of life of this group of people.

It must be emphasized that the results of this study should be used and interpreted with caution, as they portray a differentiated group in terms of income, education, access to health services and treatment and who live in a more accessible environment.

The results of the present study raise important discussions about predictors that influence the

quality of life of the elderly receiving care through the supplementary health sector and indicate the need for policies and action strategies that ensure improvements in care for the elderly in all their specificities and diversity.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- Instituto Brasileira de Geografia e Estatística. Síntese de Indicadores Sociais (SIS): uma análise das condições de vida da população brasileira 2015. Rio de Janeiro: IBGE; 2015.
- Vagetti GC, Moreira NB, Barbosa Filho VC, Oliveira V, Cancian, CF, Mazzardo O, et al. Domínios da qualidade de vida associados à percepção de saúde: um estudo com idosas de um programa de atividade física em bairros de baixa renda de Curitiba, Paraná, Brasil. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2013;18(12):3483-93.
- Dawalibi NW, Goulart RMM, Prearo LC. Fatores relacionados à qualidade de vida de idosos em programas para a terceira idade. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2014;19(8):3505-12.
- Manso MEG, Maresti LTP, Osti AV. Program for prevention of falls among elders: experiences in a Brazilian health plan. MOJ Gerontol Geriatr. 2018;3(2):217-8.
- Manso MEG. Envelhecimento, saúde do idoso e o setor de planos de saúde no Brasil. Rev Kairós. 2017;20(4):135-51.
- Manso MEG, Câmara R, Souza SA, Maciel TD, Farina DBL. Programa de gerenciamento de doenças crônicas em um plano de saúde, São Paulo, Brasil. Ciênc Cuid Saúde. 2016;15(2):321-7.
- Manso MEG, Osti AV, Maresti LTP, Borrozino NF. Análise do gerenciamento de doenças crônicas em uma operadora de planos de saúde na cidade de São Paulo. Rev SODEBRAS. 2018;13(151):77-82.
- World Health Organization. WHOQOL: Measuring quality of life [Internet]. Genebra: WHO; 1997 [acesso em 30 dez. 2018]. Disponível em: https://www.who. int/mental_health/media/68.pdf
- Fleck MPA, Chachamovich E, Trentini CM. Development and validation of the portuguese version of the WHOQOL-Old module. Rev Saúde Pública. 2006;40(5):785-91.
- Pascali C, Peliello LC. Avaliação Nutricional. In: Manso MEG, organizador. Geriatria: Manual da Liga de Estudos do Processo de Envelhecimento. São Paulo: Martinari; 2015. p 91-104.

- Fleck MPA, Louzada S, Xavier M, Chachamovich E, Vieira G, Santos L, et al. Aplicação da versão em português do instrumento abreviado de avaliação da qualidade de vida "WHOQOL-Bref". Rev Saúde Pública. 2000;34(2):178-83.
- Santos PM. Principais instrumentos de avaliação da qualidade de vida de idosos no Brasil: vantagens e desvantagens na utilização. Corpoconsciência. 2015;19(2):25-36.
- Leite F. Envelhecimento populacional e a composição etária de beneficiários de planos de saúde. São Paulo: IESS; 2011.
- 14. Oliveira HSB, Sousa JRP, Donis ACG, Manso MEG. Utilização dos critérios de Beers para avaliação das prescrições em idosos portadores de doenças crônicas vinculadas a um plano de saúde. Rev Bras Ciênc Envelhec Hum. 2017;14(3):242-51.
- Malta DC, Stopa SR, Szwarcwald CL, Gomes NL, Silva Júnior JB, Reis AAC. A vigilância e o monitoramento das principais doenças crônicas não transmissíveis no Brasil – Pesquisa Nacional de Saúde, 2013. Rev Bras Epidemiol. 2015;18(2):3-16.
- Diniz MA, Tavares DMS. Fatores de risco para doenças cardiovasculares em idosos de um município do interior de Minas Gerais. Texto & Contexto Enferm. 2013;22(4):885-92.
- Manso MEG, Sousa JRP, Oliveira HSB. Analise do perfil neurogeriátrico de um grupo de idosos pertencentes a um plano de saúde do município de São Paulo, Brasil. Rev Kairósl. 2018;21(2):215-26.
- Maciel NM, Conti MHS, Simeão SFAP, Corrente JE, Ruiz T, Vitta A. Morbidades referidas e qualidade de vida: estudo de base populacional. Fisioter Pesqui. 2016;23(1):91-7.
- Amaral TLM, Amaral CA, Lima NS, Herculano PV, Prado PR, Monteiro GTR. Multimorbidade, depressão e qualidade de vida em idosos atendidos pela estratégia de saúde da família em Senador Guiomard, Acre, Brasil. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2018;23(9):3077-84.

- Miranda LCV, Soares SM, Silva PAB. Qualidade de vida e fatores associados em idosos de um centro de referência à pessoa idosa. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2016;21(11):3533-44.
- Pereira RMP, Batista MA, Meira AS, Oliveira MP, Kusumota L. Qualidade de vida de idosos com doença renal crônica em tratamento conservador. Rev Bras Enferm. 2017;70(4):887-95.
- 22. Pilger C, Santos ROPS, Lentsck MH, Marques S, Kusumota L. Bem estar espiritual e qualidade de vida de idosos em tratamento hemodialítico. Rev Bras Enferm. 2017;70(4):721-9.
- 23. Lima LR, Funghetto SS, Valpe CRG, Santos WS, Funez MI, Stival MM. Qualidade de vida e o tempo do diagnóstico do diabetes mellitus em idosos. Rev Bras Geriatr Gerontol. 2018;21(2):180-90.

- 24. Ameida-Brasil CC, Silveira MR, Silva KR, Lima MG, Faria CDCM, Cardoso CL, et al. Qualidade de vida e características associadas: aplicação do WHOQOL-BREF no contexto da atenção primária à saúde. Ciênc Saúde Colet. 2017;22(5):1705-16.
- 25. National Health Service [Internet]. Seeing same doctor every time "reduces risk of death". U.K: NHS; 2018 [acesso em 20 ago. 2018]. Disponível em: https://www.nhs.uk/news/medical-practice/seeingsame-doctor-every-time-reduces-risk-death/.
- 26. Carvalho TC, Valle AP, Jacinto AF, Mayoral VFS, Boas PJFV. Impacto da hospitalização na funcionalidade de idosos: estudo de corte. Rev Bras Geriatr Gerontol. 2018;21(2):134-42.





Relationship of ventilatory inefficiency and low cardiorespiratory fitness in the elderly: a retrospective observational study

Murillo Frazão¹ 回

Luciana Margarida de Santana Madruga França² 回

Samarony Caio Moreno Bezerra³ © Paulo Eugênio Silva⁴ ©

Abstract

Objectives: To check if ventilatory inefficiency is related to low cardiorespiratory fitness in the elderly and to identify the variable(s) of the cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPET) best suited to determining this relationship. Methods: A retrospective analysis of 1357 CPETs was performed. Sixty-one subjects over 60 years old with a ventilatory efficiency slope (VE/VCO₂) index >35 were selected and divided into two groups: low cardiorespiratory fitness (VO2<80% predicted) (n=22) and normal cardiorespiratory fitness (VO2>80% predicted) (n=39) and were compared with a control group of healthy elderly persons with normal cardiorespiratory fitness and VE/VCO₂ slope index <35 (n=16), matched by gender, weight, height, and age. Results: Oxygen consumption had a low correlation with VE/VCO₂ slope (r= -0.35, p < 0.01), a moderate correlation with the cardiorespiratory optimal point (COP) (r= -0.59, p<0.001) and a strong correlation with oxygen uptake efficiency Slope (OUES) =0.92, p<0.0001). In relation to the ROC curve, the VE/VCO, slope presented an area under the curve of 0.65, but without statistical significance (p>0.05); the COP showed an area under the curve of 0.84 (p < 0.0001) and the OUES presented an area under the curve of 0.81 (p<0.0001). Conclusion: Ventilatory inefficiency is related to poor cardiorespiratory fitness in the elderly. The COP and OUES were more accurate at predicting low cardiorespiratory fitness.

Keywords: Efficiency. Pulmonary Ventilation. Ventilation-Perfusion Ratio. Cardiorespiratory Fitness. Exercise Test.

Correspondence Murillo Frazão murillo.frazao@gmail.com

Received: February 15, 2019 Approved: September 27, 2019

¹ Universidade Federal da Paraíba, Laboratório de Exercício e Treinamento Físico Aplicado à Saúde. João Pessoa, PB, Brasil.

² Marinha do Brasil, Hospital Central da Marinha. Rio de Janeiro, RJ, Brasil.

³ Hospital Lar, Departamento de Fisioterapia. João Pessoa, PB, Brasil.

⁴ Universidade de Brasília, Programa de Doutorado em Ciências e Tecnologias em Saúde. Brasília, DF, Brasil.

The authors declare there are no conflicts of interest in relation to the present study. No funding was received in relation to the present study.

INTRODUCTION

With senility, the respiratory system undergoes anatomical and physiological changes that directly impact the ventilation/pulmonary perfusion relationship. The pulmonary parenchyma loses its structural support¹. Changes in the connective tissue increase chest stiffness and reduce the elastic component of the lungs, directly influencing respiratory mechanics². There is also an increase in physiological dead space, which promotes an increase in "ventilatory waste".

Ventilatory inefficiency arises when the parts of the respiratory system responsible for gas exchange do not function properly³. This malfunction can be caused either by changes in pulmonary circulation (perfusion disorders) or by changes in the airways and alveoli (ventilation disorders), alone or in combination, causing a failure in the ventilation/ perfusion ratio.

The integrated assessment of cardiorespiratory responses during exercise provides important information on ventilatory efficiency⁴. The Cardiopulmonary Exercise Test (CPET) enables this analysis and provides several variables⁵. Classically the most used variable for analysis of ventilatory efficiency is the variation of ventilation through changes in carbon dioxide production (VE/VCO₂ slope)6, which can be considered the gold standard for this type of assessment in pathological situations⁹. Other variables are used for this analysis, such as the variation in oxygen consumption efficiency -Oxygen Uptake Efficiency Slope (OUES)7,8 and the Cardiorespiratory Optimal Point (COP)10 (a better ventilation/oxygen consumption relationship), and are also highly relevant.

Currently, cardiorespiratory fitness is considered a vital sign¹¹ and, in pathological models, ventilatory inefficiency is related to low values of cardiorespiratory fitness (oxygen consumption)¹². With advancing age, a physiological reduction of maximal oxygen consumption is expected, but relatively common pathological situations in the elderly (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and heart failure) promote a greater reduction of oxygen consumption^{13,14}. Due to the physiological changes of the aging process in the respiratory system, this study aimed to verify if ventilatory inefficiency is related to poor cardiorespiratory fitness in the elderly. The secondary objective was to identify which CPET variables were most effective at determining this relationship.

METHODS

A cross-sectional study based on a retrospective analysis of 1357 CPETs was carried out. All CPETs were performed by a single examiner with expertise in the examination. The analysis was performed using data obtained from a cardiopulmonary assessment clinic from April 2012 to August 2016.

Therefore, exams that met the following inclusion criteria were selected: age over 60 years; VE/VCO₂ slope >35 and absence of locomotor limitations that hindered the test. The VE/VCO₂ slope variable was used for screening of the elderly as it is a gold standard measure of ventilatory efficiency. Examinations of people who presented any report of locomotor limitation were excluded from the analysis.

Sixty-one elderly individuals were divided into two groups: low cardiorespiratory fitness (VO₂<80% of predicted)¹⁵ (n=22) and normal cardiorespiratory fitness (VO₂>80% of predicted) (n=39) and were compared with a group of healthy elderly persons with normal cardiorespiratory fitness and VE/ VCO₂ slope <35 (n=16), matched for gender, weight, height and age. The elderly selected were asked about their history (self-reported) of cardiopulmonary diseases (eg: chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, pulmonary fibrosis, heart failure, pulmonary hypertension...) and underwent an anthropometric assessment followed by the Cardiopulmonary Exercise Test.

The technical procedures followed the guidelines of the American Thoracic Society/American College of Chest Physicians¹⁶ for cycle ergometer testing. The examinations were performed on an electromagnetic braking cycle ergometer (Inbrasport CG-04 model; INBRAMED, Porto Alegre, Brazil). Each individual performed a ramp protocol up to the maximum tolerance limit, starting with no load and with an individually selected load increment rate (5-20 W/min). Subjects were strongly encouraged to reach their maximum effort through verbal stimuli. For gas analysis a VO2000 model analyzer (MedGraphics, St. Paul, USA) was used, calibrated before each examination according to the manufacturer's instructions. Data were collected through the (ErgoMet 13 model software (HW, Belo Horizonte, Brazil).

The reports of cardiopulmonary diseases was recorded in absolute and percentage values. Through the CPET data, the following variables were analyzed: respiratory workload (RW), oxygen consumption (VO₂), maximum ventilation (VE), oxygen pulse (PuO₂), heart rate (HR), ventilatory oxygen and carbon dioxide equivalents (VE/VO₂ and VE/VCO₂), ventilatory efficiency index (VE/ VCO₂ slope), cardiorespiratory optimal point (COP) and oxygen uptake efficiency slope (OUES). Data were collected every 10 seconds of the ramp protocol. After collection, the data were adjusted by a filter (mean of seven points) to avoid noise.

The normality and homogeneity of the sample were analyzed by the Shapiro-Wilk and Levene tests, respectively. To evaluate the differences between the measures, one-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc was used. Inter and intra group differences were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with Tukey post hoc. The correlation of variables was tested using Pearson and Spearman correlations. The sensitivity and specificity of the variables for determining low cardiorespiratory fitness were observed by receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis. Statistical significance was accepted with a value of p < 0.05.

The study complied with the norms of National Health Council resolution 466/12, and was submitted to an ethics research committee under opinion number 2.319.091.

RESULTS

The elderly evaluated had a mean age of 68 ± 6 years. A total of 95% (21 of 22) of the elderly in the low cardiorespiratory fitness group and 8% (three of 39) of those in the normal cardiorespiratory fitness group reported the presence of cardiopulmonary disease. The matching variables: age, weight, height, body mass index and sex presented similar values in relation to the three groups (p>0.05) (Table 1). The group with low cardiorespiratory fitness presented lower values of oxygen consumption, oxygen pulse and workload (p<0.01). The normal cardiorespiratory fitness group had a higher maximum ventilation than the other groups (p<0.01). Heart rate at peak exercise did not differ in the three groups (p>0.05) (Table 2).

	Low Fitness	Normal Fitness	Control	<i>p</i> value
	(n=22)	(n=39)	(n=16)	
	Mean \pm sd	Mean \pm sd	Mean \pm sd	
Age (years)	71 ± 7	68 ± 5	68 ± 6	>0.05
Weight (kg)	74 ± 17	70 ± 13	68 ± 9	>0.05
Height (cm)	161 ± 7	161 ± 8	162 ± 7	>0.05
BMI	28 ± 6	27 ± 5	26 ± 2	>0.05
Sex (M/F)	12(51%) / 10(49%)	19(48%) / 20(52%)	7(49%) / 9(51%)	-

Table 1. Anthropometric characteristics of individuals studied (N=77). João Pessoa, Paraíba, 2016.

BMI: body mass index. p>0.05 intergroup comparison. ANOVA one-way with Tukey post hoc.

	Low Fitness $(n - 22)$	Normal Fitness $(n = 30)$	Control $(n - 16)$	<i>p</i> value
	Mean \pm sd	Mean \pm sd	Mean \pm sd	
Oxygen consumption (L/min)	0.86 ± 0.3^{a}	1.36 ± 0.4	1.39 ± 0.3	< 0.01
Oxygen consumption (% pred)	59 ± 10^{a}	101 ± 15	101 ± 11	< 0.01
Oxygen pulse (mL/sis/min)	6 ± 2^{a}	10 ± 2	10 ± 2	< 0.01
Oxygen pulse (% pred)	64 ± 9^{a}	110 ± 18	107 ± 16	< 0.01
Maximum ventilation (L/min)	39 ±13	53 ± 17^{b}	44 ± 10	< 0.01
Workload (w)	75 ± 37^{a}	115 ± 47	113 ± 37	< 0.01
HR peak effort (b/min)	134 ± 17	137 ± 14	140 ± 13	>0.05

Table 2. Basic exercise data. João Pessoa, Paraíba, 2016.

HR: heart rate; $p^{0.01}$ compared to normal fitness group and control; $p^{0.01}$ compared to the low fitness and control group; $p^{0.05}$ intergroup comparison; ANOVA *one-way* with Tukey *post hoc*.

As shown in Figure 1, the groups showed varying behaviors regarding the ventilatory efficiency variables. The elderly with low cardiorespiratory fitness did not have different VE/VCO₂ slope values from the elderly with normal cardiorespiratory fitness (p > 0.05). Both presented values above those observed in the control group (p < 0.0001). The elderly with low cardiorespiratory fitness had higher COP values than the elderly with normal cardiorespiratory fitness and the control group (p < 0.0001). There were differences between the COP of the group with normal cardiorespiratory fitness and the control group (p < 0.01). In relation to OUES, the elderly with low cardiorespiratory fitness presented significantly lower values than the elderly with normal cardiorespiratory fitness and the control group (p < 0.0001). There were no differences between those with normal cardiorespiratory fitness and the control group (p > 0.05).

Regarding ventilatory oxygen equivalents, the elderly with low cardiorespiratory fitness presented higher values than those seen in the elderly with normal cardiorespiratory fitness and in the control group at all workloads (p < 0.0001). The elderly with normal fitness presented higher values than the control group at 25%, 50%, 75% and 100% of the workload (Figure 2). Regarding the ventilatory equivalents of carbon dioxide, the elderly with low cardiorespiratory fitness presented higher values than those seen in the elderly with normal cardiorespiratory fitness and in the control group at 0%, 25% and 50% of workload (p<0.0001). At 75% and 100% of the workload there were no differences compared to the group with normal cardiorespiratory fitness (p > 0.05). The elderly with normal cardiorespiratory fitness presented values above the control group at 25%, 50%, 75% and 100% of the workload (Figure 2).



Figure 1. Behavior of ventilatory efficiency variables.



Figure 2. Oxygen and carbon dioxide ventilatory equivalents.

Oxygen consumption had a low correlation with VE/VCO_2 slope, a moderate correlation with COP and a strong correlation with OUES (Figure 3). Regarding the ROC curve to predict low cardiorespiratory fitness, the VE/VCO₂ slope presented an area under the curve with no statistical significance. (p>0.05). The COP presented an area under the curve of 0.84 (p <0.0001), with a value of 31 as the best point for sensitivity and specificity. The OUES presented an area under the curve of 0.81 (p<0.0001) with a value of 1224 as the best point of sensitivity and specificity (Figure 4).



Figure 3. Correlation between ventilatory efficiency variables and VO₂.



VE/VCO2 slope: ventilatory efficiency index; COP: cardiorespiratory optimal point; OUES: oxygen uptake efficiency slope.; AUC: area under the curve. CI: confidence interval

Figure 4. Accuracy of ventilatory efficiency variables in predicting low cardiorespiratory fitness.

DISCUSSION

The present study demonstrated that VE/ VCO₂ slope is not necessarily associated with poor cardiorespiratory fitness in the elderly, but that increased COP and reduced OUES are associated with poor cardiorespiratory fitness in this population. These ventilatory efficiency variables, COP and OUES, demonstrated higher sensitivity and specificity for the prediction of low cardiorespiratory fitness in the elderly.

Ventilatory inefficiency is generally associated with unfavorable clinical outcomes (increased morbidity and mortality). Traditionally, the VE/VCO₂ slope variable is the most commonly used for this analysis. In pathological models, elevated VE/VCO₂ slope is related to pulmonary hypertension¹⁸, low cardiorespiratory fitness^{13,19} and increased mortality^{20,21}.

Despite this, the presence of elevated VE/VCO₂ slope with normal cardiorespiratory fitness has been reported. Guazzi et al.¹⁷ analyzed 100 heart failure patients and found no correlation between elevated VE/VCO₂ slope and VO₂. Thirty-five percent of the patients analyzed had normal cardiorespiratory fitness, which corroborates the findings of this research. In the elderly evaluated in this study, the VE/VCO₂ slope was also unable to predict low cardiorespiratory fitness.

Typical ventilatory equivalent behavior describes a parabola-shaped graph²². The smaller this parabola, the worse the ventilatory efficiency. In this study, the elderly with the lowest parabola were those with low cardiorespiratory fitness.

In theory, the moment in which COP occurs (lower VE/VO₂ value) corresponds to the best ventilation/perfusion ratio, i.e., it represents the maximum integration between the respiratory and cardiovascular systems¹⁰. COP is practically detected and occurs at relatively low exertion intensities (30-50% VO₂ peak). High COP values indicate ventilatory inefficiency, as there is increased ventilation for the consumption of one liter of oxygen. In the elderly persons evaluated in the present study, a correlation was observed between ventilatory inefficiency, due to increased COP, and low cardiorespiratory fitness. In addition, COP exhibited good sensitivity and specificity for the prediction of low cardiorespiratory fitness. In a retrospective study with 3331 CPETs, including healthy and chronically ill individuals, Ramos and Araújo²³ also showed that subjects with high COP values had lower cardiorespiratory fitness and higher mortality.

Like COP, OUES does not require maximum effort to be determined. It reflects the relationship between oxygen uptake and total ventilation during incremental exercise and is well described by a single exponential function. Logarithmic regression is linear in almost all individuals, so it does not require maximum effort to be estimated⁷. OUES has excellent test/retest reliability and can serve as a complementary or alternative measure of cardiorespiratory fitness²⁴. This is particularly important for individuals who have difficulty performing maximal effort, such as the elderly. Recently, Dougherty et al.²⁵ determined the effective accuracy of OUES for the prediction of cardiorespiratory fitness in this specific population, which is in line with the data presented in this research.

The present study had some limitations. A limiting factor was the absence of data on pulmonary artery pressure in the elderly, which is a variable directly related to markers of ventilatory efficiency. Other limiting factors were inherent to the retrospective analysis itself, such as the sample quantity (limited to exams already performed and which cannot be increased).

CONCLUSION

Ventilatory inefficiency is only related to poor cardiorespiratory fitness in the elderly when measured by the cardiorespiratory optimal point (COP) and oxygen uptake efficiency slope (OUES). These variables were more accurate for predicting such low cardiorespiratory fitness. Because they are submaximal measurements, they are excellent markers of cardiorespiratory fitness for the elderly, a population that often has limitations in performing the maximal exercise test.

Edited by: Ana Carolina Lima Cavaletti

REFERENCES

- Sicard D, Haak AJ, Choi KM, Craig AR, Fredenburgh LE, Tschumperlin DJ. Aging and anatomical variations in lung tissue stiffness. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. 2018;314(6):946-55.
- Pascotini FS, Fedosse E, Ramos MC, Ribeiro VV, Trevisan ME. Força muscular respiratória, função pulmonar e expansibilidade toracoabdominal em idosos e sua relação com o estado nutricional. Fisioter Pesqui. 2016;23(4):416-22.
- Petersson J, Glenny RW. Gas exchange and ventilation - perfusion relationships in the lung. Eur Respir J. 2014;44:1023-41.
- Ramos PS, Araújo CGS. Análise da estabilidade de uma variável submáxima em teste cardiopulmonar de exercício: ponto ótimo cardiorrespiratório. Eur Respir J. 2013;18(5):585-93.
- Neder JA, Berton DC, Müller PT, Elbehairy AF, Rocha A, Palange P, et al. Canadian Respiratory Research Network. Ventilatory inefficiency and exertional dyspnea in early chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2017;14(Suppl. 1):22-9.
- Weatherald J, Farina S, Bruno N, Laveneziana P. Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing in Pulmonary Hypertension. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2017;14 (Suppl 1):84-92.
- Hollenberg M, Tager IB. Oxygen uptake efficiency Slope: an index of exercise performance and cardiopulmonary reserve requiring only submaximal exercise. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2000;36(1):195-201.
- Baba R, Nagashima M, Goto M, Nagano Y, Yokota M, Tauchi N, et al. Oxygen uptake efficiency Slope: a new index of cardiorespiratory, funtitonal reserve derived from the relation between oxygen uptake and minute ventilation during incremental exercise. J Am Cad Cardiol. 1996;28(6):1567-72.
- Guazzi M, Adams V, Conraads V, Halle M, Mezzani A, Vanhees L, et al. Clinical recommendations for cardiopulmonary exercise testing data assessment in specific patient populations. Circulation. 2012;126:2261-74
- Ramos PS, Ricardo DR, Araujo CG. Cardiorespiratory optimal point: a submaximal variable of the cardiopulmonary exercise testing. Arq Bras Cardiol. 2012;99(5):988-96.
- 11. Ross R, Blair SN, Arena R, Church TS, Després JP, Franklin BA, et al. Importance of assessing cardiorespiratory fitness in clinical practice: a case for fitness as a clinical vital sign. Circulation. 2016;134(24):653-99.

- 12. Teopompi E, Tzani P, Aiello M, Ramponi S, Visca D, Gioia MR, et al. Ventilatory response to carbon dioxide output in subjects with congestive heart failure and in patients with COPD with comparable exercise capacity. Respir Care. 2014;59(7):1157-9.
- Frazão M, Silva PE, Frazão W, da Silva VZM, Correia Jr MAV, Gomes Neto M. Dynamic hyperinflation impairs cardiac performance during exercise in COPD. J Cardiopulm Rehabil Prev. 2019;39(3):187-92.
- Clark AL, Davies LC, Francis DP, Coats AJS. Ventilatory capacity and exercise tolerance in patients with chronic stable heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail. 2000;2:47-51.
- Neder JA, Nery LE, Castelo A, Andreoni S, Lerario MC, Sachs A, et al. Prediction of metabolic and cardiopulmonary responses to maximum cycle ergometry: a randomised study. Eur Respir J. 1999;14(6):1304-13.
- Mezzani A. Cardiopulmonary Exercise Testing: basics of methodology and measurements. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2017;14:3-11.
- 17. Guazzi M, de Vita S, Cardano P, Barlera S, Guazzi MD. Normalization for peak oxygen uptake increases the prognostic power of the ventilatory response to exercise in patients with chronic heart failure. Am Heart J. 2003;146(3):542-8.
- 18. Klaassen SHC, Liu LCY, Hummel YM, Damman K, Van der Meer P, Voors AA, et al. Clinical and hemodynamic correlates and prognostic value of VE/VCO2 slope in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction and pulmonary hypertension. J Card Fail. 2017;23(11):777-82.
- Canada JM, Trankle CR, Buckley LF, Carbone S, Abouzaki NA, Kadariya D, et al. Severely impaired cardiorespiratory fitness in patients with recently decompensated systolic heart failure. Am J Cardiol. 2017;120(10):1854-7.
- 20. Shen Y, Zhang X, Ma W, Song H, Gong Z, Wang Q, et al. VE/VCO2 slope and its prognostic value in patients with chronic heart failure. Exp Ther Med. 2015;9(4):1407-12.
- Shafiek H, Valera JL, Togores B, Torrecilla JA, Sauleda J, Cosío BG. Risk of postoperative complications in chronic obstructive lung diseases patients considered fitfor lung cancer surgery: beyond oxygen consumption. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2016;50(4):772-9.
- 22. Nusair S. Interpreting the incremental cardiopulmonary exercise test. Am J Cardiol. 2017;119(3):497-500.

- 23. Ramos PS, Araújo CG. Cardiorespiratory optimal point during exercise testing as a predictor of all-cause mortality. Rev Port Cardiol. 2017;36(4):261-9.
- 24. Laethem CV, de Sutter J, Peersman W, Calders P. Intratest reliability and test–retest reproducibility of the oxygen uptake efficiency slope in healthy participants. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil. 2009;16:493-8.
- 25. Dougherty RJ, Lindheimer JB, Stegner AJ, Van Riper S, Okonkwo OC, Cook DB. An Objective method to accurately measure cardiorespiratory fitness in older adults who cannot satisfy widely used oxygen consumption criteria. J Alzheimers Dis. 2018;61(2):601-11.





